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Highlights in 2015

In April, CPMC Holdings Limited (“CPMC”) completed the closing matters in relation to the acquisition CONTENTS
of relevant equity in FC Packaging and formally controlled FC Packaging (Harbin) Limited and Fujian FC B
Packaging Limited.

In November, the controlling shareholder of CPMC entered into an agreement with ORG Packaging
Company Limited (“ORG”) and introduced ORG as the second largest shareholder of CPMC to promote
mixed ownership reform.
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Highlights in 2015

e In September, CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd. held the groundbreaking ceremony.

e In October, Fujian CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. was formally established and commenced the construction
of two-piece can factory in Putian.

Groundbreaking ceremony of CPMC (Guangzhou) Barrel Co., Ltd.

Fujian CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Highlights in 2015

In March, the Hangzhou Company won the Third Prize of Science and Technology Awards issued by China
Packaging Federation with the project of Research and Application on Transformation and Upgrading from
Traditional Printing to Multi-Color UV Printing Technology ( {8 %t ENRIA1% & UV DRI filr 88 A F 4% O i 2% ER e

).
In December, CPMC was awarded the Outstanding Packaging Brand of China (fE®&EFDE) by

China Packaging Federation; Mr. Zhang Xin, the Chairman of the Board and Managing Director of the
Group was awarded the Outstanding Entrepreneur of the Industry (1T HER).
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Certificate of Science and Technology Awards Honor Certificate of the Outstanding
Entrepreneur of the Industry
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Honor Certificate of the Outstanding Packaging
Brand of China
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Chairman’s Letter

Dear shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”
or “CPMC”) for the year ended 31 December 2015 (the “Year”).

In 2015, the Group recorded sales of approximately RMB5.10 billion, a decrease of approximately 3.6% as
compared to the previous year; profit attributable to shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB283
million, representing a decrease of approximately 18.2% as compared to approximately RMB346 million in 2014.
The basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 amounted to RMBO0.28.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.020 (equivalent to approximately HK2.4
cents) (2014: RMBO0.025 (equivalent to approximately HK3.1 cents)) per ordinary share for the year ended
31 December 2015, subject to the approval to be obtained at the annual general meeting to be held on 3
June 2016. The proposed final dividend will be distributed on or after 11 July 2016 to the shareholders of the
Company whose names appear on the shareholders’ register on 17 June 2016.

There were extensive adjustments of global economy and substantial fluctuation of market in 2015. Faced with
the complex and changeable international environment and arduous domestic reform and development task,
the Chinese government determined to seek progress while ensuring stability, implemented innovation-driven
strategy, practically focused on quality and efficiency improvement, as well as optimized and upgraded the
structure. According to the preliminary data of National Bureau of Statistics of the People’s Republic of China,
in 2015, the GDP, the per capita disposable income among urban residents and the total annual retail sales of
consumer goods of China increased by 6.9%, 8.9% and 10.7% respectively, as compared with 2014.

In 2015, the consumption market in China showed a flagging demand. Significant decline of raw materials price
drove down the prices of products in the industry and excess capacity brought out by investment inertia also
intensified industrial competition. The Group focused on the needs of our customers, continuously made efforts
to deepen benchmark management, steadily improved the implementation of role model, actively commented
technology innovation promoted implementation of key projects and gained a relative advantage in competition
which contributed to a steady increase in market shares. While putting efforts on operation and management,
the Group actively explored to promote mixed ownership reform and introduced ORG as a shareholder of the
Company to initiate mixed ownership reform. The Group also actively undertook corporate social responsibility,
enhanced the food safety management in overall process to raise the food safety standard, promoted safety
production standardization work, energy reservation, emission reduction project and caring for employees, to
create a harmonious development environment for our Group.

Looking forward, global economy is expected to continue recovering slowly. China will continue to guide the
upgrading of industrial structure, comprehensively promote supply-side reform and total factor productivity
improvement. The national economy will maintain a medium-high growth. The Group will continue to promote
mixed ownership reform, conduct its business in a customer-focused and market-oriented way, further control
capital expenditure and improve investment return, and comprehensively improve customers’ experience by
higher-quality products and better service, thus to satisfy our customers.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | wish to express our sincere gratitude to the management and all the staff of the
Group for their valuable service and contribution during the past year. | would also like to express our heartfelt
gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business partners and shareholders for their continuous support to the
Group.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2016
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business Introduction

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing and sales of packaging products used for consumer
goods such as food, beverages and household chemical products, covering extensively the packaging market
segment for consumer goods such as tea beverages, carbonated beverages, fruit and vegetable juices, beer,
dairy products and household chemical products. In addition, the Group provides comprehensive packaging
solutions including high technological packaging design, printing, logistics and comprehensive customer
services. As the leader in metal packaging in China, the Group endeavors to be “the leading manufacturer
of packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China”. The products of the Group mainly consist
of tinplate packaging products, aluminum packaging products and plastic packaging products. The Group
strategically allocated 26 subsidiaries and divisions in different region across China to operate its business
in order to serve its customers more effectively. The Group is in a leading position in several product sub-
segmented markets, and is sought after and trusted by numerous domestically and internationally renowned
clients. The Group has established a solid customer base, which includes both domestically and internationally
renowned high-end consumer goods manufacturers.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Tinplate packaging

The Group uses tinplate as the main raw material for its tinplate packaging, the products of which include three-
piece beverage cans, food cans (including milk powder cans), aerosol cans, metal caps, steel barrels, round
and square shaped cans, printed and coated tinplates and other metal packaging. The Group is in a leading
position in several market segments in the industry, including ranking first in certain market segments such as
milk powder cans, aerosol cans and twist caps in China in terms of market share.

In 2015, the sales volume of most tinplate packaging products of the Group maintained growth. Affected by the
continued decrease in the tinplate price, the selling price of the tinplate products was adjusted. For the year
ended 31 December 2015, the sales income of tinplate packaging business of the Group was approximately
RMB2,587 million (2014: approximately RMB2,663 million), representing a decrease of approximately 2.9%
as compared to 2014 and accounted for approximately 50.7% of total sales (2014: approximately 50.3%).
The gross profit margin of the tinplate packaging business was effectively improved in 2015, amounting to
approximately 19.5% (2014: approximately 16.4%).

Three-piece beverage cans (Three-piece cans)

Three-piece beverage cans (hereinafter refers to as “three-piece cans”) are used widely for the packaging of
protein drinks, energy drinks, mixed congee, fruit and vegetable juice, coffee, etc. In recent years, the selling
price of three-piece cans declined significantly due to certain downstream customers gradually migrating to
use two-piece beverage cans, declining market demand, overcapacity, intensified industry competition and
tinplate price fluctuations. The Group effectively maintained close relationship with major customers while
actively stepped up the efforts in exploring new customers. The Group explored new business model through
cost reduction and efficiency improvement measures to gain growth in sales volume amid the overall market
recession. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the sales volume of three-piece cans was approximately 732
million cans (2014: approximately 694 million cans) and sales income was approximately RMB481 million (2014:
approximately RMB519 million), representing a decrease of approximately 7.3% over the same period of last
year. The renowned clients of the Group’s three-piece cans include Red Bull, Dali Group, Yangyuan, LoLo and
Taigishipin.

Food cans

Food cans mainly consist of milk powder cans and ordinary food cans, and the Group is the largest
manufacturer of milk powder cans in China. In 2015, although industry growth slowed down since domestic
milk powder manufacturers were generally impacted by overseas purchasing and imported milk powder,
the Group strictly controlled the product quality, responded to market demand, led packaging upgrade,
seized the opportunity to timely complete the acquisition of Harbin and Fuzhou factories of FC Packaging to
further improve the capacity allocation and expand the business of milk powder cans. For the year ended
31 December 2015, the sales income of food can business reached approximately RMB513 million (2014:
approximately RMB408 million), representing an increase of approximately 25.7% over the same period of last
year. The renowned clients of the Group’s milk powder cans include Mead Johnson, Wyeth, Nestlé, Beingmate,
Yili, Yashili, Unilever and Feihe Dairy.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Aerosol cans

The Group is the largest manufacturer of aerosol cans in China, the products of which are primarily used in
the packaging of household chemical products (e.g. car maintenance products, air fresheners, personal care
products and pesticides) and other chemical products. The Group paid close attention to customer demand
and conducted expansion and innovation in market sub-segments to create differentiated advantages. Under
the tinplate price decline and increased industry competition, the Group achieved a sales income of aerosol
cans for the year ended 31 December 2015 of approximately RMB305 million (2014: approximately RMB333
million), representing a decrease of approximately 8.4% over the same period of last year. The renowned clients
of the Group’s aerosol cans include Shenzhen Caihong, Shanghai Johnson, Zhongshan Lanju and Zhengdian
Industrial.

Metal caps

Metal caps include twist caps and crown caps. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the sales income of
the Group’s metal cap business was approximately RMB477 million (2014: approximately RMB559 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 14.7% over the same period of last year. During the year, the
downstream market demand was sluggish. The Group effectively enhanced the profitability of the metal cap
products by improving the management, enhancing the proportion of major clients, retaining the product prices
and monitoring the supply of the products with low profit margin. The renowned clients of the Group’s metal
caps include Haday, Huanlejia, Lao Gan Ma, China Resources Snow Beer, Anheuser-Busch InBev and Tsingtao
Brewery.

Steel barrels

The Group produces steel barrels with a volume of 200 litres and above, which are mainly used for carrying
bulk edible oil, juice, fruit jam, industrial essence and fragrance, lubricants, etc. In 2015, the prices of main
raw material for barrels continued to decline and industry demand slowed down. The Group made an active
response to strengthen efforts in the development of international brands and quality new clients, promoted
benchmarking management, improved the role model and enhanced customer satisfaction. The Group
effectively enhanced the profitability and achieved a sales income of steel barrels for the year ended 31
December 2015 of approximately RMB463 million (2014: approximately RMB491 million), representing a
decrease of approximately 5.7% over the same period of last year. The renowned clients of the Group’s steel
barrels include Sinopec, Shell, PetroChina, AkzoNobel, and COFCO Grain and Oil Industry.

Round and square shaped cans

The Group’s round and square shaped cans products are mainly used in the packaging of different chemical
oil paint, paint and small package of oils and fats products, etc. The Group actively promoted cooperation
with major clients, endeavored to carry out regional collaboration, enhanced production scale and improved
profitability, achieved a sales income of round and square shaped cans for the year ended 31 December
2015 of approximately RMB172 million (2014: approximately RMB170 million), representing an increase of
approximately 1.2% over the same period of last year. The renowned clients of the Group’s round and square
shaped cans include the Valspar Corporation, AkzoNobel, Carpoly, Firsta and Yihai Kerry.

Printed and coated tinplates

The Group’s printed and coated tinplates are mainly used in different gift candy boxes, food, chemicals, caps,
batteries and other electronic and electric appliances (e.g. rice cookers). The products are also used to satisfy the
Group’s internal demand arising from the manufacture of cans (i.e. three-piece cans and aerosol cans) and metal
caps (i.e. twist caps and crown caps). Impacted by the declined tinplate price, the sales income of printed and
coated tinplates for the year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately RMB122 million (2014: approximately
RMB135 million), representing a decrease of approximately 9.6% over the same period of last year. The renowned
clients of the Group’s printed and coated tinplates include Supor, T.G. Battery and Panasonic.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Aluminum Packaging

The Group uses aluminum as the main raw material for its aluminum packaging products, which mainly include
two-piece beverage cans (“two-piece cans” hereinafter) and one-piece cans. Aluminum packaging products
business is characterized by a high degree of automatic production, full product recyclability, etc, and has been
one of the core business developments of the Group in recent years.

In 2015, the Group fully utilised the existing production lines and improved new production capacity in an
orderly manner to achieve steady growth in production and sales. While due to the impact of declining raw
material prices and industry supply and demand situation, the sales income of aluminum packaging for the
year ended 31 December 2015 was approximately RMB2,034 million (2014: approximately RMB2,081 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 2.3% as compared to 2014, and accounted for approximately 39.8%
of the overall sales (2014: approximately 39.3%). Gross profit margin of the aluminum packaging business in
2015 was approximately 16.3% (2014: approximately 20.8%).

Two-piece Beverage Cans (Two-piece Cans)

Two-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of beers, carbonated drinks and tea beverages,
etc. In recent years, enterprises in this industry actively carried out shareholding reform, accomplished public
listing, and accelerated capacity expansion, leading to lower growth rate in downstream demand than that of
industry production capacity, and overcapacity was severe. Meanwhile, impacted by continuous declining raw
material prices, the unit price of products declined significantly. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group has effectively consolidated the cooperation with major clients, closely followed market changes and
strengthened efforts in developing new customers. As a result, in 2015, the sales volume of the Group’s two-
piece cans products increased by 8.9% as compared to 2014 and reached approximately 4,806 million cans
(2014: approximately 4,413 million cans). The renowned clients of the Group’s two-piece cans include JDB,
China Resources Snow Beer, Coca-cola (China), Tsingtao Brewery Group and Anheuser-Busch InBev.

One-piece Cans

One-piece cans products are primarily used for the packaging of household chemical products, beers and
carbonated drinks and medical products. According to market demand, the Group expanded production
capacity of one-piece cans and the second production line has been successfully put into operation in the
fourth quarter. The Group persistently paid close attention to experience accumulation and innovative ability
and achieved rapid growth in sales volume and income through the existing capacity. For the year ended 31
December 2015, the sales volume of one-piece cans amounted to approximately 41.08 million cans (2014:
approximately 28.76 million cans), representing an increase of approximately 42.8% as compared to 2014. The
renowned clients of the Group’s one-piece cans include Anheuser-Busch InBev, SMB Global and Hangzhou
Huayi.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Plastic packaging

The Group’s plastic packaging products are mainly used for the packaging of personal care, household
chemical and food and beverage products. In 2015, the prices of main raw materials further slumped on
declining oil prices. The Group made an in-depth study of market dynamics, carried forward the integration
process, strengthened cooperation with strategic customers, steadily promoted new technologies application
and new customer development, persistently improved the profitability level, delivering a sales income of
plastic packaging products for the year ended 31 December 2015 of approximately RMB483 million (2014:
approximately RMB551 million), representing a decrease of approximately 12.3% over the same period of last
year and accounted for 9.5% of the total income (2014: approximately 10.4%). Gross profit margin of the plastic
packaging business in 2015 was approximately 14.3% (2014: approximately 13.9%). The renowned clients of
the Group’s plastic packaging include P&G, Blue Moon, Reckitt Benckiser, Johnson & Johnson, Johnson and
Pigeon.

Financial Review

For the year ended 31 December 2015, sales income of the Group amounted to approximately RMB5,104
million (2014: approximately RMB5,295 million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB191 million
or 3.6%. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the selling price which resulted in a decrease in
the income scale. Gross profit margin reached approximately 17.7% in the year of 2015 (2014: approximately
17.8%), broadly in line with the same period in the previous year.

For the year ended of 31 December 2015, profit amounted to approximately RMB285 million (2014:
approximately RMB347 million), representing a decrease of approximately RMB62 million or 17.9% as compared
to the same period in the previous year, mainly due to the decrease in the selling price which resulted in a
decrease in the profit scale.

GROUP’S PROFIT

For the year ended 31 December 2015, profit before income tax of the Group was approximately RMB385
million (2014: approximately RMB456 million), a decrease of approximately RMB71 million or 15.6% as
compared to the same period in the previous year.

Finance costs were approximately RMB53 million (2014: approximately RMB40 million), an increase of
approximately RMB13 million or 32.5% as compared to the same period in the previous year, which was mainly

due to the increase in the composite interest rate of financing cost.

Income tax expense was approximately RMB100 million (2014: approximately RMB109 million), the effective
income tax rate of the Group in 2015 was approximately 25.9% (2014: approximately 24.0%).

CPMC Holdings Limited



Management Discussion and Analysis

Outlook

2016 is the first year of the “Thirteenth Five-Year” Plan. Economic development in China will enter into the key
phase of structural adjustment, mode transition and risk release. Given the comprehensive beginning of supply
reform and rapid growth of the “Three New” industries, China’s economy will see moderate-rapid growth,
resident income will increase gradually and consumer goods market will grow steadily, which will lay a solid
foundation for the steady growth of the Group. The Group will continue to carry out role model management to
enhance quality and efficiency, emphasise on research and development and innovation to create differentiated
advantages, strengthen industry alliance, promote the mixed ownership reform and stimulate the market vitality
in the corporation. The Group will strive to achieve its strategic objective of “being the leading manufacturer of
packaging products of integrated consumer goods in China” and devote its efforts to satisfy customer demand
through offering premium quality products and high quality services.

CASH FLOW, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

In 2015, the Group’s main sources of funding were cash generated from operating activities and bank loans.

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

RMB (million) RMB (million)
Net assets 4,324 4,238
Cash and cash equivalents 996 1,005
Total borrowings 2,597 2,448
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 4,212 4,137

Current ratio 3.8 3.7
Gearing ratio* 38.0% 34.9%

* The gearing ratio is calculated as net borrowings divided by equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, in which
the net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had net assets of approximately RMB4,324 million (31 December 2014:
approximately RMB4,238 million). Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
RMB4,212 million, which has increased by approximately 1.8% as compared to approximately RMB4,137 million
as at 31 December 2014.

The current ratio and gearing ratio as at 31 December 2015 were approximately 3.8 and approximately 38.0%,
respectively (31 December 2014: approximately 3.7 and 34.9% respectively). The current ratio as at 31
December 2015 was approximately 3.8, broadly in line with the same period in the previous year. The increase
in gearing ratio from approximately 34.9% as at 31 December 2014 to approximately 38.0% as at 31 December
2015 was mainly due to the fluctuation of foreign exchange rate. Interest-bearing bank loans were approximately
RMB2,597 million as at 31 December 2015. The Group has no assets pledged for acquiring the bank loans as
at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE, COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION

AND ANALYSIS
ERERAR AT

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s capital expenditure was approximately RMB529 million, which is as
follows:

Percentage
RMB’ of capital
Million expenditure
Guangzhou two-piece cans and other
equipment projects 101 19.1%
ggsggm&& Wuxi UV line and round and square shaped cans expansion project 100 18.9%
REPORT Hangzhou one-piece cans project 48 9.1%
LRELRRE Tianjin infrastructure project 41 7.8%
Acquisition of FC packaging project 120 22.7%
Plastic expansion project 49 9.3%
Nanning two-piece cans project 31 5.9%
Purchases of other equipment 39 7.2%
Total 529 100.0%
ENVIRONMENTAL As of 31 December 2015, the capital expenditure of the Group relating to the acquisition of property, plant and
SOCIAL AND equipment, which has been contracted but not provided for, was approximately RMB179 million.
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
B HeR As at 31 December 2015, other than operating lease commitments and capital commitments, the Group had no
BARE other significant commitments and contingent liabilities.
FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK
The Group’s main operations are located in China. Other than some of the bank loans and bank deposits
which are denominated in U.S. dollars and Hong Kong dollars, most of the assets, income, payments and cash
DIRECTORS AND balances are denominated in RMB. The Directors consider that exchange rate fluctuation has no significant
SENIOR impact on the Company’s results.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 6,583 full-time employees (2014: 6,554), of which approximately 1,708 ggé%%gg;ﬁ

were engineers and technical staff or employees with higher education backgrounds. The table below shows
the number of employees of the Group by function as at 31 December 2015:

Percentage of

total no. of
Function No. of employees employees
Management and Administration 784 11.91%
Sales and Marketing 262 3.98% Gg\?SRP,?AR@gE
Research and Development in Technology and Engineering 757 11.50% REPORT
Production and Quality Control 4,780 72.61% TEERES
Total 6,583 100.00%
As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s total staff cost was approximately RMB537 million, as compared to
RMB487 million in the same period last year. The Group determined the salary of the employees based on their
performance, the standard of salary in the respective regions, and the industry and market conditions. The
benefits of the employees in the mainland China included pension fund, medical insurance, unemployment
insurance, maternity insurance and employment-related injury insurance and housing fund contributions. In ENVIRONVIENTAL
addition to the requirements of the PRC law, the Group has made voluntary contributions to an annuity plan, SOCIAL AND
which was implemented with effect from 1 January 2009, for the benefit of the Group’s employees when they GOVEF;%’S%
reach certain seniority. The benefits of the employees in Hong Kong included mandatory provident fund, life B HeR
insurance and medical insurance. BARE
DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

Shareholders

gl Board of Directors

Company
Secretary

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Nomination
Committee

External
Auditor

The Board are fully aware of the importance of corporate ethics in running a successful company and believes
that a good and solid corporate governance framework has given the Company the edge in attracting and
retaining talent, enhancing customers’ loyalty and reinforcing relationships with suppliers, and retaining its
position as a leading manufacturer of packaging products for a comprehensive range of consumer goods.
During the Year, the Company had adopted all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of corporate governance. The Directors consider that
since the listing of the shares of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 16 November 2009, the Company has complied with the code provisions under the
CG Code.

The Board will continue to review and monitor its current corporate practices and procedures of the Company
from time to time and will maintain and further enhance the standard of corporate governance practices of the
Company, in order to ensure that formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and maximize the
interests of the current and potential shareholders, investors, employees, business partners and the community
as a whole.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors,
the Directors confirmed that they had complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2015.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

The Board is responsible for leading and controlling the business operations of the Group. Decisions made
in the best interests of the shareholders and for maximizing the shareholders’ return. The Directors formulate
strategic directions, oversee the operations and monitor the financial and management performance of the
Group as a whole.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Board comprise a combination of two executive Directors,
six non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The Directors are:

Executive Directors:
— Mr. Wang Jinchang (resigned on 23 March 2015)
— Mr. Zhang Xin (Chairman and Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:

— Mr. Ning Gaoning (resigned on 25 February 2016)
— Mr. Wan Zaotian

— Mr. Zhou Zheng (resigned on 25 February 2016)
— Mr. Hu Yonglei

— Mr. Zhou Yuan (appointed on 25 February 2016)
— Mr. Shen Tao (appointed on 25 February 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors:
— Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo

— Mr. Fu Tingmei

— Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

The members of the Board are well-balanced in abilities with each Director having sound industry knowledge,
extensive corporate and strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the Group.

The biographical information of Directors is set out on pages 45 to 47 of this annual report.

The Company has appointed three independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board. Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo, being one of the independent non-executive Directors, has professional qualifications
in accountancy. One of the important duties of the independent non-executive Directors is ensuring and
monitoring the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their participation provides adequate
checks and balances to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders, including the review of
continuing connected transactions described in other sections of this annual report. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors a confirmation of independence
for the year ended 31 December 2015 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers such Directors
to be independent.
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Functions of the Board of Directors
The Board is responsible for overseeing the management of the Company’s business and affairs with the goal
of maximizing shareholders’ return. The Board has the following main duties:

o determination of all the corporate matters;

° be responsible for the management, direction and supervision of the business of the Group;

o be responsible to ensure the effectiveness of the Group’s financial reporting and compliance;

o formulating business strategies and business plans;

° planning and overseeing mergers, acquisitions or divestments and other major capital expenditure
projects;

° internal control and risk management;

o evaluation of the performance of the Group and the senior management; and

° annual and interim financial results and shareholder communications.

The Board, led by the chairman of the Company (the “Chairman”), is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Company, formulation of overall strategies and policies, evaluation of the performance of the Group and
management, and approval of matters or transactions of a material nature or those requiring disclosure under
the Listing Rules.

The management, under the leadership of the managing director of the Company (the “Managing Director”), is
responsible for the business and day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the strategies and
policies set by the Board. The Managing Director is responsible for overseeing and monitoring the operations of
business units or functional divisions.

Delegation by the Board of Directors

To assist the Board in the execution of its duties and facilitate effective management, certain functions of the
Board have been delegated by the Board to an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and
the senior management. On 23 October 2009, the Board approved the forming of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee upon the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange. The Board delegates the authority and responsibility of the daily operations, business strategies and
day-to-day management to the Managing Director and senior management. The final decision(s) are still under
the control of the Board unless otherwise provided for in the terms of reference of the three committees.

Chairman and Managing Director

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Zhang Xin currently serves as the Chairman
and Managing Director (i.e., chief executive of the Company). The Board believes that Mr. Zhang Xin has
accumulated extensive experience in the packaging industry. His serving as the Managing Director will be more
effective in developing the Company'’s long term strategies and in execution of business plans.

The Board considers this arrangement to be appropriate for the Company as it can preserve the consistent
leadership culture of the Group and allow efficient discharge of the executive functions of the Managing
Director. The Board also believes that this arrangement will not impair the balance of power and authority
between the Board and the management of the Company. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman
and the Managing Director is clearly established and set out in their respective job descriptions. The balance
of power and authority is ensured by the operations of the Board, which is comprised of experienced and
high caliber individuals including four non-executive Directors and three Independent non-executive Directors.
The Board members meet regularly approximately quarterly to discuss the issues affecting operations of the
Company.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Directors’ Appointments, Re-election and Removal

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial term
of three years from 23 October 2009. Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he agreed to act as non-executive
Director or independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years. Each of these service
agreements and letters of appointment will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
serving not less than three months’ prior written notice or three months salary in lieu of such notice.

The Articles of Association (the “Articles”) of the Company provides that any Director appointed by the Board,
either to fill a casual vacancy in the Board or as an addition to the existing Board, shall hold office only until
the next following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election. Also under
the Company’s Articles, one-third of all Directors (whether executive or non-executive) is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at each annual general meeting provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years, and a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Members of the Company may, at any general meeting convened and held in accordance with Company’s
Articles to remove a Director at any time before the expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to
the contrary in the Company’s Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such Director.

Board meetings and Board practices

Under code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, the Board shall meet regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. The Board has scheduled to meet at least four times a year in approximately
quarterly intervals in accordance with the Articles. The Board meets physically and regularly. During the year
ended 31 December 2015, 7 Board meetings were held. The Directors attended the meetings in person or by
telephone in accordance with the Company’s Articles. A summary of the Directors’ meeting attendance during
the Year is as follows:

Attendance/Total board
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jinchang* —/-
Mr. Zhang Xin 7/7
Non-executive Director

Mr. Ning Gaoning* 77
Mr. Wan Zaotian 77
Mr. Zhou Zheng? 7/7
Mr. Hu Yonglei 77
Mr. Zhou Yuan® N/A
Mr. Shen Tao" N/A

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 7/7
Mr. Fu Tingmei 7/7
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan 7/7

Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 23 March 2015. No board meeting was held
during his tenure in the year ended 31 December 2015.

# Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Zhou Zheng resigned as non-executive
Directors on 25 February 2016.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao were appointed as non-executive
Directors on 25 February 2016.
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According to the current Board practice, notices of the Board meetings are served to all Directors before the
meeting. Generally, at least 14 days’ notice is given for regular Board meetings by the Company to all Directors.
Reasonable notice is given for all other Board meetings. The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman to prepare Board meeting agenda and papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information. Each Director may request the Company Secretary to include any matters
in the agenda during the Board meetings. All substantive agenda items together with comprehensive briefing
papers will be sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep
the Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions.

General meetings with shareholders
The 2015 annual general meeting (2015 AGM”) was held on 2 June 2015. A summary of the general meeting
attendance during the Year is as follows:

Attendance/Total general
meetings held during the Year

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Jinchang* —/-
Mr. Zhang Xin 1/1
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ning Gaoning* 0/1
Mr. Wan Zaotian 0/1
Mr. Zhou Zheng?* 0/1
Mr. Hu Yonglei 0/1
Mr. Zhou Yuan” N/A
Mr. Shen Tao” N/A
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo 1/1
Mr. Fu Tingmei 1/1
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan 0/1
* Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 23 March 2015. No general meeting was held

during his tenure in the year ended 31 December 2015.

# Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Zhou Zheng resigned as non-executive
Directors on 25 February 2016.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao were appointed as non-executive
Directors on 25 February 2016.
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Supply of and access to information

All Directors may access the advice and services of the Company Secretary. Minutes of the Board and meetings
of the Board committees are kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by the Directors. Any Director may request the Company to provide
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense to discharge his duties to the Company.

Important matters are usually dealt with by way of written resolutions so that all Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) can note and comment on, as appropriate, the matters before approval is granted.
Moreover, a Director must declare his interest in matters or transactions to be considered and approved by
the Board. If a substantial shareholder or a Director has an interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
which the Board has determined to be material, the Company will not deal with the matter by the way of
written resolution. The independent non-executive Directors shall take an active role and make an independent
judgment on all issues relating to such matter. If any Director or his close associates have any material interest
in any proposed Board resolutions, such Director shall not vote (nor shall be counted in the quorum) at a
meeting of the Directors on any resolutions approving any contract or arrangement or concerning a matter in
which he or any of his close associates has directly or indirectly a material interest (save as provided under the
Company’s Articles).

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance

The Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance for all Directors and senior management
of the Company for the year 2015/2016. The insurance covers the corresponding costs, charges, expenses and
liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them.

Responsibilities of directors

The Company ensures that every newly appointed Director has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Group and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, applicable legal requirements and other regulatory requirements and the business and
governance policies of the Company.

The non-executive Directors exercise their independent judgement and advise on the business direction
and strategic plans of the Company. The non-executive Directors also review the financial information and
operational performance of the Company on a regular basis.

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings and make independent
judgment on issues relating to matters or transactions of a material nature. They will take the lead where
potential conflicts of interest arise. In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, there are three
independent non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board. Among the three
independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo has the appropriate professional qualifications in
accounting or related financial management expertise as required by Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Company secretary
Mr. Chan Fan Shing had been appointed as the Company Secretary with effect from 23 October 2009 (and later
resigned on 6 March 2016). He has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in relation to the professional
training requirements.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, Mr. Yim Ming Chung was appointed as the Company Secretary
on 6 March 2016.
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Corporate Governance Duties

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties as set out in the Code Provision D.3.1.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board had reviewed and discussed the corporate governance
policy of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

All Directors are provided with monthly updates on the Company’s operation performance, position and
prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties. Furthermore, all Directors
acknowledge the need to continue to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills for making contributions
to the Company. The table below shows the participation of individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
updates programmes
Executive Directors:
Mr. Wang Jinchang (Resigned on 23 March 2015) N/A N/A
Mr. Zhang Xin v v
Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ning Gaoning (Resigned on 25 February 2016) v v
Mr. Wan Zaotian (Resigned on 25 February 2016) v v
Mr. Zhou Zheng v v
Mr. Hu Yonglei v v
Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo v v
Mr. Fu Tingmei v v
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan v v

Audit Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Audit Committee upon the listing of the
Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee held 3 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2015. The composition and the
details of the attendance records of members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Members of Audit Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo (Committee Chairman)* 3/3
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 3/3
Mr. Hu Yongleit 3/3

*

Independent Non-executive Director
# Non-executive Director

CPMC Holdings Limited
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The financial controller of the Company and the Company Secretary also attended the meetings. Minutes
drafted by the Company Secretary had been circulated to members of the Audit Committee within a reasonable
time after the meetings. No member of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the existing auditing firm of
the Company.

The Board has adopted the terms of reference for the Audit Committee, which follow closely the requirements
of the code provisions of the CG Code, details of which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website.

The Audit Committee’s responsibilities include the following:

° review and supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process and completeness of financial reports;
° monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems; and

e  consider the independence of the external auditors.

The Audit Committee reviewed with the senior management the accounting policies and practices adopted
by the Group and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control systems and financial reporting
matters. The Audit Committee also reviewed the financial statements of the Company and the Company’s
interim and annual reports, the letter to the management from the auditors of the Company and the audit scope
and fees for the year ended 31 December 2015. The Audit Committee also reviewed the new terms of reference
of the Audit Committee and provided advice thereon to the Board, in accordance with the amendments to
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules which will be applicable to the accounting period beginning from 1 January
2016.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Ernst & Young be re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor for the year ending
31 December 2016.

The senior management of the Group is required to provide adequate and timely support to the Audit
Committee to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee has also been advised that the Company Secretary can
arrange independent professional advice at the expense of the Company should the seeking of such advice be
considered necessary by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Nomination Committee upon the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange. The Board has also adopted the terms of reference for the
Nomination Committee which are in line with the code provisions set out in the CG Code and are posted on the
Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website. A majority of the members of the Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to (i) review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed changes; (ii) make
recommendations to the Board on the nominees for appointment as Director and senior management of the
Group; (iii) assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Nomination Committee had performed the following work:

° review of the structure, size and composition of the Board to ensure that it has a balance of skills,
knowledge and experience appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Group;
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° recommendation of the re-appointment of the Directors standing for re-election at the 2015 annual
general meeting of the Company; and

° assessment of the independence of all the independent non-executive Directors of the Company.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing
the policy during the year ended 31 December 2015. The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of
diversity of Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments
will continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The
ultimate decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

The composition and the details of the attendance of the members of the Nomination Committee during the Year
are as follows:

Members of Nomination Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Zhang Xin (Committee Chairman)" 11
Mr. Wang Jinchang (Committee Chairman) N/A
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 1/1
Mr. Fu Tingmei* 11
" Executive Director and appointed as Chairman of the Board on 23 March 2015. On 23 March 2015, Mr. Zhang Xin
was appointed as the chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee.
# Executive Director and Chairman of the Board until 23 March 2015. On 23 March 2015, Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned

as the chairman and a member of the Nomination Committee.
Independent non-executive Director

Remuneration Committee

The Company approved on 23 October 2009 the forming of the Remuneration Committee upon the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange with written terms of reference to state its authority and duties. A
majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management to ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her own remuneration; (ii) determine the specific
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance
based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee may have access to independent professional advice at the Company’s expense if considered
necessary.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee had performed the following work:

. review and discuss the remuneration policy of the Group and the remuneration packages of Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

° review and discuss the share option matters of the Company.

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in Note 8 to the
financial statements.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee, which closely follows the requirements of the code
provisions of the CG Code, are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

The human resources and administration department of the Company provides administrative support to the
Remuneration Committee, and implements the approved remuneration packages and other human resources
related decisions.

The Remuneration Committee met once during the year ended 31 December 2015 to assess and review the
remuneration packages and overall benefits for the Directors and the senior management of the Company. The
composition and the details of the attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year are
as follows:

Members of Remuneration Committee Attendance/Total meetings
Mr. Fu Tingmei (Committee Chairman)* 11

Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo* 1/1

Mr. Zhang Xin" 1/1

Mr. Wang Jinchang?* N/A

* Independent Non-executive Director

" Executive Director and appointed as Chairman of the Board on 23 March 2015. On 23 March 2015, Mr. Zhang Xin

was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee.
# Executive Director and Chairman of the Board until 23 March 2015. On 23 March 2015, Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned

as a member of the Remuneration Committee.
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and Auditors’ Acknowledgement

The Audit Committee and the Board have reviewed the Group's consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2015. The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing accounts, the
financial statements, performance position and prospects of the Group. Management has provided information
and explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed assessment of financial and other information
put before the Board for approval. The Directors believed that they have selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently, made judgment and estimates that are prudent and reasonable and ensured the
financial statements are prepared on a “going concern” basis.

Ernst & Young, the auditors of the Company, acknowledged their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems. The risk management and internal control systems have been designed to safeguard
the shareholders’ investment and assets of the Group. It should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper
accounting records and assist in compliance with the relevant rules and regulations. The Board had conducted
a review on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems (including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions) of the Group. The Board considered that
the risk management and internal control systems are effective and adequate and the Company has complied
with the code provisions on risk management and internal control of the CG Code.

Furthermore, the Group also implemented the SAP system to enhance the efficiency of the operational process
and improving segregation of duties and better internal control system.
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Auditors’ Remuneration
An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 December
2015 is set out as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

RMB’000
Audit services 1,750
Non-audit services™* 1,086
Total 2,836

*

Such services included interim report review.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective communication with
shareholders of the Company and investors; and also recognizes the effective communication with investors is
the fundamental element to build up the shareholders’ confidence and attract more new investors.

The Company communicates with the shareholders mainly in the following ways:

(i) the holding of annual general meeting which provides an opportunity for the shareholders to
communicate directly to the Board;

(ii) the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and/or circulars of the Company as
required under the Listing Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group;

(iii) updating the Company’s website regularly and disclosure of information on a timely basis via the
Company'’s and the Stock Exchange’s website;

(iv)  the holding of face to face meetings or teleconferences with analysts and fund managers from time to
time. There is regular dialogue with institutional shareholders and presentations are made when financial
results are announced. Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website and
raise enquiries through our Investor Relations Department whose contact details are available on the
Company'’s website; and

(v) shareholders can contact Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, the share registrar of the
Company, for any enquiries of their shareholdings and dividend entitlements.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Corporate Governance Report

Shareholders’ Right

The annual general meeting of the Company which is proposed to be held on Friday, 3 June 2016 (the
“2016 AGM”) will provide opportunities for the shareholders to meet and raise questions to our Directors, the
management and the external auditors. At the 2016 AGM, the chairperson of the annual general meeting
and the chairman/member of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee will be available thereat to answer questions from the shareholders.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Company should arrange the notice to shareholders to be sent in the case of
annual general meetings at least 21 clear days before the meeting and to be sent at least 14 clear days in the
case of all other general meeting.

Pursuant to the Articles, any two shareholders of the Company holding not less than one-tenth of the issued
share of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings may request the Company to convene
an extraordinary general meeting by sending a written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary. The
objects of the meeting must be stated in the written requisition.

Shareholder(s) may send written enquiries to the Company for putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the
Board. Contact details are as follows:

Address: 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2833 0554

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send or fax the original duly signed written
requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address or fax number and
provide their full name, contact details and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information
may be disclosed as required by law.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has not made any changes to its Articles. An up
to date version of the Articles is available on the Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.
Shareholders may refer to the Articles for further details of their rights.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll
voting results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.cofco-pack.com) immediately after the relevant general meetings.

Voting by Poll

Pursuant to the Company'’s Articles, all resolutions will be conducted by poll at the 2016 AGM. The shareholders
will be allowed to have one vote for every share they hold. The results of the voting by poll will be declared at
the meeting and published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As the largest metal packaging enterprise and plastic container packaging enterprise in the PRC and a player
with influential presence in the industry, the Group has always been committed to the performance of our social
responsibility. We endeavour to provide products and services of superior quality, and develop and produce
safer and more environmental-friendly packaging products; vigorously promote energy saving and emission
reduction and technological innovation, and make concrete efforts to protect the environment; reinforce our
focus on the caring for the development and the physical and mental health of our staff, and boost the initiative
and creativity of our staff. Meanwhile, we actively take part in public welfare activities and won good reputation
among the public.

. Employees

The Group has always valued utmost importance to talent development, and strictly complies with
national and local regulations and dedicates to establish harmonious labour relations. The Group offers
fair employment opportunities, promotes staff training in a comprehensive way and offers a wide range
of development opportunities and platforms. Moreover, it continuously concerns about the protection of
employees’ rights, offers care to employees and enhances the sense of belonging of employees and
reinforce the cohesion within the enterprise.

(1) Career growth and development of staff

In 2015, the Group continued to be committed to talent development, and made continuous efforts
to enhance the systemised and organised approach to our initiative of talent development, and
organised various types of trainings, including career development, enhancement of skills, corporate
culture, leadership and improvement of execution capability. For example, to cater for the training
needs of our staff, innovative training programs under different themes were launched with training
method that combined live lecture with video; a total of 2,900 training sessions of 11,216 training
hours were organised and the total number of trainees reached 4,628. The trainings covered a wide
range of topics, including time management, effective execution, awareness on information safety
and marriage law, benchmarking management and organizational structure. Meanwhile, strengthened
efforts were made on the training and tutoring of frontline general staff while various skill competitions
were frequently organised. These initiatives aim to build the talent development system for general
skill positions by fanning out the successful experience of a few to the entire organisation. Group
orientation for fresh college graduates and “906 new talents occupational training camp” have been
organised again. A total of 257 training sessions of 2,326 training hours were organised and the total
number of trainees reached 3,556. These trainings mainly focused on production safety standards,
staff handbook, corporate culture, corporate system, business etiquette, interpersonal relationships,
effective communication and teamwork. Three sessions of youth core staff training were organised
through the Morning Light Programme (“EE5HEl"), and the total number of trainees reached 256.
Two sessions of benchmarking management tools learning were held through the Starlight Programme
(“23t5HE"), and the total number of participants reached 25. With respect to training programmes
for team leaders, the organizational structure functions leveraged on platforms, built lecterns, and
provided platforms for competition, and the training focused on proper maintenance, experience
sharing in the training course for the Group’s team leaders, standardised study on organizational
structure, on-site management, safe production, work relations, instructions and improvement. 250
team leaders took part in the training programme in three phases with 10 training hours. At the same
time, the Group attached great importance to the training of technicians. In order to provide practical
and solid learning to employees, a complete development path from talent cultivation to evaluation
and incentives has been built. In addition, the Group also prepared handbooks for the workplaces,
establishing data base and relevant videos, and improved the technical appraisal and recruitment
system to boost the initiative of the employees Professional microlectures were creatively organised
for the staff in functional departments with the administration and human resources department acting
as a pilot; 17 professional microlectures were organised, covering relevant staff in 15 subsidiaries
and different aspects such as administration, recruitment, training, performance, remuneration,
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etc. This approach can be applied to the professional training by various functions, including
financial, marketing, legal, supply chain and audit. Benchmarking management training in the form
of project was implemented to promote the influence of role model and build core capabilities. 5
sessions of training of formal scale were organised, with 184 training hours and over 150 trainees.
These training activities were targeting the management, heads of departments and core staff, and
focused on project creation, guiding and supervision and the implementation of projects. Meanwhile,
programmes for the fostering of high-calibre talents were organised through various training activities,
among which, the numbers of sessions for GB training, BB, and lecturer training were 10, 1 and 3
respectively, and the total numbers of trainees for each kind of training were 28, 8 and 11 respectively.
150 and 42 trainees participated in the indirect tutoring activities through the GB projects and
the SCOR model training, respectively. “Achieve a bit of improvement from every lesson” was still
under way, which helps employees to grow and accumulate production experience in the future.
Through participation of all staff, in 2015, 1,123 lessons and 3,260 improvements were made by the
employees. During the year 2015, sharing of and subscription for information related to improvements
were strengthened through the information platform. 143 articles on “achieve a bit of improvement
from every lesson” were shared, and 103 articles were subscripted by the profit-generating entities
through the system.

Meanwhile, our subsidiaries took an active approach to organising various skill competitions. In
addition to encouraging all staff to study and beat targets and enhancing professional skills, these
activities also aimed to facilitate the teamwork among their staff. Such competitions included mold
changing competition, forklift competition, packaging competition, preprint processing competition
and zero-damage packaging competition. The Group has organised over 65 various labour
competitions in 2015, which reached around 890 participants.

Two-piece cans skill competition
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(2) Staff safety, incentive and caring

The Group has always complied with the requirements of the related laws and regulations of the
PRC with respect to the welfare policies of the staff, including full payment of various statutory social
insurances and the entitlement to statutory holidays, as well as adjustments of salary from time
to time in accordance with the requirements of the government and the practical situation of the
enterprise. In 2015, the Group strictly complied with the requirements of the government to make
upward adjustment to wage level, which increased labour costs by approximately RMB49.31 million.
Moreover, the Group adopted relevant measures which at the same time improved the efficiency
with less staff and increased productivity. Such measures included refining the allocation of human
resources and carrying out comparison analysis on efficiency. The number of staff reduced throughout
the year reached 329, which assured the efficacy of our efforts to stabilise the cost-revenue standard
for ten thousand labour costs. The estimated year-on-year growth of the staff average income was
about 4.3% in 2015 and the satisfaction level of our staff with their salaries has obviously increased.
In addition, supplementary commercial insurances such as accident and medical insurances were
provided to the core staff. The principal paid and the scope of the annuity had been established and
enlarged, while improvement was made in benefits covering canteen management, accommodations
and staff caring. Furthermore, the Group paid more attention to staff incentive measures such as
monthly ranking, “highlight appreciation” and “red and yellow warning signs” to identify problems and
set up a role model in a timely manner. Special incentives were awarded for technological innovation,
managerial innovation and market exploration and various management enhancing activities were
promoted, which focused benchmarking management, organisational structure building and five-star
rating, with a view to improving team performance, boosting morale among our staff, and achieving
win-win situation for the Group and employees. Hero culture was further promoted by selecting and
granting awards to loyal employees, sunshine team and outstanding team to select the role model
for learning and improvement. Improvement awards granted to workers amounted to approximately
RMB2.9 million in total. At the same time, under the intense competition for glory, the total number of
organisations and individuals awarded by the supervising departments of different levels in the year
accumulated to over 30, further enhanced the corporate image.

The Group’s party committee, administrative body and labour union closely collaborated to make joint
endeavour in management, listen to employees’ needs and think from the perspective of employees.
Organised and specific efforts were made with respect to hot issue, questionable issues and complex
issues which were of particular concern among the staff in different periods. A clear and smooth
communication platform in WeChat was established for timely release of news about the packaging
industry and communication channels between the Group and its subsidiaries were established.
Employees were encouraged to share cases of exceptional execution capability to raise the
awareness of learning from role models while heroes around the employees have performed the roles
of inspiring and encouraging mentors. The Group’s management took the lead in reaching down to
the general staff and carried out fraternization activities. They also listened to the thoughts of frontline
staff, and were dedicated to care for our staff in an efficient and practical manner. For example, they
visited subsidiaries for comprehensive instruction of safety work, consolidated the foundation of safety,
enhanced accountability and eliminated potential safety hazards to ensure that employees have a
safe production and living environment; they went to the canteen and dormitory for staff to inspect
the condition of basic necessities of the staff. The management also listened to the suggestions and
feedback of employees to strengthen internal management and improve the communication with
subsidiaries in a proactive way, thus significantly improved the satisfactory level of employees.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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With respect to caring for staff, the Group implemented a number of effective measures for
the benefits of our staff. For example, as in the past, special caring efforts were made for staff
experiencing important events in their life, such as marriage and funeral. In 2015, 58 caring visits to
individual staff were organised in the Hangzhou region only. Caring programs for senior employees
were continuously launched with approximately 72 employees being awarded the “Loyalty Award”
in 2015. The Group’s party committees, administrative bodies and labour unions condoled with
employees in difficulty, expatriates and retired employees and raised money for employees who face
unexpected difficulty to fulfil the promise of “facing the storms of life together”.

The Group organised diversified recreational and sports activities with an aim of enriching the
recreational life of our staff, meeting their mental needs of various hobbies, mobilising their enthusiasm
for work, promoting communication and cooperation, as well as enhancing cohesion. Such activities
included “Packaging Music Talents” — karaoke competitions, “Lantern Riddles Guessing Activities for the
Lantern Festival”, “Fun Activities for the Women’s Day”, “Low-carbon Riding”, “Basketball Competition
of Friendship”, * " “A Tour Around the Factory with Little Family Members”, “Badminton
Competition”, *

Fun Sport Games”,

Autumn Mountain Climbing and Garden Visiting Activities” and so on.

The garden party for families

Jogging activity

Fun sports
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(8) Staff communication

MANAGEMENT

DISCUSSION AND

ANATSIS In 2015, in addition to consolidating traditional media for promotion, the Group also developed some

PR communication channels which are highly efficient, novel and welcomed by the staff. These channels
were designed to enhance awareness, transparency and openness of information. Examples include:
renovated the corporate intranet, established diversified communication platforms, and set up
desks for integrity of practice to hear the voices and accept the monitoring of the staff, as well as to
strengthen the communication and feedback of information. New media such as WeChat and Weibo
were also leveraged to enhance the timeliness of sharing of information. Various seminars were held,
including junior staff seminar, senior staff seminar, food provision committee seminar, party member

CORPORATE seminar, technician seminar, etc. to listen to the thoughts of employees. Also, before issuing system

GOVERNANGE and rules that are closely related to the benefit of employees, staff representative meeting would

REPORT be held for collecting suggestions of employees to better serve employees. In 2015, a total of 16

ERERES proposals that are closely related to the benefit of employees were collected, which were responded

to after discussion among relevant departments. In addition, regular communications with employees
were carried out by the heads of departments for feedback on work. Guidance would also be
provided in a timely manner.

Il. Independent Innovations, Energy Conversation and Environmental

Protection
ENVIRONMENTAL,
SOCIAL AND . . . . -
GOVERNANCE (1) Promotion of research and innovations, conservation and efficiency enhancement
REPORT
BE HER
EREE

CPMC boasts one-stop packaging service capabilities and leading technological research and
development functions, as well as established research and development system. It is also gradually
consolidating its teams and talents for research and development. The China Research Centre of
Packaging Technology widely recognised in the industry was also established, which was the first of
its kind to be recognised by the CNAS of the PRC. CPMC also built a number of cooperation platforms
with some top-notch universities and colleges in the country, and took the lead and participated in the
formulation of various industry standards for packaging products. It has nearly one hundred patents

DIRECTORS AND in packaging technologies in the PRC, and has won many international packaging awards. The Group
fmggEMENT has put in place robust product quality control system and food hygiene and safety management
PROFILE system. Its products meet the requirements set out in the standards introduced by the US and the EU.
f?ﬁ%@ In 2015, the efforts in technological innovation achieved favourable economic efficiency and social

benefits, and the major areas involved are summarised as follows:
1. Innovation in and development of UV printing technology

The application of high-speed multi-colour UV printing technology on the twist caps with large
corrugated iron was successful materialised, which solved the challenging issue facing the
REPORT OF THE printing industry arising from the large size and thin corrugated iron of the twist caps, and
;g%ggs significantly improved the printing capacity while shortening the average delivery cycle of coating

and printing products. As a result, a total of approximately RMB2 million of printing costs were
saved.
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Significant improvement in the automation level of production and cleaning of steel barrels

The implementation of project for automated steel barrel cleaning will be beneficial for the
enhancement of the quality of finished steel barrels, reduction in labour costs, enhancement
of working efficiency and improvement of plant environment, thus fuelling the efforts to raising
corporate image, broadening market atmosphere and reinforcing competitiveness of the
enterprise. It is expected that after the completion of the project for automated steel barrel
production and cleaning, the needs of customers for super clean barrels can be met, and the
annual revenue from the sale of steel barrels will increase notably.

Assuring detection and control of highly secure food packaging materials

In 2015, the laboratory centre conducted research on and developed the professional method
of detection and criteria of assessment with respect to harmful substances such as melamine,
biphenol-A, free formaldehyde in food packaging materials. Systemised monitoring system
has also been established. Precise analysis systems like GC-MS, high performance liquid
chromatography, spectral analysis have been put in place in the laboratory centre, and effective
monitoring system for food safety has been built. The progress in food safety technologies made
by CPMC provides powerful support for the management and control system of food safety, thus
becoming the core competitiveness of the products of CPMC, as well as the golden business
card for a wide ranges of products, such as milk powder cans, twist caps, JDB and Red Bull.

Excellent achievements in energy saving and emission reduction

In 2015, the Group made excellent achievements in saving costs and enhancing efficiency
through a number of energy saving and emission reduction projects, including 6-colour
UV printing, reclaimed water treatment project and renovation of high energy-consuming
equipment. In addition, the Group actively took part in the efforts within the industry organised by
organisations such as the China Packaging Federation and China Metal Container Association,
and won a number of awards, which included the science and technology award granted by the
China Packaging Federation, the China Aerosol Innovation Awards of the year and two innovative
technology awards granted by the industrial association in Hangzhou. CPMC took a proactive
approach to the protection of intellectual rights, and obtained 61 licensed patents in 2015. A total
of 219 licensed patents have been obtained throughout the years.

Technology Innovation Conference of 2015
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(2) Energy Conversation and Environmental protection

1.

Environmental management

The Group is committed to protecting the ecological environments and contributing to
sustainability by initiating green packaging and energy saving and emission reduction. For
instance, the Group’s subsidiaries in Hangzhou, Wuxi, Panyu, Tianjin, Chengdu, Kunshan,
Hangzhou Canmaking and Shanghai Pin Guan Company have all established the environmental
management system and successfully received the qualification according to the requirement
of 1ISO14001. Its subsidiaries in Chengdu and Wuhan have completed their initiatives for clean
production, which have been accepted by local relevant authorities.

Through innovating the technology on the crucial steps of energy conservation and emission
reduction, adopting new energy-saving technology and continuously implementing energy
saving projects, the Group has delivered great social benefits. In 2015, CPMC has launched 37
energy conservation and environmental protection projects, as a result of which, 4,880,000 kWh
of electricity, 600,000 cubic metres of natural gas and 115,000 tonnes of water were saved in
total, saving an aggregated costs of RMB6.80 million; besides, 6,000 tonnes of CO2 emission
was reduced and 2,400 tonnes of standard coal was saved. Details of specific projects are set
out below:

e Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd. has implemented improvement of the natural gas drying
room for energy saving. Thanks to the improvement project, approximately 15% energy was
saved, of which, unit consumption of parallel drying rooms for twist No.5 and No.6 lines
reduced about 1.1 m¥10,000, saving natural gas of 19,800 m® annually; unit consumption
of drying rooms for twist No.15 line reduced about 1.17 m%10,000, saving natural gas of
283,400 m?® annually; two drying rooms saved costs of natural gas of RMB150,000 (calculated
at RMB3.6/md).

e  The Kunshan Company carried out reclaimed water treatment project, saving 60,000 tonnes
of water annually; Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. and Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking
Co., Ltd. implemented concentrated water treatment project, saving 20,000 tonnes and
15,000 tonnes of water annually.

e As required by the Water Saving Office of Wuqging District of Tianjing, COFCO Packaging
Tianjin Company Limited put more efforts to control consumption of water for daily-life use
and increase recycling of water for production use, saving 15 to 25 tonnes of water every
day through implementing the water saving project in 2015. COFCO Packaging Tianjin
Company Limited was credited as “Water-Saving Enterprise in Tianjin” in 2015 and received
award in respect of water saving.

e COFCO Packaging Tianjin Company Limited carried out energy audit, implemented
optimisation and renovation of energy system, and obtained support fund for transformation
and upgrade in the amount of RMB163,000 from the government of Wugqing District of
Tianjin.

° In 2015, Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd. actively responded to relevant initiatives
conducted in the Wuxi New District and carried out industrial transform and upgrade
programmes. Total annual investment in energy saving and emission reduction reached
approximately RMB38,829,400, and saved approximately 1,332.17 tonnes of standard coal.
These efforts were accepted by local relevant authorities at the end of year. The company
also granted the “Key Award for Energy Saving 2015"by the Wuxi New District with a prize
amount of RMB252,000.
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2. Practices of environmental protection MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
e Water saving: in the Kunshan Company, effluent generated from the phosphating process L MNALYSIS
will be treated and turned into water which meets the water quality equivalent to the pure SRR
water (10us/cm). Treatment efficiency of the project is as high as 70%, 20% higher than

conventional treatment projects.

e  Reduction in emission and discharge: in Guangzhou Panyu MCP Industries Ltd., exhaust
fumes generated from the drying rooms on coating lines was treated for the purpose of
energy saving and emission reduction. As a result, the emission of exhaust fumes meets the
national standards, and approximately RMB150,000 will be saved every month.

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

i i REPORT
lll. Community Services ﬁ%ﬁ}ég&%
The Group performs its social responsibility by taking an active approach to initiating and participating in
community service activities and providing support to philanthropy undertakings. During 2015, CPMC took
part in the public welfare activities project “Zhong Liang Warm Package” (‘B R &EFE") and donated
RMB50,000 to help students in poverty-stricken mountainous areas to survive the winter after discussion
by the CPMC Poverty Alleviation Committee. In mid-October, CPMC encouraged its subsidiaries to carry

SNt

out “Showing Compassion by Donating Old Clothes” (“ZK&1&)%"), an initiative for donating cloths to poor

areas in Xinjiang. A total of about 800 kilograms of cloths was collected and sent to area in need by post. ENVIRONMENTAL,
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Awarded as “Advanced Trade Union Organization”
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IV. Management of Supply Chain

The CPMC has not only emphasized on the implementation of its own corporate social responsibility,
but also proactively drove its suppliers to practice a higher level of corporate social responsibility. We
selected enterprises whose products are reliable, brands with high credit and pay attention to the social
responsibility as its cooperative partners, included Baosteel, Shougang, Chalco, Nanshan Aluminum,
Sinopec, CNOOC (F/87%%), etc.

() Actively Create “Safety Net of Products’ Quality”

We set strict entry requirements for product quality and safety and classified the suppliers into
different categories and grades for management purposes. From the initial selection of new suppliers’
new materials, entry, daily operation, continual improvement and launch, the Group has set up a
series of rigorous suppliers’ quality control system and formulated an overall standardized regulative
system; by strengthening the inspection and verification of raw materials, launching on-site review,
evaluation and assessment, idea exchanges about techniques and quality, holding activities such
as annual quality safety meeting of suppliers, the Group constantly increased the safety and quality
awareness of suppliers and management levels, promoted the constant improvement of suppliers and
gradual increase in passing rates of raw materials.

We cooperated with suppliers to implement risk control on products’ food safety at earlier stages
and enhanced the capabilities in guaranteeing food safety on an on-going basis. We entered into
the technical agreement comprising the terms of food safety with suppliers, leading to effective
circulation of the food safety undertakings and incidental statements throughout the supply chains.
By increasing suppliers’ online monitoring systems as a way of strengthening control on production
procedures, enhancing the operation of laboratories for uplifting inspection capabilities, regularly
appointing the authorized agency to carry out third-party inspection, motivating suppliers for the
continual advancement in food safety control and tracking management, the Group ensured that
zero-incident rate was maintained in terms of liability of products’ food safety and material quality
issues. Meanwhile, we jointly developed materials with higher food safety level with suppliers, making
CPMC a pioneer in the industry.

() Strive to Form “Green Supply Chain” and Keep Promoting “Energy Saving and Consumption
Reduction” in Industry Chain

We advocated and helped the upstream suppliers accelerate innovation of raw material manufacturing
technique so as to reduce consumption of the raw materials. By means of equipment and technical
reform together with the upstream suppliers, we have promoted recycling of scrap metal; and also, we
strove to boost recovery and reusing of packing materials. Through the unremitting efforts, we have
successfully reduced annual consumption of metal materials and wood by 9,500 tons and 12,000
tons, respectively since 2011, thus having greatly cut down resource consumption.

(Ill) Build up “Sunshine Supply Chain”

We have been always adhering to “transactions with integrity”. On one hand, we proactively
established the “sunshine procurement model” centering on collective decision in strategic
procurement, tenders in procurement, online procurement, etc. On the other hand, we put greater
effort in combating corruption by entering into the “Sunshine Agreement” with suppliers, carriers
and purchasers of waste materials, proactively guiding suppliers and partners to jointly build up a
“Sunshine Supply Chain”.
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V. Anti-corruption

In 2015, under the guidance and support of the Group leaders and close attention paid by the Party
Committee and Discipline Inspection Committee of CPMC, the Division of Auditing & Supervision and
Division of Party-Masses Relationship actively cooperated with each other, thus made a great progress
in CPMC'’s construction of the Party conduct and anti-corruption work. Meanwhile, by means of holding
relevant activities, the Group dramatically forwarded theoretical study on the Construction of the Party
Style and Honest Administration, and Corruption Combating and Clean Government Building, promoted
educational training and improved institutional norms as well as supervision function of complaint letter and
request handling.

U]

(U))

Focus on “Theoretical Study”

Firstly, the Group organized the Party Committee, Discipline Inspection Committee and all Party
members of CPMC to study the spirit of meeting of Central Commission for Discipline Inspection,
and has successively held seminars about Speech in the 4th Plenary Session of the 18th Central
Commission for Discipline Inspection of the Communist Party of China by Wang Qishan ({ E &1L
FERHEEEE T\ EFRCEREZESEINAEEEE LA ), Communiqué of the 5th Plenary
Session of the 18th Central Commission for Discipline Inspection of the Communist Party of China
(KHFREEEEFET\EFRLEREZEEFAREEEHEAM)), Spirit of Symposium of Discipline
Inspection Commission Secretary (Head of Discipline Inspection Panel) of Relevant Agencies of Office
5 of Central Commission for Discipline Inspection, and Anti-corruption Conference of COFCO 2015

((RIBEBECOISERBERIIESZ)).

Moreover, the Party Committee of CPMC convened quarterly seminars and concentrated on: 1. the
highlights and spirits of Central Economic Working Conference, Stated-owned Enterprise Directors
Conference by State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission, National People’s
Congress and Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference 2015; 2. theme educational activities
of strengthening Party self-discipline, combating corruption and building up a clean government, and
the “Three Stricts and Three Steadies”; 3. watching historical documentary A Dream of China-The
Great Renewal of the Chinese Nation ({2 HE--FERKEEZFK)), studying the spirit of Mass
Organizations Conference of CPC, and Implementation Opinions of COFCO Party Committee about
Realizing Main Responsibility and Supervision Responsibility for Construction of the Party Style and
Honest Administration ({(PHFPEEEEAMN EELREHERTEETNEEEINERER)),
and launching seminar about “Three Stricts and Three Steadies” in the second phase.

At last, the Party Committee of CPMC conducted a knowledge contest called “Study the Three Stricts
and Three Steadies to Adhere to ldeal and Faith”, in which all members were educated with the
relevant theoretical knowledge in a relax and joyful atmosphere through lively activities.

Focus on “Educational Training”

The CPC persists in the policies of addressing both the symptoms and root cause, comprehensive
governance, punishment and prevention at the same time and focusing on prevention from a strategic
level of promoting construction of the Party’s governing capacity, and proposed to build and perfect
a system of punishment and corruption prevention, which required us to pay more attention on the
educational training.

Firstly, the Group launched theme education training for the newly appointed managers of CPMC,
and the Division of Auditing & Supervision tightened up the regulations in incorruptible working
pursuant to the “Three Stricts and Three Steadies”, “Eight-point Regulation and Six Bans”, Provision
of Incorruptible Work of State-owned Enterprise Leaders ((BIBR¥4EEAERZUNEETIHRE))
and relevant cases. At the same time, the Discipline Inspection Commission Secretary of CPMC
talked with over 20 principles of subordinate units and over 30 managers of all different levels prior to
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appointment, respectively, and further organized over 10 directors of subordinate units for duty and
incorruptible work reporting.

Furthermore, the Group conducted Party lectures by Secretary of the Party Committee and Party
Branch Secretary, such as the Conference for “Three Stricts and Three Steadies” Themed Education
Work Plan and Symposium of Party Lectures by Secretary of the Party Committee Zhang Xin. At
the same time, the Party Branch of subordinate profit-making company in Zhenjiang and the can
manufacturing company in Hangzhou also launched Party lectures by Party Branch Secretary.

Focus on “Institutional Norms”

Firstly, the Group initiated the signing of letter of responsibility for promoting anti-corruption work in
2015. So far, the Group conducted the assessment in strict compliance with organizational disciplines
without any accountability issues and disciplinary actions, resulting in relatively outstanding overall
atmosphere, behaviors and performances.

In addition, the Financial Division of CPMC issued Regulations on Treatment, Business Expenses
and Correlative Charges of CPMC ({FieB AN ERAFE « FXEIHURBBEEBREEIE)) and
specified the treatment to different posts, scope and standard of correlative charges, thus having
standardized the expenditure in daily operating activities.

Moreover, under the leadership of the Division of Auditing & Supervision, all divisions sorted and
summarized the tables for preventing corruption risk and listed the problems which are very likely
exposed to the corruption risk. This kept reminding the divisions of the risk during daily work.

At last, aiming at the situation of lacking for institutional norms in independent bidding activities, we
have formulated Regulations on Independent Bidding for Construction Work Project of CPMC (1&g
EHEEFETRIAR B TRIEEEIE)) for standardizing the independent bidding activities. Pursuant
to the Regulations, we specified the scope for independent bidding (over RMB300,000) and the
scope for bid opening under on-site supervision (over RMB500,000). Meanwhile, we realized on-site
supervision on all the projects for public bidding and for independent bidding which met the bid
opening standard under on-site supervision.

Focus on “Supervision of Complaint Letter and Request Handling”

Firstly, the Discipline Inspection Committee of CPMC has received 3 complaint letters in 2015 and
verified them through investigation together with Division of Auditing & Supervision in accordance with
relevant regulations and rules. After rigorous checking and investigation, no proof is found available
for the complaints in the 3 letters.

Moreover, concerning the prohibited behaviors such as taking presents and gift-money in the capital
construction projects and procurement, CPMC officially informed the capital construction side and
suppliers which it currently cooperates with in the name of the Division of Auditing & Supervision by
means of sending e-mails or signing the Sunshine Agreement, to warn them not to offer any presents,
gift-money or cards to any of the employees.

At last, along with the business development of the Company, frequent personnel transfer and change
in the officers responsible for discipline inspection and supervision, and for clear reporting and
complaining channels and higher corruption report efficiency, we issued notices in the name of the
Discipline Inspection Commission of CPMC and released the contact information of the secretary of
Discipline Inspection Commission and personnel of the Division of Auditing & Supervision of CPMC
for corruption reporting based on the currently available report box, telephone number, report e-mail
address of the Discipline Inspection Commission as well as the report box of each profit-making point
which are already open to the public.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile

HU Yonglei ZHANG Xin WAN Zaotian ZHOU Yuan

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

ZHANG Xin, aged 53, is an executive Director, the chairman of the Board and a general manager of the Company. Mr. Zhang is
primarily responsible for the operation management of the Group. Mr. Zhang joined the Group in January 1995, and was appointed as
an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 23 June 2008 and 23 March 2015 respectively. He has 21 years of experience
in the packaging industry. Mr. Zhang has been the vice president of the China Packaging Federation since November 2011. Mr. Zhang
received a bachelor's degree in Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical Technology (now known
as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master's degree in Business Administration from the University of Southeastern
China in 2002. In 2005, Mr. Zhang was awarded the Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his
outstanding contributions to the development of engineering technology in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WAN Zaotian, aged 54, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Wan joined COFCO in 2006 and joined the Group when he was appointed as
a Director on 26 July 2013. He is currently a vice president of COFCO and a member of the Communist Party Committee of COFCO.
Mr. Wan received a bachelor's degree in Agronomy from Huazhong Agricultural University in 1983, and graduated from the School
of Government of Peking University, majoring in administration management, with a master's degree in management in 2004. Mr.
Wan completed his EMBA Programme at Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business with a master's degree in 2009. Mr. Wan has
extensive experience in business management and has accumulated more than 30 years of experience in several industries including
the Ministry of Agriculture of the People’s Republic of China, China National Fisheries Corporation and China Grains and Oils Group
Corporation.

HU Yonglei, aged 48, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Hu is primarily responsible for reviewing the financial reporting procedures and
internal control system of the Company. Mr. Hu joined COFCO in 2005 and the Group when he was appointed as a Director on 23
June 2008. Mr. Hu has over 20 years of experience in investment and investment management. Mr. Hu held the position of general
manager of strategic division of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited (“China Agri”) from March 2007 to April 2009. Currently, he is
a deputy head of the strategy department and general manager of the investment management division of COFCO. Mr. Hu also held
positions as a director from December 2005 to August 2008 of China Resources (Jilin) Bio-chemical Co., Ltd. (now known as Xi'an
Aeroengine Plc), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr. Hu received a bachelor's degree in Engineering from Xi'an
Jiaotong University in 1989 and a master’s degree in Economics from Renmin University of China in 1992.

ZHOU Yuan, aged 29, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Zhou Yuan was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company in February
2016. Mr. Zhou Yuan was a vice chairman and a director of ORG, a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange and a substantial
shareholder of the Company, since November 2010 and as a director of Huang Shan NOVEL Company Limited (“Huang Shan NOVEL”),
a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2016. Mr. Zhou Yuan received a Bachelor degree of Engineering (with
Honours) in the field of Mechanical Engineering from Monash University in Australia in December 2010.

Annual Report 2015

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS
ERERLRAT

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

A
EERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL
SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

BE ek

P
Pt

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
ESZRAR
EEARMHN

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
BERERS

45



MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS
EEERLEAM

CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
REPORT

LS
/i\i = /E\ﬁ%

ENVIRONMENTAL
SOCIALAND
GOVERNANCE
REPORT
REHER
EamE

DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
PROFILE
ESRAER
EEABMHN

REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS

46

Directors and Senior Management Profile

SHEN Tao FU Tingmei CHENG Yuk Wo Andrew Y. YAN

SHEN Tao, aged 45, is a non-executive Director. Mr. Shen was appointed as a non-executive Director in February 2016. Mr. Shen has had
over 22 years of senior management experience in the packaging industry including acting as the general manager of Shanghai Shen'ir;%
Steel Processing Company Limited (/2847 in T/ABR A 7)), the general manager of Shanghai Baoyi Can Company Limited (L;;
BRIEAR/AA]), the assistant general manager of Shanghai Baosteel Property Development Company Limited (/8 HEREEREAR
/A7), and the assistant general manager of Baosteel Metal Company Limited (i &/BE AR /A 7)). Mr. Shen joined ORG in July 2008 and
has been a director of ORG since October 2010. He worked as the vice general manager of ORG from October 2008 to February 2014, and
has been the general manager of ORG since February 2014 and a director of HuangShan NOVEL since January 2016. Mr. Shen received
a Master degree in Business Administration from Peking University in January 2015. He also obtained the qualification of senior business
operator (A4 ERT) from the Occupational Skill Testing and Instruction Centre of China* ( %%E&E%ﬁiéﬁ%ﬁ?‘é%qﬂ/b) and State
Senior Business Operator Assessment Committee* (2Bm 4L £ ATFTEZ 8€) in March 2004.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CHENG Yuk Wo, aged 55, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Cheng was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr.
Cheng is a fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario, Canada. Mr. Cheng has over 20 years of experience
in auditing, finance and business management. He has been the sole proprietor of Erik Cheng & Co., Certified Public Accountants in
Hong Kong since 1999. Mr. Cheng is currently an independent non-executive director of the following companies which are listed on the
Stock Exchange, included CSI Properties Limited, HKC (Holdings) Limited, C.P. Lotus Corporation, Chong Hing Bank Limited, Liu Chong
Hing Investment Limited, Goldbond Group Holdings Limited, Chia Tai Enterprises International Limited, DTXS Silk Road Investment
Holdings Company Limited (formerly known as UDL Holdings Limited) and Top Spring International Holdings Limited. Mr. Cheng was an
independent non-executive director of Imagi International Holdings Limited from July 2010 to January 2016. In the last 3 years, Mr. Cheng
was also an independent non-executive director of South China Land Limited and an executive director of 21 Holdings Limited which
both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Cheng received a bachelor's degree in Accounting from the University of Kent, England in 1983
and a master's degree in Accounting and Finance from the University of London, England in 1984.

FU Tingmei, aged 49, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Fu was appointed as a Director on 23 June 2008. Mr. Fu has
extensive experiences in investment, finance, law and business management. Between 1992 and 2003, he conducted many corporate
finance transactions in several investment banking firms based in Hong Kong including serving as a director of Peregrine Capital Limited,
and a deputy managing director and subsequently promoted as a managing director of BNP Paribas Peregrine Capital Limited. Mr. Fu
is currently engaged in private investments business. He is currently also an independent non-executive director of Beijing Enterprises
Holdings Limited and Guotai Junan International Holdings Limited, both listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Fu graduated from the
University of London with a master’'s degree and a doctorate degree in Law in 1989 and 1993, respectively.

Andrew Y. YAN, aged 58, is an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Yan was appointed as a Director on 17 March 2014. Mr.
Yan is a recipient of 2012 China’s national “Thousand Talents Program” and was a member of its Selection Committee in 2012. He
is a director of Peking University Endowment Investment Committee. Mr. Yan holds a number of directorships in listed companies.
He is (a) an independent non-executive director of China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, China Resources Land Limited and
Cogobuy Group; (b) a non-executive director of Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited, Digital China
Holdings Limited, China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited and eSun Holdings Limited (all listed on the Stock Exchange; in addition,
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation is also listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, London Stock Exchange and New York
Stock Exchange); (c) an independent director of BlueFocus Communication Group Co., Ltd (listed on ChiNext in the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange), TCL Corporation (listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) and Sky Solar Holdings Ltd. (listed on the NASDAQ); and (d)
a director of ATA Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ)and ATA Online (Beijing) Education Technology Co., Ltd (listed on the National Equities
Exchange and Quotations System of China(also known as the New Third Board)). Mr. Yan was (a) an independent non-executive
director of Fosun International Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange) from March 2007 to September 2014 and China Mengniu Dairy
Company Ltd (listed on the Stock Exchange) from January 2013 to March 2014; (b) a non-executive director of MOBI Development
Co., Ltd. (listed on the Stock Exchange) from January 2003 to August 2013; (c) a non-executive director (from October 2006 to April
2013) and chairman (from May 2012 to April 2013) of NVC Lighting Holding Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange); (d) a director of
Acorn International Inc. (listed on the New York Stock Exchange) from December 2006 to December 2014, China Digital TV Holding
Co., Ltd (listed on the New York Stock Exchange) from November 2013 to April 2014 and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management
Ltd. (listed on the Small and Medium Enterprise Board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from October 2006 to June 2013; and
(e) an independent director of Giant Interactive Group Inc. (the shares of which were withdrawn from listing on the New York Stock
Exchange in July 2014) from October 2006 to July 2014. Mr. Yan has over 30 years of rich and excellence working experience in risk
management. He is currently the Founding Managing Partner of SAIF Partners. Prior to joining SAIF, he was the managing director
and head of the Hong Kong office of the Emerging Markets Partnership (AIG Asian Infrastructure Fund's Principal Adviser) from 1994
until 2001. From 1989 to 1994, he worked in the World Bank in Washington, the Hudson Institute (a famous institute in America) and
Sprint International Corporation as an economist, research fellow and director of strategic planning and business development for
Asia Pacific Region respectively in Washington D. C. From 1982 to 1984, he was the chief engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.
Mr. Yan received a Bachelor's degree in Engineering from Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He studied in the Master Program in
Department of Sociology of Peking University from 1984 to 1986 and received a Master of Arts’ degree from Princeton University in
International Political Economy in 1989. Mr. Yan also studied advanced finance & accounting courses at the Wharton Business School
in 1995.

CPMC Holdings Limited



Directors and Senior Management Profile

-
g
. j?{‘.
E

ZHOU Zheng NING Gaoning WANG Jinchang

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WANG Jinchang, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director and the Chairman of the Board on 23 June 2008 and 16 January
2011 respectively and resigned on 23 March 2015. Mr. Wang was primarily responsible for the overall management, major decision-
making, strategic planning and business development of the Group. He joined COFCO in 1990 and has served as the deputy director
and director of the general manager's office, general manager of the corporate management department of COFCO, as well as the
chairman and general manager of COFCO Development Company Limited. He joined the Group in December 2000 and he has over
ten years of experience in the packaging industry. Mr. Wang has served as an assistant to the chairman of COFCO since 2007 and
has been in charge of the packaging business. Mr. Wang graduated from the Hebei University in 1978, with a major in Mathematics.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

NING Gaoning, aged 57, was appointed as non-executive Director on 23 June 2008 and resigned on 25 February 2016. Mr. Ning
took a supervisory role on the strategic and budget planning of the Group. Mr. Ning joined the COFCO Group in December 2004.
He has over 20 years of experience in corporate management, investment and corporate finance, business restructurings and
governmental relations. Mr. Ning was (a) a non-executive director of China Agri, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from
January 2007 to February 2016; (b) appointed as a director of China Foods Limited (“China Foods”), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange, in January 2005, reappointed as the non-executive director of China Foods in November 2013 and resigned in February
2016; (c) appointed as a non-executive director of China Mengniu Dairy Company Limited (“Mengniu Dairy”), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange in April 2009, appointed as the chairman of the board of directors of Mengniu Dairy in June 2011 and resigned in
February 2016; (d) an independent director of Hua Yuan Property Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, from
October 2008 to 24 November 2014; (e) a director of BOC International Holdings Limited from December 2003 to 27 October 2014; (f)
an independent non-executive director of BOC Hong Kong (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange, from August
2012 to 30 October 2014. He received a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Shandong University in 1983, and a master's degree in
Business Administration from the University of Pittsburgh in 1985.

ZHOU Zheng, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 23 June 2008 and resigned on 25 February
2016. Mr. Zhou was primarily responsible for providing constant advice and guidance at the strategic level over the operations of the
Group. Mr. Zhou joined the Group in November 1994. He has over 15 years of experience in the packaging industry. He is currently
a vice president of COFCO. He has held the positions of the chairman of the board of COFCO Property (Group) Co., Ltd., a member
of the COFCO which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since January 2011. He has been the chairman of the board of Joy
City Property Limited (formally known as “COFCO Land Holdings Limited”), which is a listed company in the Stock Exchange, since
December 2013. Mr. Zhou received a bachelor's degree in Aeronautical Machinery Processing from Nanchang Institute of Aeronautical
Technology (now known as Nanchang Hangkong University) in 1983 and a master's degree in Aeronautical and Aerospace
Manufacturing Engineering from Beijing University of Aeronautics & Astronautics in 1992. In 2007, Mr. Zhou was awarded the
Governmental Special Allowance by the State Council of the PRC for his outstanding contributions to the development of packaging
industry in the PRC. He is a senior engineer.
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Report of the Directors

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal activities of the subsidiaries of the
Company are manufacturing of packaging products for consumer goods. There was no significant change
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year ended 31 December 2015. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 10 to 17 of this annual report.

There are certain risks and uncertainties that the Group faces during its operation. Among which, there are
certain risks that the Group cannot control. Such risks and uncertainties including factors such as economy
conditions of both inside and outside China, credit policy and foreign exchange and interest policies, and
changes related to laws and regulations and enforcement policies. There may be other risk and uncertainties
which are not known or not material to the Group but turn out to be material in the future. Further discussion
and analysis as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
including a fair review of the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group
and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in the “Chairman’s Letter”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Notes to Financial Statements” sections of this annual report. The
above sections form part of this report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2015 and the Group’s financial position as of that date are
set out in the financial statements on pages 127 to 221. The Directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of RMB0.020 (equivalent to HK2.4 cents) per ordinary Share for the year ended 31 December 2015
(2014: RMBO0.025, equivalent to HK3.1 cents). The dividend will be reflected as appropriations of retained
earnings for the year ended 31 December 2015. An interim dividend of RMBO0.04 (equivalent to HK4.8 cents)
per ordinary share was paid on 15 October 2015 (2014: RMB0.045, equivalent to HK5.6 cents).

The proposed final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2015 will be distributed on or after Monday, 11
July 2016 to shareholders whose names appear on the shareholders’ register of the Company on Friday, 17
June 2016 (the “Record Date”).

Pursuant to “Notice Regarding Matters on Determination of Tax Residence Status of Chinese-controlled Offshore
Incorporated Enterprises under Rules of Effective Management” (B E N R B 1AL (b ERIZ B R B IR IR
ZHREMTEAERCEBRMEERNBL)) (the “Notice”), which was issued by the State Administration of Taxation
(the “SAT”) of the PRC on 22 April 2009 and implemented on 1 January 2008, enterprises controlled by Chinese
enterprises or enterprises groups and registered outside China shall be regarded as resident enterprises with
de facto management bodies located in China, or “offshore-registered resident enterprises” (3EERFFMER®
%), if all of the following criteria are present or effected in the PRC: (1) senior management in charge of daily
operations and offices; (2) decision-making or authorised departments regarding financial management and
human resources; (3) primary assets, accounting books, seals, records and files of shareholders’ meetings or
board of directors’ meetings; and (4) directors or senior management with 50% or more voting rights ordinarily
reside in China. Whether or not a Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise is an offshore-registered resident
enterprise is subject to preliminary review by the local tax bureau where the de facto management body of
Chinese-controlled offshore enterprise or its controller is based and is subject to final confirmation by SAT.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 9 June 2013, the Company had received the SAT
approvals which confirmed that the Company is regarded as a Chinese Resident Enterprise, effective from 1
January 2013. Therefore, the Company will implement enterprise income tax withholding arrangement for the
proposed year 2015 final dividend.

Pursuant to the Notice, the Enterprise Income Tax Law and the Implementation Rules of the laws of PRC, the
Company is required to withhold 10% enterprise income tax when it distributes the proposed year 2015 final
dividend to its non-resident enterprise shareholders. In respect of all shareholders whose names appear on
the Company’s register of members on the Record Date who are not individuals (including HKSCC Nominees
Limited, corporate nominees or trustees such as securities companies and banks, and other entities or
organisations, which are all considered as non-resident enterprise shareholders), the Company will distribute
the proposed year 2015 final dividend after deducting enterprise income tax of 10%. The Company will not
withhold and pay the income tax in respect of the proposed year 2015 final dividend payable to any natural
person shareholders whose names appear on the Company’s register of members on the Record Date.
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Report of the Directors

If any resident enterprise (as defined in the PRC’s Enterprise Income Tax Law) listed on the Company'’s register
of members which is duly incorporated in the PRC or under the laws of a foreign country (or a region) but with a
PRC-based de facto management body, does not desire to have the Company withhold the said 10% enterprise
income tax, it should lodge with the Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
documents from its governing tax authority confirming that the Company is not required to withhold and pay
enterprise income tax in respect of the dividend that it is entitled at or before 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 14 June
2016.

Investors should read the above carefully. If anyone would like to change the identity of the holders in the
Company’s register of members, please enquire about the relevant procedures with the nominees or trustees.
The Company will withhold for payment of the enterprise income tax for its non-resident enterprise shareholders
strictly in accordance with the relevant laws and requirements of the relevant government departments and
adhere strictly to the information set out in the Company’s register of members on the Record Date. The
Company assumes no liability whatsoever and will not entertain any claims arising from any delay in, or
inaccurate confirmation of, the status of the shareholders or any disputes over the mechanism of withholding.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial statements and restated/reclassified as
appropriate, is set out on page 222. This summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the Year are
set out in Note 13 to the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in
Note 26 to the financial statements.

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was conditionally approved by a written resolution of
the shareholder of the Company passed on 23 October 2009. The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16 November 2009. The terms of the Share Option Scheme
are in compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, where appropriate.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate senior management personnel and
key employees of the Group. The Board may, at its discretion and on such terms as it may think fit, grant to any
Directors (executive or non-executive), supervisors, senior executives, key technical staff, managers, employees
of the Group an option to subscribe for the shares of the Company (the “Shares”) under the Share Option
Scheme.
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Report of the Directors

An offer for grant of options under the Share Option Scheme must be accepted within 28 days on which such
offer was made. The amount payable by each grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the offer
for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall be a price at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at
the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
or (iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the date of Offer. No Shares was available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2015.

The Company shall be entitled to issue options, provided that the total number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company does not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue on the date when
the Shares were first listed on the Stock Exchange. Where any grant of options to be made to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of his associates would result in the Shares in issue and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) to such person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant: (i) representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the Shares in issue; and (ii) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price
of the Shares at the date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, then such grant of options shall be subject to
approval of the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) in general meeting taken on a poll.

Details of the movements in the share options during the year ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

Number of share options

Name or Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed Date of grant Exercise period Exercise
category of At during during during during At of share of share options price of
participants 01.01.2015  the Year  the Year  the Year  the Year 31.12.2015 options (Note) share options
Current Directors

Mr. Zhang Xin 300,000 - - - (100,000) 200,000 12.10.2011  12.10.2016- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Mr. Hu Yonglei 180,000 - - - (60,000) 120,000 12.10.2011  12.10.2016- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Former Director

Mr. Wang Jinchang® 360,000 - - - (120,000) 240,000 12.10.2011  12.10.2016- 11.10.2018 HK$3.04
Other employees

In aggregate 3,840,000 - - - (1,280,000) 2,560,000 12.10.2011  12.10.2016 - 11.10.2018 HK$3.04

4,680,000

(1,560,000 3,120,000

*

Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned as an executive Director with effect from 23 March 2015.

Note: Please refer to Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements for the exercise period of each tranche of share
options.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not adopted any other share option scheme during the year ended
31 December 2015.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2015, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
provisions of sections 291, 297 and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to approximately
RMB98,729,000 (2014: approximately RMB34,611,000), of which approximately RMB19,951,000 (2014:
approximately RMB24,939,000) has been proposed as a final dividend for the Year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, aggregate sales to the Group’s largest and five largest customers
accounted for approximately 12.3% and 34.9%, respectively, of the Group’s total sales. The Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers of the Group, in aggregate, accounted for approximately 22.1% and 41.1%, respectively,
of the Group’s total purchases for the Year.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers or five largest suppliers during the year ended 31 December 2015.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. WANG Jinchang (resigned on 23 March 2015)
Mr. ZHANG Xin (Chairman and Managing Director)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. NING Gaoning (resigned on 25 February 2016)
Mr. WAN Zaotian

Mr. ZHOU Zheng (resigned on 25 February 2016)
Mr. HU Yonglei

Mr. ZHOU Yuan (appointed on 25 February 2016)
Mr. SHEN Tao (appointed on 25 February 2016)

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. CHENG Yuk Wo

Mr. FU Tingmei

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned as an executive Director on 23 March 2015 as he has reached the retirement age.

Mr. Ning Gaoning resigned as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016 due to his appointment to a
key position in another state-owned enterprise under the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council of the PRC.

Mr. Zhou Zheng resigned as a non-executive Director on 25 February 2016 to pursue other business
commitments.

The Company has not received any notice in writing from any directors resigned during the Year and up to the
date of this report, specifying that the resignation is due to reasons relating to the affairs of the Company. Each
of the resigned directors has confirmed to the Company that he has no disagreement with the Board and there
is no matter relating to his resignation that needs to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders.

In accordance with Article 103 of the Articles, Messrs. Zhang Xin, Wan Zaotian and Fu Tingmei will retire and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the 2016 AGM.

Commencing on 23 October 2009, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years. On 26 July 2013, Mr. Wan Zaotian signed a service contract with
the Company pursuant to which he was appointed for a term of three years as a non-executive Director. On
17 March 2014, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan signed a letter of appointment with the Company pursuant to which he was
appointed for a term of three years as an independent non-executive Director. On 25 February 2016, Mr. Zhou
Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao signed service contracts with the Company pursuant to which they were appointed for
a term of three years as non-executive Directors. Save as aforesaid, each of the non-executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors has signed a letter of appointment with the Company under which he
agreed to act as non-executive Director or independent non-executive Director for an initial term of three years
from 23 October 2009.
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Report of the Directors

Each of these service agreements and letters of appointment will continue thereafter unless and until terminated
by either party by serving not less than three months’ prior written notice or three months salary in lieu of such
notice.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which cannot be terminated by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least every three years as required by the Company’s Articles.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all the independent
non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The names of directors who have served on the boards of directors of the Group’s subsidiaries during the Year
and up to the date of this report were:

Yu Xubo*

Ma Jianping
Wang Hao*
Yao Hongying*
Wang Jinchang
Zhang Xin
Zhang Ye

Shi Yu

Lv Qing

Feng Ping
Yang Mu*
Cheng Bincai
Zhao Wei

Gu Xiao Lei
Huang Jin
Yang Xiaoyan
Wang Jiliang
Jozef. Salaerts
Goh Hock Huat
Ling Tianyi*
Huang Weibo

* He/She has resigned as a director of the relevant subsidiary(ies) of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group are set out on pages 45 to 47 of
this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to the Group to which the holding company of the
Company, the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

CPMC Holdings Limited
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to the shareholders’ approval at the general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the Remuneration Committee pursuant to the Articles with reference to market conditions,
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

Details of the remuneration for Directors of the Company are set out in Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2015, save as disclosed below, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company
had any interest in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which any Director or chief
executive of the Company was deemed or taken to be under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register kept by the Company or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Interests in underlying shares of the Company

Approximate
Number of underlying percentage of

shares held in long position interests

Name of Director Capacity (Note 1) (Note 2)

Mr. Zhang Xin Beneficial owner 200,000 0.02%

Mr. Hu Yonglei Beneficial owner 120,000 0.01%

Interests in underlying shares of associated corporation

Number of

underlying shares Approximate

Name of associated held in long position percentage of

Name of Director corporations Capacity (Note 1) interests

Mr. Ning Gaoning ~ China Foods Limited  Beneficial owner 740,000 0.03% (Note 3)

Mr. Ning Gaoning  China Agri-Industries  Beneficial owner 636,000 0.01% (Note 4)

Holdings Limited

Notes:

(1) Long position in the underlying shares of the relevant company under share options granted pursuant to the share
option scheme of the relevant company.

(2) The percentages are calculated based on the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at 31 December 2015,
i.e., 997,560,000 shares.

(8) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Foods Limited in issue as at 31 December
2015, i.e. 2,797,223,396 shares.

(4) The percentage is calculated based on the total number of shares of China Agri-Industries Holdings Limited in issue as
at 31 December 2015, i.e. 5,249,880,788 shares.
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Report of the Directors
MANAGEMENT SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
R‘NSACLLYEFS'ONAND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
EREBRMRIAN
As at 31 December 2015, so far as was known to the Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) had an interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as
recorded in the register required kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:
Approximate
percentage
of aggregate
CORPORATE interests
gg;/ggTNANCE Capacity and nature Number of in issued
pEEARE Substantial shareholders Notes of interest shares held share capital*
Wide Smart Holdings Limited (1) & (2) Registered owner 269,341,200 27.00%
(“Wide Smart”)
COFCO (BVI) No. 108 Limited (1 &(3) Beneficial owner 330,658,800 33.15%
(“BVI 108”)
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (1) & (2) Beneficial owner 269,341,200 27.00%
ENVIRONMENTAL (“COFCO (HK)”) (1) & (3) Interest of controlled 330,658,800 33.15%
SOCIAL AND corporations
e (5) Interests required to 269,341,200 27.00%
BEHER be disclosed under
EREE s.317(1)(a) and
s.318 of the SFO
COFCO Corporation (“COFCQO”) (1) & (4) Interest of controlled 600,000,000 60.15%
corporations
(5) Interests required to 269,341,200 27.00%
be disclosed under
g‘gﬁggm AND s.317(1)(a) and
MANAGEMENT 5.318 of the SFO
PROFILE
§§ig§%ﬂ ORG (1) & (5) Beneficial owner 269,341,200 27.00%
(1) & (5) Interests required to 330,658,800 33.15%
be disclosed under
s.317(1)(a) and
s.318 of the SFO
Shanghai Yuanlong Investment (1) & (5) Interest of a controlled 269,341,200 27.00%
REPORT OF THE Company Limited corporation
DIRECTORS (L BREHREBRAFR) (1) & (5)  Interests required to 330,658,800 33.15%
ERARE (“Shanghai Yuanlong”) be disclosed under
s.317(1)(a) and
5.318 of the SFO
Mr. Zhou Yunijie (1) & (5) Interest of a controlled 269,341,200 27.00%
corporation
(1) & (5) Interests required to 330,658,800 33.15%

56

be disclosed under
s.317(1)(a) and
s.318 of the SFO
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Report of the Directors

Notes:
(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company.

(2) Wide Smart is a wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). Wide Smart held 269,341,200 Shares on trust for COFCO
(HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore the beneficial owner of the 269,341,200 Shares held by Wide Smart.

(3) BVI 108 is wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO (HK). COFCO (HK) is therefore deemed to be interested in the
330,658,800 Shares held by BVI 108.

(4) COFCO (HK), BVI 108 and Wide Smart are wholly-owned subsidiaries of COFCO. COFCO is therefore deemed to be
interested in the 600,000,000 Shares in aggregate held by COFCO (HK), BVI 108 and Wide Smart.

(5) On 8 November 2015, COFCO (HK) and ORG entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Sale & Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which COFCO (HK) has conditionally agreed to sell and ORG has conditionally agreed to
purchase in the maximum of 269,341,200 Shares. The Sale & Purchase Agreement is an agreement to which s.317(1)
(a) of the SFO applies as it contains a lock-up obligation on the part of ORG. ORG is owned as to approximately
48.29% by Shanghai Yuanlong and approximately 0.74% by 1t —+— 2R EEHR/AF which in turn are owned as to
approximately 78.00% and 0.74% respectively by Mr. Zhou Yunjie. Therefore, Mr. Zhou Yunjie, Shanghai Yuanlong and
are deemed to be interested in all the Shares ORG is interested in under the SFO.

* The percentages are calculated based on the total number of Shares in issue as at 31 December 2015, i.e., 997,560,000
Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Company had not been notified of any other persons
other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company who had an interest or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares, which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of the Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float since the listing of the Shares on the Stock Exchange on 16
November 2009.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The companies now comprising the Group had entered into a number of transactions with parties which
were connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. These transactions are considered to be
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules, which need to be disclosed herein in compliance
with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing connected transactions
are as follows:

1. On 18 September 2013, the Company and COFCO Finance Company Limited (“COFCO Finance”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of COFCO, entered into a financial services agreement (“2013 Financial
Services Agreement”) in respect of the renewal of a financial services agreement entered into between
the Company and COFCO Finance on 21 September 2010 (“2010 Financial Services Agreement”). Details
of the 2013 Financial Services Agreement and 2010 Financial Services Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 18 September 2013 and 21 September 2010 respectively.
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Report of the Directors

Pursuant to the 2013 Financial Services Agreement, COFCO Finance has agreed to provide to the Group

MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND the following financial services for a term of three years commencing on 30 October 2013, the date on
f\[\‘égi\s‘& . which the approval of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting:
EEBRULOY
(a) Deposit services
The maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests) placed by the Group with COFCO
Finance shall not exceed equivalent of RMB900 million. The deposit services and the above annual
cap were subject to the reporting, announcement, annual review and independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
CORPORATE ) . . .
GOVERNANGE (b) Entrustment loan services and other financial services
REPORT

EREARE COFCO Finance has agreed to provide (i) the entrustment loan services to the Group pursuant to
which COFCO Finance only acts as agent of the Group and charge handling fees and other services
fees in connection with the entrustment loan services; and (ii) other financial services, including
settlement services, forex trading services and other related consultancy and agency services to be
provided by COFCO Finance to the Group under the 2013 Financial Services Agreement. COFCO
Finance will charge handling fees in connection with the entrustment loan services and the other
financial services for a maximum annual cap not exceeding RMB4 million. The above entrustment loan

ROMENTAL services and the other financial services were only subject to the reporting, announcement and annual

SOCIAL AND review requirements but are exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
gggg;pANCE Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

REHER . . . . . .

EialE For the year ended 31 December 2015, the maximum daily deposit amount (including accrued interests)

amounted to RMB693,983,000 and there was no transaction of the entrustment loan services and the
other financial services between the Company and COFCO Finance under the 2013 Financial Services
Agreement.

2. On 14 November 2014, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2014 Framework
Agreement”) with COFCO in respect of the renewal of a framework agreement entered into between the

g‘EF;\EBEORSAND Company and COFCO on 8 November 2011. Pursuant to the 2014 Framework Agreement, the Group
MANAGEMENT will supply a provision of various types and sizes of packaging materials, products and related services
;f‘;_;'ﬁ%& (“Products and Related Services”) to COFCO and its subsidiaries and associates other than the Group
EEABHN ("COFCO Group”) with reference to the prevailing market prices of same or similar products and services

of the same period for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 2015. The 2014 Framework
Agreement may be renewed by agreement between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary
consents and approvals (if necessary) required by the Listing Rules. Details of the 2014 Framework
Agreement were disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 November 2014. The approval
of the independent Shareholders was obtained at the extraordinary general meeting held on 19 December

2014.
REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS
EZeRst The approved maximum aggregate annual value of the Products and Related Services supplied to COFCO

Group in 2015, 2016 and 2017 are expected not to exceed RMB250,000,000, RMB380,000,000 and
RMB510,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate value of the Products and Related Services to be
supplied to COFCO Group under the 2014 Framework Agreement was approximately RMB154,398,000.
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3. On 31 December 2014, the Company entered into a framework agreement (the “2014 IT Services
Framework Agreement”) with COFCO, pursuant to which COFCO together with its subsidiaries and
associates other than the Group (“COFCO Group”) agrees to procure IT software and IT facilities for the
Group, supply IT services and market consulting services, and leasing to the Group at the respective
annual caps for a period commencing on 1 January 2015 and ending on 31 December 2017 (the
“Supply of Products and Services”). The 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement may be renewed by
agreement between the parties subject to obtaining the necessary consents and approvals (if necessary)
required by the Listing Rules. Details of the 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 31 December 2014.

Pursuant to the 2014 IT Services Framework Agreement, the respective annual caps in respect of the
Supply of Products and Services by COFCO Group to the Group from 2015 to 2017 in relation to (i) the
purchase of IT software and IT facilities is RMB575,000, RMB625,000 and RMB800,000 respectively; (ii) the
supply of IT services and market consulting services is RMB2,000,000, RMB2,500,000 and RMB3,000,000
respectively; and (iii) leasing is RMB3,300,000, RMB3,700,000 and RMB4,000,000 respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the aggregate value in relation to (i) the purchase of IT software
and IT facilities; (i) the supply of IT services and market consulting services; and (iii) leasing under 2014 IT
Services Framework Agreement were RMB 108,000, RMB894,000 and RMB2,819,000 respectively.

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing connected transactions
numbered 1 and 3 for the year ended 31 December 2015 and confirmed that the above continuing connected
transactions were:

1. entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,

2. entered into on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favorable than those available to or from
independent third parties, and

3. in accordance with the terms of respective agreements governing the above continuing connected
transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a
whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice
Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 35 to the audited financial statements also constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules which
are required to be disclosed in this report in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The related
party transactions in relation to the key management personnel remuneration as disclosed in Note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report include connected transactions exempt from reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.73(6) of the
Listing Rules. Save as the aforesaid and the continuing connected transactions disclosed above, the Directors
consider that all other related party transactions disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report did not fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing connected
transactions” (as the case may be) under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with
any of the reporting, annual review, announcement, or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed it has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules throughout the Year.
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Report of the Directors

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING BUSINESS

Interest of the Directors in a competing business required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing
Rules is as follows:

Name of Director Name of company Nature of competing business Nature of interest Appointment date
Mr. Zhou Yuan ORG (Note) Manufacture of packaging products As a vice chairman November 2010
As a director October 2010
Mr. Shen Tao ORG (Note) Manufacture of packaging products As a general manager ~ February 2014
As a director October 2010
Note:

ORG is a listed company on Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 002701) and a substantial shareholder of the Company,
holding approximately 27% of the issued share capital of the Company. ORG is principally engaged in the comprehensive
packaging services including packaging design, packaging production, filling and brand design and promotion. For further
details of ORG in respect of its business and financial position, please refer to its annual report dated 29 March 2016, which
is available at http://www.orgpackaging.com/cn/upload/investor/1367782080.PDF.

Although Mr. Zhou Yuan is the vice chairman and a director of ORG, and Mr. Shen Tao is the general manager and a director
of ORG, both of them have confirmed that they are mindful of their duty to avoid conflict of interest. In cases where conflict of
interest situation arises, Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao will refrain from taking part in the decision making process and will
abstain from voting on the relevant resolution in board meeting. On this basis and given that ORG has its own management
personnel other than Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao, the Directors believe that the Company is capable of carrying out its
business independently of, and at arm’s length from ORG.

Same as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, no Directors are considered to have interests in any
business which is likely to compete directly or indirectly with that of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2015.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has arranged Directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance for all Directors and senior management of the Company. The insurance covers the corresponding
costs, charges, expenses and liabilities for legal action of corporate activities against them. Pursuant to Article
171 of the Articles, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all liabilities (to the extent permitted by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) sustained or
incurred by such Director or officer in or about the execution of his office or otherwise in relation thereto.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business
of the Group was entered into or existed during the Year.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations accordingly shall comply with relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not breach
any law and regulation that has a significant impact on the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is devoted to promoting and maintaining the environmental and social sustainable development
of the regions where it operates. As a responsible enterprise, the Group is in compliance with all the
relevant laws and regulations in terms of the environmentally friendliness, health and safety, adopts effective
measures, conserves energy and reduces waste. Further discussion on the Group’s environmental policies
and performance and an account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees, are set out in the
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report. The said section forms part of this report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognize that customers and business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of
the Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship with its business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers.

The Group stays connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing communication with the
customers and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings
to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2015.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of the significant event of the Group after the reporting period is set out in note 39 to the financial
statements.

On 21 March 2016, the Company and ORG entered into a framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”)
in respect of supply of printed tinplates, printed aluminium and caps and related can production services of
such packaging materials by the Group to ORG and its subsidiaries (collectively, “ORG Group”) and supply of
tinplates, laminated steel and aluminium and related can production services of such packaging materials by
ORG Group for the period from 21 March 2016 to 31 December 2017. Since ORG is a substantial shareholder of
the Company, ORG is therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, entering into the Framework
Agreement constitutes continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Framework Agreement has not yet been completed. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 21 March 2016 for further details.
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Report of the Directors

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Particulars of the
retirement scheme are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
The 2016 AGM will be held on Friday, 3 June 2016.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining Shareholders’ eligibility to attend and vote at the 2016 AGM

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 31 May 2016
Closure of Register of members 1 June to 3 June 2016

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 3 June 2016

For determining Shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend

Latest time to lodge transfer documents for registration 4:30 p.m. on 14 June 2016
Closure of Register of members 15 June to 17 June 2016

(both dates inclusive)
Record date 17 June 2016

In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend and attend the 2016 AGM, shareholders should contact the
Company’s Registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong on the matters such as transfer of shares,
change of name or address, or loss of share certificates.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young will retire and a resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed
at the 2016 AGM.

Zhang Xin
Chairman
Hong Kong, 22 March 2016

CPMC Holdings Limited
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Independent Auditors’ Report

EY zx

To the members of CPMC Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
set out on pages 127 to 221, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

B 2B AR
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Independent Auditors’ Report
B ®RE

Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of their
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong
22 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
Year ended 31 December 2015 o = 32
HE2015F12831H ILFE %é*ﬁﬁ %

2015 2014 INDEPENDENT
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000 i
Kzt AR¥T T AREFIT BURSMRE
REVENUE WA ] 5,103,718 5,295,417
Cost of sales SHER A 6 (4,197,823) (4,350,276)
Gross profit EH 905,895 945,141
Other income and gains — net HEmA RS — 558 5 70,995 75,980
Selling and marketing expenses 45 &4 4% (255,852) (238,196) CONSOLIDATED
Administrative expenses THER (276,095) (286,113) STATEMENT
Other expenses HAthsz (7,000) _ OF PRUF[I'O(;I;
Finance costs VEER 7 (53,215) (40,482) BABRR
PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX BR P8 8 AT A 6 384,728 456,330
Income tax expense FTiSHifx 10 (99,795) (109,480)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFE 284,933 346,850
Attributable to: FEA
Equity holders of the Company VNN =Y =N 282,898 345,855
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR AE RS 2,035 995 CS?QTSSI\;:E[I)\IATTEE
COMPREHENSIVE
284,933 346,850 INCOME
EARNINGS PER SHARE PN RREEMAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO L@ AR A
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS  #&H AFEH
OF THE COMPANY BREF 12
Basic (RMB) EXR (AR 0.28 0.35
Diluted (RMB) g (ARBT) 0.28 0.35
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
SEMBHAE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BARNEDE
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— 4 }, é Year ended 31 December 2015
17172 N = | HE2015F12831H ILFE
INDEPENDENT 2015 2014
s RMB’000 RMB'000
BUbBRE ARBTF T AREBFIT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FEFIE 284,933 346,850
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hip2 | (&8)
(LOSS)/INCOME PN
Other comprehensive (loss)/income REZIBRER
to be reclassified to profit or loss NEEEZ
in subsequent periods: Hthzm (5E) kA
CONSOLIDATED Exchange differences on translation BEBINRTRZ
SLAFT)FE{L\]/IFE#TO : of foreign operations [E N =% (143,367) 293
LOSS OTHER COMPREHENSIVE FEHMEE
FARER (LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR, (B518]), WA
NET OF TAX (BHRBRBE) (143,367) 293
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FEZMA
FOR THE YEAR A4 %8 141,566 347,143
Attributable to: FE1G -
Equity holders of the Company RABRAFE A 139,531 346,148
CONSOLIDATED Non-controlling interests FEPE AR S 2,035 995
STATEMENT OF 141,566 347,143

COMPREHENSIVE

INCOME
FEERARAR

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
SAFTHMRRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BARNRDE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e AR R &

As at 31 December 2015
2015612 A318

2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfat AR¥T T AREBTFT
(Restated)
(g&E5)
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE K&K 13 3,846,023 3,593,547
Prepaid land lease payments JEN A E K 14 258,340 279,447
Deposits for purchase of items of  BEBEWE  MEX
property, plant and equipment FBIEE MRS 39,530 75,845
Prepayments TEf 3R 19 14,825 24,382
Goodwill RS 15 207,951 201,187
Other intangible assets Hivmp & E 16 37,518 39,928
Deferred tax assets FEEFRTAE B 25 20,480 11,389
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 4,424,667 4,225 725
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 17 690,556 740,162
Trade and bills receivables B S EUGR R EREE 18 1,364,107 1,158,522
Prepayments, deposits and TERS  Zek
other receivables E b R 19 324,042 465,664
Pledged deposits [REE Ve 20 44,418 23,254
Cash and cash equivalents B RBSEEY 20 995,928 1,004,706
Total current assets BB EE 3,419,051 3,392,308
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAEE
Trade and bills payables B IRNARENEE 21 597,291 507,534
Other payables and accruals Hith e R K fEETIE 22 274,986 387,761
Tax payable eI 18,494 19,978
Total current liabilities wREERE 890,771 915,273
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFHE 2,528,280 2,477,035
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BREERADEME
CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,952,947 6,702,760
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
—\Ag N As at 31 December 2015
mE BRI = #2015412 4318
INDEPENDENT 2015 2014
e Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bunags Kzt AR¥T T ARETTT
(Restated)
(FeE3))
TOTAL ASSETS LESS HEERRBERS
CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,952,947 6,702,760
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBARB
Interest-bearing bank borrowings &t B RTTEK 24 2,597,440 2,447,600
CONSOLIDATED Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEEE 25 15,027 8,876
STATEMENT Government grants AT 4 16,537 8,693
F PROFIT OR
EOSSO ’ Total non-current liabilities BIERBBE 2,629,004 2,465,169
RABER Net assets SBEE 4,323,943 4,237,591
EQUITY S
Equity attributable to equity AABRAEFE AELERS
holders of the Company
Share capital %N 26 2,336,168 2,336,168
Reserves 15 28 1,876,111 1,800,972
CONSOLIDATED 4,212,279 4,137,140
STATEMENT OF Non-controlling interests R R 111,664 100,451
COMPREHENSIVE R oz
INCOME Total equity B 4,323,943 4,237,591
BARERAE
CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
A N
REUBHRS ZHANG XIN CHENG YUK WO
R ERER A
Director Director
BEF BEFE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN
EQUITY
BARNERE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in E quity
Year ended 31 December 2015 A
HZE2015F12A31B L FE ﬁ
Attrioutable to equity holders of the Company INDEPENDENT
ARFARBIENEL AUDITORS'
REPORT
Share Exchange Non- BB
Share option Capital Statutory  fluctuation ~ Retained controling Total
capital reserve reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
Br  ERERE  EREE  AEEE ELRBRE  2HNE aif  FERER )
Notes RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMBI000 RMB000 RMBI000
E ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
Asat 1 January 2014 R014E1A1R 86,715 2611 24%,116 210,403 1075517 3870,362 9945 3969818
Proft for the year ERAH - - - - - 3585 U85 0 34685
Other comprehensive income FELNRE
for the year WA
Exchange differences on BEBNERE CONSOLIDATED
franslaton of foreign EHER STATEMENT
operafions = = = = 293 = 2 - 2% OF PROFIT OR
— LOSS
Total comprehensive income FEZARA RABRER
for the year a5 = = - - 293 345,85 346,148 9% 347,143
2013 final dvidend declared BERN1ERSRE - - - - - (34915)  (34915) = (34915)
Transifon to no-par value regine.~ BEEEEEHE 2% 2249453 - (2249459 - - _ _ - _
Eouity-settled share option EREERRELSE
arangements 27 - 43 - - - - 43 = 435
Transler of share optionreserve. R RIERER
upon the forfeiture of TR
share options - (1.673) - - - 1573 - - -
2014 nterim dividend 014 ERE 1 = = = = S (M80)  (w480) - (M) CS(%QTS%&ATTE[F)
Appropriation to the stafutory PREEERE COMPREHENSIVE
1eserves 2 - 33464 - (33.464) INCOME
As at 31 December 2014 2014124318 2,336,168 1473 245,663 243867 293 1300676F 4,187,140 100451 4237591 BAZENAR
#  Retained profits have been adjusted for the proposed 2014 final * BIEFEE BAER2014F KR ERIE
dividend in accordance with the current year’s presentation, which KEGREIH 2 5l 77 20 3H B - BRI %R
is described in Note 2.4 of the financial statements. ZHiit2.4 -
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARARKRE AL
CONSOLIDATED
Share Exchange Non- STATEMENT
Share option Capital  Statutory fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total OF FINANCIAL
capital reserve  reserves reserve reserve profits Total interests equity POSITION
BRERE  A%RE  LTRR ENRBEG MR ait ERER s s AR
Notes RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
Wi AR%Tn  ARETn ARETn ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARETR ARETR  ARMTR
Asat 1 January 2015 HR2015E1A1R 2,336,168 1473 245,663 243,867 203 1309676" 4137140 100451 4,237591
Proft for the year FERE - - - - - 282898 282,898 2035 284933
Other comprehensive loss FEEMREERAE
for the year
Exchange diferences on trensleion S5 EHE 2B 24
of foreign operations - - - - (143367) - (143367) - (143367)
Total comprehensive income FERARA CS%SSMLL[LATT 52
forthe year % - - - - (143,367) 262,898 139,531 2,035 141,566 CHANGES IN
Acauiston of subsidris HiEhEL Kl - - - - - - -l 9 i
N4l dvenddeclied  EEROUERERE 11 - - - - -9 (49 ) FERERBR
Equity-seted share option ERLEE
anangements Mgz I - 449 - - - - 49 - 449
2015 interim dividend N15EPHRE 1 - - - - - (39902)  (39902) - (39,902)
Appropriaion fo the statutory  HEZEE
feserves Ei 28 - - - 67774 - (67774) - - -
Asat 31 December 2015 R155 128318 MG 102 25E6F  SMGAT (B0 1450050 4212079 MGG 4323048

*

* BEHBEREBRESHHE
MIEERF BB FEARE
1,876,111,0007T (2014%F : A &
#1,800,972,0005T) °

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
RMB1,876,111,000 (2014: RMB1,800,972,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SERERER oo

Consolidated 2015 2014
T Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BARSRER llopsa AR¥T T AR¥ETT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETEEEZ
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HERE
Profit before income tax BRETIS BRI 384,728 456,330
Adjustments for: T
Finance costs % E R 7 53,215 40,482
Interest income BN 5 (19,588) (19,145)
Write-off of intangible assets R & E 6 35 95
NOTES T0 Loss on disposal of items of HEWME - ME&
FINANCIAL property, plant and equipment RBIEE EE 5 17,590 3,337
STATEMENTS ) . . AN
iRk Fair value gain on contingent FERT SRR
consideration payable N ERE 5 (11,747) -
Depreciation e 6 254,116 220,475
Amortisation of prepaid land TEfT TSR
lease payments e 6 6,234 7,183
Amortisation of other intangible Hitnfmf &
assets 5 6 5,092 5,202
Impairment of trade receivables, B oRNGR - RS
prepayments and other receivables H AW ORE 6 802 200
E:xiggﬁ& Impairment of goodwill EERE 6 7,000 -
SUMMARY Provision against inventories FERE 6 1,524 58
BFMHHE Write-back of other payables EAb e RoE K At
and accruals TH B # [ 5 (1,501) (52)
Write-back of trade payables FEHE S A R 5 (3,285) -
Amortisation of government grants A 7 B 2 8 (12,497) (208)
Foreign exchange differences, net VE 5 185 558 5 (6,551) (9,440)
Equity-settled share option R EE
expense AEAE R 6 449 435
675,616 704,952
Decrease in inventories FERL 69,098 126,425
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 5 FEUGR I FEIL
SHRIEM (162,034) (382,932)
Decrease in prepayments, B e REAM
deposits and other receivables e 152,295 10,970
(Increase)/decrease in pledged BIEAERR (38), A
deposits (28,812) 12,834
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B I RN R ENEE
bills payables =,/ Osd) 68,457 (125,669)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables — E b ERF ESHRE L
and accruals and other liabilities Eas CRd), & (81,174) 6,208
Cash generated from operations KEEAZIRG 693,446 352,788
Interest paid BEAIFIE (53,215) (40,482)
Mainland China tax paid BB AR (112,582) (119,840)
Net cash flows from operating activities 48 & EBIELE 2
BemgRan 527,649 192,466
1 32 CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 31 December 2015 SAN ==
HZE2015F 12831 A ILFE maRenER
2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaF AR¥T T AREF T
Net cash flows from operating activities —4& & /EEEE 2
WReFE 527,649 192,466
CASH FLOWS FROM RETBHEELEZ

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BHERE
Interest received BUHIE 5 19,588 19,145
Purchases of items of property, BEYE BER

plant and equipment HEIEE (467,665) (455,489)
Decrease/(increase) in deposits BEYE  BEK

for purchase of items of property, HEEER

plant and equipment ‘e (M) 36,315 (21,239)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BER

property, plant and equipment REIE B FRE I 442 352
Proceeds from disposal of prepaid BETEN T HER

land lease payments Fr{SERIR 24,350 -
Additions to other intangible assets HihmAE = 16 (2,717) (3,587)
Receipt of government grants BB RS 24,650 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries BAKB AR 30 (119,574) -
Net cash flows used in investing KEEETRE 2

activities RenEFRE (484,611) (460,818)
CASH FLOWS FROM RMEEEEEZ

FINANCING ACTIVITIES BERE
New bank loans FTERTTE R - 2,128,168
Other loans from COFCO Finance REFREMEAR

Company Limited AR ([H2E175])

(“COFCO Finance”) 2 EHMER - 64,000
Repayment of bank loans BgIRITER - (1,666,577)
Repayment of other loans from BEFIRI

COFCO Finance HiER - (164,000)
Dividends paid BERERE (64,841) (79,805)
Net cash flows (used in)/from BMEES (TR ELE

financing activities ZREMEFRE (64,841) 281,786
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN HERBLEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Om2),/ & inHaE (21,803) 13,434
Cash and cash equivalents FUReRBLEEY

at beginning of year 1,004,706 987,382
Effect of foreign exchange rate (TR )7 Rk

changes, net 13,025 3,890
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRBERBESEEY

AT END OF YEAR 995,928 1,004,706
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF REeRESEEY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS DT
Cash and bank balances B RIBITHES 20 235,046 131,123
Deposits in COFCO Finance AR 2 73R 20 693,983 343,436
Non-pledged time deposits with AR REEIHA

original maturity of less than three PR=EAZ

months when acquired IR HITE R 20 66,899 530,147
Cash and cash equivalents as stated 42 &BI&IA R &

in the consolidated statement of FEBREMERY

financial position and the Z2Re &

consolidated statement of cash flows BEHEY 995,928 1,004,706
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31 December 2015
20158 12A31H

Notes to Financial Statements

BF 755 R AR B

Corporate and Group Information 1. AEREEESR
CPMC Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited PREBRERERARF ([RAAF])
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong. On 16 E—REABBEMKIHBEREE
November 2009, the Company listed its shares on the Main A Al e ANQ AR 5 20095 11
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the R16RAEARBHMERHFBR AR
“Stock Exchange”). The registered office of the Company ([BE2ZFT)) ERLET o RAFI 25
is located at 33/F, COFCO Tower, 262 Gloucester Road, At AEERBEE TTE
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong. 2625 R I@ KE 3348 -
The Company is an investment holding company. The RRRTI—RREFERAR - AR
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) AIREMBAR (SBIAEE])
are principally engaged in the manufacture of packaging FERPEARKEME ([FE] 5
products including beverage cans, food cans, aerosol [FEAM]) REREBREMR -
cans, metal caps, printed and coated tinplates, steel PEZKNE EniE RERE - 2
barrels, round and square shaped cans and plastic BE - e ME TEREE
packaging in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or B o
“Mainland China”).
As at 31 December 2015, the Company was a subsidiary of R2015F12A31H * KR REES
COFCO (Hong Kong) Limited (“COFCO (Hong Kong)”), a Atz EER (F8) BRA
company incorporated in Hong Kong. In the opinion of the Al(FRE(ES))) B AA -
directors of the Company, the ultimate holding company of KRAREFRE  ARAIK & LT
the Company was COFCO Corporation (“COFCO”), which RARARPEGEMMBEAE B ES
is a state-owned enterprise registered in the PRC. REBARAR ([FiE]) -
Information about subsidiaries M AR E R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as FTEMBRARMNFBLT
follows:
Percentage
of equity
Issued attributable
ordinary/ to the Company
Place of registered Direct  Indirect
registration share capital NG} Principal
Name and business ERTEBERA REBDLL activities
2% MR EE TR A B BiE FEEK
Hangzhou COFCO-MC Packaging ~ PRC/Mainland China US$30,050,000 = 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd. * HE/ HERH 30,050,000 packaging
MNP EEEARERAR SBOREE
Guangzhou Panyu MCP PRC/Mainland China US$30,290,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Industries Ltd. * B/ RERH 30,290,000 7T metal and plastic
BMNEBEEEEBRAAN packaging
SBNEBRELE
Wuxi Huapeng Closures Co., Ltd.**  PRC/Mainland China US$25,000,000 - 61.48  Manufacture of metal
(“Wuxi Huapeng™) HE/ HERH 25,000,000%7T packaging
EHERREEB AR cBORAEE

(TEHER))

CPMC Holdings Limited fig 5=k H R AR
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Corporate and Group Information 1. XAREEESR (&)
(continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as FTEWBAANFEOT - (8)
follows: (continued)
Percentage
of equity
Issued attributable
ordinary/ to the Company
Place of registered Direct  Indirect
registration share capital NG Jiid Principal
Name and business BRTLERE RERDL activities
8 AR &R AR HE Mg FEEK
Hangzhou CPMC Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$64,500,000 = 100 Manufacture of metal
mMFEaEERAR" R/ R EA, 64,500,000 7 packaging
SERREE
Tianjin CPMC Co,, Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$50,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
REFRBEBRALR B/ BRI 50,000,000 packaging
CERREE
CPMC (Chengdu) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$40,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RiEaE (M) BRAA" HE/ RE R 40,000,000% 7 packaging
CEEEEE
CPMC (Zhenijiang) Can End PRC/Mainland China US$10,250,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd. ** FE/ HEAH 10,250,000% 7T packaging
e (BI) HEFRAA cEORLE
Zhangjiagang CPMC Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China RMB17,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of metal
RRABREEEERAR™ HE /B AK#17,000,0007T packaging
EBAREE
CPMC (Wuhan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
RRRak (E) BRAR hE/RERM 30,000,0005%7¢ packaging
CEEEEE
Hangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$39,750,000 - 100 Manufacture of meta
Co., Ltd. * HE /R EH 39,750,000% 7T packaging
MM RREER AR CEORLE
Shanghai Pinguan Plastic Industry PRC/Mainland China US$3,800,000 = 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. ** HE /B 3,800,000 T plastic packaging

HEnBEBIXERAA

ZRRELE
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CONSOLIDATED 1. Corporate and Group Information 1. REAIREEEHR (F)
STATEMENT OF (continued)
CASH FLOWS
BARSHER -
Information about subsidiaries (continued) MEARER (&)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as FEWBATNFEOT  (8)

follows: (continued)

Percentage
of equity
Issued attributable
NOTES TO ordinary/ to the Company
FINANGIAL Place of registered Direct  Indirect
%gggg%'gs registration share capital UNGI)E Principal
Name and business BRTLERAE RERDL activities
5 AR R A i 2 TEfRA HE g FEEER
CPMC (Kunshan) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$24,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
Fige% (BIL) BRAFN FE/ HERH 24,200,000 packaging
CEBEELEE
FIVE-YEAR CPMC (Zhenjiang) Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$17,750,000 = 100 Manufacture of metal
FINANCIAL FREAK (B1) BRAR HE/ HERH 17,750,000% T packaging
SUMMARY N
REHBHE =
Guangzhou CPMC Canmaking PRC/Mainland China US$60,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of metal
Co., Ltd. * B /B 60,000,000 7T packaging
BMPREEER AR CEEREE
Sino-Asia Package (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. ** ( “Tianjin Huanya") RE /R 10,000,000 T plastic packaging
REEE (KE) ARAF BREEEE
(TRERSR])
Sino-Asia Plastic Package PRC/Mainland China US$7,200,000 - 100 Manufacture of
(Zhongshan) Co., Ltd. ** HE /R E R 7,200,000%7T plastic packaging
(“Zhongshan Huanya" ) BREEEE
FIRGBREEERAR
(THRILRE])
Victoria Package (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. *** PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 - 100  Manufacture of
(“Suzhou Weigang™) R/ B R AR plastic packaging
FMEERRARAT 100,000,0007T PRORLE
(TR M)
Weigang Packaging (Tianjin) PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co., Ltd. ** FE /R E 10,000,000% 7T plastic packaging
wEaR (R2) BRAAM PReREE
CPMC (Tianjin) Barrel Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$20,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
KEHELRER A HRE/FRER 20,000,0005% ¢ packaging
cERREE
Nanning CPMC Canmaking Co., Ltd. **PRC/Mainland China US$30,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of metal
BENRHEERAR hE /B 30,000,000%7C packaging
tERRLE
1 36 CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)




Corporate and Group Information 1.

(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\j—i%i&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

RAREEER (F)

MELRER (&)
TEMBARMFENOT : (B)

Percentage
of equity
Issued attributable
ordinary/ to the Company
Place of registered Direct  Indirect
registration share capital PN Principal
Name and business ERTEERE REBDLL activities
8 TR R B AR A Ei# BiE TEEHR
CPMC Investment Co., Ltd. * PRC/Mainland China US$404,090,000 = 100 Investment holding
PEBKREBRAR" /B 404,090,000 RERR
CPMC (Guangzhou) Plastic Package PRC/Mainland China US$10,000,000 - 100 Manufacture of
Co,, Ltd. * hE /R E 10,000,000 7T plastic packaging
hig (BM) ZHEEERAA BRaELEE
FC Packaging (Harbin) Limited ** PRC/Mainland China RMB80,800,000 = 91.3  Manufacture of metal
( "FC Packaging (Harbin)") RE /R R AR packaging
KERE (BRE) BRAR 80,800,000 CEOREE
([XERS (RAE)])
Fujian FC Packaging Limited * PRC/Mainland China US$3,000,000 = 100 Manufacture of metal
(“Fujian FC Packaging" ) FE/ HERNH 3,000,000 7T packaging
BRKERRARA CRERLEE
Umkmﬁ*mn

* Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
** Sino-foreign equity joint ventures
Domestic-funded enterprises

The English names of all the above companies are direct
transliterations of their Chinese registered names.

The statutory financial statements of the above subsidiaries
are not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network.

During the year, the Group acquired FC Packaging
(Harbin) and Fujian FC Packaging. Further details of
these acquisitions are included in Note 30 to the financial
statement.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

Y YN EHERFE
MNP/ == S7aE S
o NERE

LA R *TEI’J%‘X%EU”JEEPY
AR ERTE -

S B B A )RR TE B IS AR R
MEBL KRB ERAT - K
S EHAERBEAN S —H
KB ARIERZ -

ZISE@EAZIS%*LI&E%
ME) RBEXKEAE-
mm&#%zm1wo

FREJNEFRAREIEZZELRFE
KESBRASERLDFEED
ZIKZ\\TMTEZ\\E ° i%umjﬁf’r ?IE{/\
Hiuft B R AMFHEeEREIE -
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Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

2.1 Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong
and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have
been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for derivative financial instruments and contingent
consideration payables which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for
the year ended 31 December 2015. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf i AR A )

2.1 REEE

ZEVBRRIBRBEEBGFEA
g([BEEMAE]) BhzE
BB HRESEN(EFEMBHRE
R BREBEBYBREE
Al BB EA((FEEFE
A1) REB ARG LR HEAMN
BENEED - BRITESRTAR
ENEAREURRFEFEN B
BBWKRITVIRE L AN B BB E
o ZERBHRRGUAARE (A
R¥]) 5IE - BBR=ARAI - P
BEEEHTREREANTAL

HEE%E
BRAVBREBEARTRENB
N A E E2015F12A31B8 IFF &
M EBRER - HBRATAARARAH
EyEELHzER (BELBK
B  EASEH2EERE QT
E¥BH TP ORAZRRAEZHE
FAREEBBEWRERARIZES
(BN B g P AL BB A E BT
BRRMBESHCRBER) P&
ZE@IES - BNEVSHEHIAE

EANREENRMEREARRERD
ALREZBNRELREEF - K
SENFHEERTHRRE LA
BERGERERMAERBREZRE
o Hp etk

(a) BEHIRERANHEMITERES
BANBHILTE

(b) REMAEHNRHFELHNER
K

(c) AEEMREEREEIRERE -

f 8 A R 5 R TR B AN A )
Rz wEBERER &5 BRER
o WEBARMNEEBAKRENG
2 BREAAR  LEZE
HERILERRIE—BEHEEAR -



2.1 Basis of Preparation (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the equity holders of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

2.2 Changes in Accounting Policies and

Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised standards for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans:
Employee Contributions
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2011-2013 Cycle

The adoption of the above revised standards has had no
significant financial effect on these financial statements.

In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and
Audit” of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622)
came into effect for the first time during the year ended
31 December 2015. The main impact to the financial
statements is on the presentation and disclosure of certain
information in the financial statements.

2.1

2.2

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 Hj-i’%*&%l}ﬁ?

2015%12H31H

mREE ()

HEEX%E (&)

B R EAMA2EURA Z S E 48RS
MEBRADRIZRAEE AKRIE
TRE R - B L R e BB E AR
S BBAER  TEEELAEE
EHRERRIBMZRHZEEARNRF]
MEERAE Bz KA HAX
FRERESNEEE AR REY
34 ©

fisd = B MAFUBRR £ Pt = 1A
BEZRZER—HAXZHEBRE
B AEEEEHAGEHEIEES
WIRE QA - WMWK LR %MZE*ZW
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AR
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{A] FEAE AR A 25 2 BRTEME M (i) A b 25

Witdk 2 2T EN =% 0 RER()
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EBEE) EERAEBHEELE
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Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong Kong 23CEMBEERERZEBY
STATEMENT OF Financial Reporting Standards B E2EA
e The Group has not applied the following new and revised 7N £ (B0 4 A bt S B S R R PR A A
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in TEBME MR ERD I RLEE
these financial statements. R AR BmELEL -
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments? ERNBREEAENE LA
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets ERANBMERRNE0N. REFERFE
and HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its REBSEENRS AELEZEE
NOTES TO Associate or Joint Venture* (20115) (BATA) HETE
FINANCIAL Amendments to HKFRS 10, Investment Entities: Applying the BRMBRERAEI0% - KEEE - EH
L HKFRS 12 and HKAS 28 Consolidation Exception’ EENBREERES FAAEHI)
(2011) REBGHENENE  BF
(2011%)
Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of BANBREENENT, ABERSEHEZ
Interests in Joint Operations’ (BFTK) Bl BT
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts® BANBMEERNE 1S, EEEERA°
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with BANBREEAE Y, EPAAC K’
Customers?
FVEVEAR Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative’ éi’é@:ﬁ%@ﬂw%ﬁﬁ (ﬂ%ﬂzli)ﬁf?ifg/’
FINANGIAL Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable BRGHEREIGRR  TETNEREY
%Jgg/'%gﬂ%g and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and BAGIERESSE e
: Amortisation’
Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants’ BEGTRAE6RR  RE . 4EM
and HKAS 41 ERGHENENR  EY
Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate BBGRAE2R BUABHRZRH
(2011) Financial Statements’ (2011%F) ({53] ) Bzx
Annual Improvements Amendments to a number of 1262014588 ZEEBIBHE
2012-2014 Cycle HKFRSs’ FRAE ERgeiT
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 1 R2016F1A1BZ MR ZF
2016 EHEAR AR
2  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 2018 F1A1B Sz & MHm 2 F
2018 JE HARE A 23K
3 Effective for an entity that first adopts HKFRSs for its annual 3 HEREMNEBYBREENNE
financial statements beginning on or after 1 January 2016 B BAMR2016F1A1A sk 2 14
and therefore is not applicable to the Group FIEFEMSHER AL TER
RALKE
4 No mandatory effective date determined but is available for 4 WEETEEGIAEMBE - HAHEE
adoption O

1 40 CPMC Holdings Limited fig @&k B R A F)




2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is as follows:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final
version of HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the
financial instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all
previous versions of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group expects
to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the standard.

The amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011)
address an inconsistency between the requirements in
HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the
sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving
assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor’s
interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The Group expects to
adopt the amendments from 1 January 2016.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂja’%ﬁiﬁzl}ﬁi

2015%12H31H
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Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 11 require that an acquirer
of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity of
the joint operation constitutes a business must apply the
relevant principles for business combinations in HKFRS 3.
The amendments also clarify that a previously held interest
in a joint operation is not remeasured on the acquisition of
an additional interest in the same joint operation while joint
control is retained. In addition, a scope exclusion has been
added to HKFRS 11 to specify that the amendments do
not apply when the parties sharing joint control, including
the reporting entity, are under common control of the same
ultimate controlling party. The amendments apply to both
the acquisition of the initial interest in a joint operation and
the acquisition of any additional interests in the same joint
operation. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016.

HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs.
In September 2015, the HKICPA issued an amendment to
HKFRS 15 regarding a one-year deferral of the mandatory
effective date of HKFRS 15 to 1 January 2018. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 and is
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 15 upon adoption.

CPMC Holdings Limited fig @&k B R A F)

23CEMBEERERZERM
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2.3 Issued but not yet Effective Hong

Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation and disclosure
in financial statements. The amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(i) that specific line items in the statement of profit or
loss and the statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;

(i) that entities have flexibility as to the order in which
they present the notes to financial statements; and

(iv) that the share of other comprehensive income of
associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method must be presented in aggregate as a
single line item, and classified between those items
that will or will not be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the requirements
that apply when additional subtotals are presented in the
statement of financial position and the statement of profit or
loss. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1
January 2016. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 clarify the principle
in HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern
of economic benefits that are generated from operating
business (of which the asset is part) rather than the
economic benefits that are consumed through the use of
the asset. As a result, a revenue-based method cannot
be used to depreciate property, plant and equipment and
may only be used in very limited circumstances to amortise
intangible assets. The amendments are to be applied
prospectively. The amendments are not expected to have
any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group upon adoption on 1 January 2016 as the Group has
not used a revenue-based method for the calculation of
depreciation of its non-current assets.
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Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For
each business combination, the Group elects whether to
measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event of
liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration and
other items is lower than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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Policies (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its derivative financial instruments
at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible
by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market participants
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that
market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
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by selling it to another market participant that would use
the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value less
costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment
to its residual value over its estimated useful life, taking into
account its estimated residual value of 10%. The estimated
useful lives for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 20 to 30 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Machinery and equipment 12 to 20 years

Vehicles 5 years
Electronic equipment, office
equipment and fixtures 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings, plants,
machinery and product lines under construction, or
renovation works in progress and is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction and capitalised borrowing
costs on related borrowed funds during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
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Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 to 15 years.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or
loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits,
the availability of resources to complete the project and
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during the
development. Product development expenditure which
does not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.

Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 8
years.

Customer relationship

Customer relationship represents the fair value attributable
to the customer base or existing contractual bids with
customers acquired as a result of business combination.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets held
under capitalised finance leases are included in property,
plant and equipment, and depreciated over the shorter
of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged to
the statement of profit or loss so as to provide a constant
periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement of
profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the
lessor are charged to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loans
and receivables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. When
financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured
at fair value plus transaction costs that are attributable to
the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with positive net changes in fair value presented as other
income and gains and negative net changes in fair value
presented as finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss. These net fair value changes do not include any
dividends or interest earned on these financial assets,
which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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Policies (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income and gains
in the statement of profit or loss. The loss arising from
impairment is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in finance costs for loans and in administrative expenses
for receivables.

Derecognition of financial assets
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primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In
that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability.
The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty,
default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is
a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows,
such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that
correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows is
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).
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Policies (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off
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Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills
payables, other payables and accruals and interest-bearing
bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition
of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such
as commodity futures contracts and foreign currency
contracts, to hedge its market price risk. Such derivative
financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value
on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.
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Policies (continued)

Derivative financial instruments (continued)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement (continued)
The fair value of commodity purchase contracts that
meet the definition of a derivative as defined by HKAS
39 is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as
cost of sales. Commodity contracts that are entered into
and continue to be held for the purpose of the receipt or
delivery of a non-financial item in accordance with the
Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements
are held at cost.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss, except for the effective portion of cash flow hedges,
which is recognised in other comprehensive income and
later reclassified to profit or loss when the hedged item
affects profit or loss.
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value. Cost is determined on the weighted average
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs
to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, which are not
restricted as to use.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage
of time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination
is initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is
measured at the higher of (i) the amount that would be
recognised in accordance with the general guidance for
provisions above; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
in accordance with the guidance for revenue recognition.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 Hj-i’%i&%l}ﬁ?

2015%12H31H

24 TESHHEBE (B)

e
MEERBEEHERREER OF
ERHE) RARARFERAER
}mﬂjtﬂ,%fﬁfiﬁ%' H'Jﬁ@u ﬁé{% 18
VR A BREHRRE -

MEFHEOTEEKN - AIFERNE
meERBRTEREEEEHNR
KX ERBEHRNFE - AEH
bwﬁﬁﬁ%’_{ﬁ’]?ﬁﬁfﬁﬁi%ﬁ © BIltE
M BERA ABRR

REBEHFERNKABEN D
BENFERE o EEUOREE
METIREREN —RIESI RN
B RGNV FERS £ ER (63
) LB AFERIESI R RET
BE—EPNRSETE °

Frig®t

S EmEH RN E - A
B IMERIE B MAEHRBEEI
BR TwedtREtmemiaEst
N E KRR -

BB EERAE  HIRER &
FHRCDEM A C BERE MR X
(RFER)  UEBARE XK AE
BRuREAERERED  REBEHE
BHHBREXNTHREERNE
Bt E

AL BRI 8 A S s
A7 R A RBLIE R M A (ER 3
5 ) AR L2 B 0 5 BB 2 38
SHERG -

Annual Report 2015 2015 [ #4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TFEFHHE

159



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BB RRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
LFEPHHE

160

Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e inrespect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing
of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part
of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate
to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.
When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised
as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the
costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released
to the statement of profit or loss over the expected useful
life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments
or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset and
released to the statement of profit or loss by way of a
reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred
to the buyer, provided that the Group maintains
neither managerial involvement to the degree usually
associated with ownership, nor effective control over
the goods sold;

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

(c) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Employee benefits

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in Note 27 to the
financial statements.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market
or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂjﬁi&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

24 TESHHEBE (B)

EEERN (&)

KR BB (B
REFEIFHRAERED AR
BIMRERKR R R R 2
HFEEERNERER - REW
THRERBUNESEERSE
R R RIRERE B ER <2
ERAEEHEHEEEBIBAT
A2 B Z&ER - R—BRHHE
A Z B R R SE R KRN %
RHIV AR R 2 R 2E) -

BERHNREARARAER - T
SR KR MIETIS KRG - B
SR AIERZF IR AR - £
RAEEHEEBREBNERTA
BENSEML -  MHERAKHER
RRFEH AR AARER - B HRATH
7 B 3 5 4 B AR 7 B SRR T EL A
fR1F1R B IEER B 1T - BRIEB R I
RBRTE &SRB IR - BRIZER
BIRMRBRRERHOAALER - A
115 BB 52§50 4R

ERREERIETHRIR R, IR
BHREMRARLERBN QRIS
HRAAX - WERBEMISHIER
BIEME XZERRE - M Awm
SIS B IR EDEK - A
Hib R\ R SRR RE Z
B o

B H REZ RRBIERT - e
NERS ZREGR  AZPER
ZAXEWER - BWIERFRBE
7 o WEANTRE BRI ARR D B E
2 R AR EIE NS A E At
TAREES KM 2 EF] (RIE
FITAZEE) R -

Annual Report 2015 2015 4 & 4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TFEFHHE

163



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BB RRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
LFEPHHE

164

Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Pension scheme and retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations,
each of the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is required
to participate in a retirement benefit scheme organised
by the local municipal government whereby the Group
is required to contribute a certain percentage of the
salaries of its employees to the retirement benefit
scheme. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to pay the ongoing
required contributions. Contributions made to the defined
contribution retirement benefit scheme are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as incurred.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing
of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally, and used for
the purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
rate has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. In
prior years, final dividends proposed by the directors were
classified as a separate allocation of retained profits within
the equity section of the statement of financial position,
until they have been approved by the shareholders in
a general meeting. Following the implementation of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and
articles of association grant the directors the authority to
declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends
are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”). The functional currency of the Company is
Hong Kong dollars. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit
or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the Renminbi. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Renminbi at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Renminbi at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in retained
profits. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated
into Renminbi at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected
in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination as to whether to accrue for
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
from certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax
jurisdictions is subject to judgement on the timing of the
payment of the dividends or the amount of profits to be
retained by the relevant subsidiaries. Further details are
given in Note 25.
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3. Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash
flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill
at 31 December 2015 was RMB207,951,000 (2014:

RMB201,187,000). Further details are given in Note 15.

Income taxes

The Group is mainly subject to income taxes in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
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is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
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Deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had deferred tax
assets of RMB20,480,000 (2014: RMB11,389,000). To the
extent it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences will be
utilised, deferred tax assets are recognised for temporary
differences arising from impairment provisions of property,
plant and equipment, inventories and receivables,
decelerated tax depreciation and amortisation, certain
accrual items and unused tax losses.
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Significant Accounting Judgements and
Estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future
taxable profits together with future tax planning strategies.
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December
2015 was RMB46,232,000 (2014: RMB17,182,000). Further
details are contained in Note 25 to the financial statements.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment
The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment have been impaired in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These
calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering each asset’s
remaining life. Cash flows applying to each asset’s remaining
life are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates.

Operating Segment Information

For management purposes, the Group has one operating
segment of packaging products, which can be analysed by three
business units based on their products and services as follows:

(a) Tinplate packaging — the Group uses tinplate as the
main raw material for its tinplate packaging products,
which include three-piece beverage cans, food cans
(including milk powder cans), aerosol cans, metal caps,
printed and coated tinplates, steel barrels, round and
square shaped cans and other metal packaging;

(b) Aluminum packaging — the Group uses aluminum
as the main raw material for its aluminum packaging
products, which mainly consist of two-piece cans and
one-piece cans; and

(c) Plastic packaging — the Group’s plastic packaging
products are mainly used for milk bottles, shampoo
bottles, plastic devices of electronic products, daily
use hardware, package printing, sports drink bottles
and related plastic-made products.
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A ERFERIFEMMNMEEERER
KETHRERER - EAREBEE
ERSAIERAFR RS TERR
BRHERIE XA EER -

REDHER

REEME  AEEE—ELED
M-BRER  AJREERRRS
A= EEFBEL DT

(a) FOEBE -AKEEASFA
BERESOHBEERNE
ZRME - HP BB =R
- RmE(ERHYE) -
B TEEREMEEREK

(b) 4886 % — 7 % W (% FA 48 fF
B SR80 5 B 0 E B R
B B Em R R
Bl R

(c) ZBEE-AKENZER
KEMTERRYPHR - KEK
- BEFEMONZRBHME - A
REE BEHR - EFHRE
MRAEEB RS
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Notes to Financial Statements
,E\Zl'i%ﬁéé M;J"E‘I 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

4. Operating Segment Information
(continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s business
units separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Business unit performance is evaluated based on revenue,
as explained in the table below:

4,

RETRER (&)

EREEBERARBEBEMN
B URERD ERRBRGHE
HRE - EBEMHRIRIIIZKA
TG - IANRATAL

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARETTT

Tinplate packaging BOEeE 2,586,927 2,663,635
Aluminium packaging ek 2,033,918 2,080,716
Plastic packaging BRRE 482,873 551,066
5,103,718 5,295,417

Geographical information

As the Group’s major operations and customers are located
in Mainland China, no further geographical segment
information is provided.

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately RMB1,780,261,000 (2014
RMB2,038,276,000) was derived from the five largest
customers.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)

HRARENEIEXBRTPIOML
R BEAM - BRI EREFRE DO
I3 EBE K

ERETEEFMNER
REAMNGZARFEAKRAHARE
1,780,261,0007C (20144 : AR
2,038,276,0007T) °
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WA ~ Htt AR Wi — FE

WARFERNMEEMMNERFE
RIBRERE ZHTH -

Revenue, Other Income and Gains — Net 5. CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, ﬁ%fﬂ"g%gg
after allowances for returns and trade discounts during the

year.

AT RUA - E A YA R % I 1

An analysis of revenue, other income and net gains is as

follows: DT
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000 NOTES TO
— e — FINANCIAL
ARET T ARBTT LT
Revenue A PR AR
Sale of goods HEEm 5,103,718 5,295,417
Other income Hug A
Bank interest income RITHFEHA 15,005 16,164
Interest income from COFCO Finance R A BTSRRI B UL A
(Note 35(a)) (#7:£35(a)) 4,583 2,981
Government grants* NEgaE i 36,321 49,302
55,909 68,447 FIVE-YEAR
Gains — net Wi — BE E'UNQ’;AE\‘&
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEYE - BEMEZEEE AFHBHE
plant and equipment E518 (17,590) (3,337)
Foreign exchange differences, net HNEZ=REFEE 6,551 9,440
Write-back of trade payables JER B S IER D 3,285 -
Write-back of other payables Hib s R ERTIE B
and accruals #[o] 1,501 52
Fair value gain on contingent ERSAREBZ AR EBE
consideration payable (Note 30) Wz (#13£30) 11,747 -
Other gains E Az 9,592 1,378
15,086 7,533
70,995 75,980

*

The government grants are granted by the PRC's local

authority to support local companies. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

BT ARG TS H A B 5 I RT IR T A
S FFE A 2N A] o 2m L B A R
ERREIF R FFE IR -
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6. Profit Before Income Tax 6. BRAETBHIATRE

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
%AAS?;;IQ%VY;; The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after AN 62 B R P45 50 A1 AR TH A8 HBR A
R charging: TIEB®EN
2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Hiat ARMT T AREF T
Cost of inventories sold BEHEFERA 4,166,711 4,346,717
Realised and unrealised fair PSRBT AEE IR
:;‘I?ITAENSJEL value losses of derivative MAZRAFE
STATEMENTS financial instruments, net 23 29,588 3,501
B ERMTE Provision against inventories FERE 1,524 58
Cost of sales SHERA 4,197,823 4,350,276
Depreciation e 13 254,116 220,475
Amortisation of land lease payments 3l & Fi# 8 14 6,234 7,183
Amortisation of other intangible E b S A
assets 16 5,092 5,202
Write-off of intangible assets WiHELEE 16 35 95
FIVE-YEAR Research and development costs:  #ZEA(AN :
FINANCIAL Current year expenditure REERZ 13,653 18,697
%’gg\"ﬁ‘}gﬂg Impairment of goodwill** EERE 15 7,000 -
Minimum lease payments under KERETHERS
operating leases 21,248 18,942
Auditors’ remuneration: ZEREMEN & -
Audit service ZEH RS 1,750 1,750
Non-audit services IERZEARTS 1,086 989
2,836 2,739
Impairment of trade receivables, B SRR - FBRR
prepayments and other R Eo At FE R
receivables* TR 802 200
Employee benefit expense EERNER
(including directors’ and (BiEESER
chief executive’s F2ITHAE
remuneration): &) -
Wages and salaries TERFS 454,253 408,029
Pension scheme contributions*** RIKSET IR 45,196 40,113
Other benefits E At fE 36,874 38,890
Equity-settled share option T 4t B B AR i
expense =53 449 435
536,772 487,467

172

The impairment of trade receivables, prepayments and other
receivables are included in administrative expenses in the
consolidated statement of profit or l0ss.

** The impairment of goodwill is included in other expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 15).

“** As at 31 December 2015, the Group had no forfeited

contributions available to reduce its contributions to the
pension schemes in future years (2014: Nil).

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)

*%

B SN - BT RA M ER
BEEF AL R XN ZITHE
HH e

BEREE T AFE R KA ZH
w3 (HfE15)
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7. Finance Costs

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

7.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

MBEER

T RMBERIN :

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREET T ARET T
Interest on: FE -
Bank loans RITER 66,628 52,109
Loans from COFCO Finance REFRIMBHER
(Note 35(a)) (#72£35(a)) - 2,796
Finance leases MEHE 36 176
Total interest expense B SR 66,664 55,081
Less: Interest capitalised W BAMEFE (13,449) (14,599)
53,215 40,482
Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 8. EERFIETHAEBZHME

Remuneration

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

BREBBBERIMBERARES
EWARA (T EmHRAL) - FEERF]
& 1 $383(1)(a) - (b) * (c) ()&
ARAR (BREEEMEER) RO
FoH FANEBRFEITHABZ
BT -

Group
AEH
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Fees we 609 550
Other emoluments: B 57 A
Salaries, allowances and e EE R
benefits in kind BEYEF 1,058 1,636
Performance related bonuses* R R IEAT 599 2,884
Equity-settled share option expense AR ERERS 75 78
Pension scheme contributions RN B3R 109 183
1,841 4,781
2,450 5,331

*

Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled to

bonus payments which are determined with reference to the

performance of the Group’s operation.

Y ARFETHITEEFEERTA
LELEREMBETE LA »
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2015%12H31H

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 8.

Remuneration (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, share options
were granted to directors, in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share option scheme of the Company,
further details of which are set out in Note 27 to the
financial statements. The fair value of such options, which
has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over
the vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant
and the amount included in the financial statements for the
current year is included in the above directors’ and chief
executive’s remuneration disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

EERERITRARZ
e (&)

HZ2011F12A31BILFE &F
RIEBEARNRZERETERFEER
AEERENRGERBRE G
— BRI R BRER M E27) -
ZENEBHAEERRNERDN
BEREAFEIIRELBHEE -
Mt AR FEEFFRENSFTEAE
SALMEERFEITHRABZH
B 455 7% o

(a) BYFBITES
FANTHBILFEATESTHM

during the year were as follows: BT ¢
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARET T
Mr. Andrew Y. Yan R E 203 156
Mr. Cheng Yuk Wo BRGRAN S A 203 197
Mr. Fu Tingmei HIEESLE 203 197
609 550

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year

FERWERENTFBILIENTE
EREMB (20145 : ) -

(2014: Nil).
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HITEES - FHTEERTE
and the chief executive THBAE
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits  Performance share option scheme
in kind related expense contributions Total
e BER bonuses BRLE £Yk& remuneration

BNER  RERBTA
RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETR

BRI HE 2 EH
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR AREBTR  ARETR

2015 20155
Executive directors: HTEZE
Mr. Zhang Xin' RAEAE! 1,058 599 27 109 1,793
Mr. Wang Jinchang? TEERE - - 32 - 32
1,058 599 59 109 1,825
Non-executive directors:  JFEHTEE :
Mr. Ning Gaoning? BERELA - - - - -
Mr. Wan Zaotian BREA%E - - - - -
Mr. Zhou Zheng? Bl - - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei HkELAE - - 16 - 16
1,058 599 75 109 1,841

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)
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8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s 8. EERIETHABRZ CONSOLIDATED
Remuneration (continued) M<E (4&) STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
L S SEBERER
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITESE kHTEERETE
and the chief executive (continued) THAE (&)
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled Pension
and benefits ~ Performance  share option scheme
in kind related expense  contributions Total
e BER bonuses BaitE RIRE  remuneration NOTES TO
EWEF RARETEA  BRERY TR @Erie STz'T'é‘I‘w"Eﬂ%
RMBOOO ~ RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBOO0  RMB0OO P
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
2014 20145
Executive directors: WTES:
Mr. Wang Jinchang® TEELE 818 1,383 33 84 2,318
Mr. Zhang Xin' AL 818 1,501 28 99 2446
1,636 2,884 61 183 4,764
Non-executive directors: #iﬂ?j%% : FF||QJ//ENYCE\A/\\FL<
Mr. Ning Gaoning? BEoELA - - - - - SUMMARY
Mr. Wan Zaotian BEMLL = = = = = nEMHHE
Mr. Zhou Zheng? Ehia - - - - -
Mr. Hu Yonglei HKERE - - 17 = 17
1,636 2,884 78 183 4,781

! Mr. Zhang Xin was the Managing Director of the
Company and was appointed as the Chairman of Board
of the Company on 23 March 2015.

2 On 25 February 2016, Mr. Ning Gaoning and Mr. Zhou
Zheng resigned as the Company’s non-executive
Directors, and Mr. Zhou Yuan and Mr. Shen Tao were
appointed as the Company’s non-executive Directors.

2 Mr. Wang Jinchang resigned as an executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board of the Company on 23
March 2015.

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.

R ALINBARNGEETHEHA
B WR2015F3H23H#EZ (T4
ARAEFEFE -

R20165E2H25H  EFZEHLLR
BB LB RN G IR TTESE
MERIEL R A EEZ (T ABE
NAJHERITEE -

FEEFLLERL015F3H23H BFIE
ARAHRTEEREEFSTSE -

FRALEEZRBEMLBNES
REREMNS -
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9. Five Highest Paid Employees

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one director (2014: two directors), details of whose
remuneration are set out in Note 8 above. Details of the
remuneration of the remaining four (2014: three) highest
paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

LEFMESNES

FRAARFHEENEERRE -2
BE (2014F MRES)  HFS
EIEEEHN XS - FFARHEMT
Z (20145 : =%) R FMIER
NAEEFRTETHAEREDNN
=3 - NE

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFTT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind &% - JEBL R EWEF) 1,834 1,432
Performance related bonuses FIGAEENTEAL 2,123 1,260
Equity-settled share option expense a4t I R 2 41 42
Pension scheme contributions RADETEIHER 292 212
4,290 2,946

The number of non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

MEeEATHERNZRIFESITIE
BEHTEZRSFHERE ZHAE W
—F

Number of employees

=]
2015 2014
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = %1,000,0007%8 7T 1 =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 L £ 1,500,000/ 7T 1 3
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L £2,000,000/ 7T 2 =
4 8

During the year ended 31 December 2011, share
options were granted to certain non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employee in respect of their
services to the Group, under the share option scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in
Note 27 to the financial statements. The fair value of such
options, which has been recognised in the statement of
profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined
as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the
above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

CPMC Holdings Limited i85 AR A 7

HE2011F12A31BILEE - &F
FEERIIFTETHABAEFHR
BHEEREARQRZBRETE
(E—PFBHIN AR M B REM
27) R EMAEERENRGE
KERE ZEREBHAENIE
mERAERNERENRFETIR
R AHER - Mt ARFER I
WMEANMSEANMTALMIFEES
FIEFETHAERHFNESME
BZHMHEE -



10. Income Tax

Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the
Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year (2014: Nil). Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates
of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}
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10. FR8%

FAERNASERERYTBELT
A ERBAE - AL BB EHE
HIEH B (201445 - M%) - Hfhi
T RERBRAN B AR EEBAE
AERERMRITHEGH -

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETTT
Current — Mainland China ANER — R E A

Charge for the year FARATH 107,994 108,644

Underprovision/(overprovision) BEFEREIR
in prior years (FREREE) 2,334 (1,310)
Deferred (Note 25) I (f17725) (10,533) 2,146
Total tax charge for the year FATIAE T H 99,795 109,480

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before income tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions
in which the Company and the majority of its subsidiaries
are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax
rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

AR QR - BEREMH B A M
RAARE R 8005 E R R IZBR TS BRI
B ENBBHE X BRI ERR
KA HE B H S 2 H R A R E A
FE (WEEHER) BERBIR 24
BRunR -

2015 20154
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B PEIRH fif
RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %  RMB’000 %
ARETR BAlt ARETR BAlt ARETR BAt
Profit(loss) before income tax RASHATHE / (Bi8) (o17) 385,645 384,728
Tax at the statutory tax rates® REEREE R (151) 165 96,411 250 96,260 250
Profit not subject to tax due to v
concessions™ AniRRE- - - (5,530) (14) (5,530) (14)
Expenses not deductible for tax RN 2% - - 3,088 0.8 3,088 0.8
Income not subject to tax ETNHBA - - (3,758) (10) (3,758) (02)
Adjustments in respect of current tax PSR
of previous periods HERE - - 2,334 06 2,334 06
Tax losses utiised from previous periods BB/ eI T BB - - (1,184) (0.3) (1,184) (03)
Tax losses not recognised REAZREER 151 (165) 8,434 22 8,585 22
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate  REBRERHZHEY
HERX - - 99,795 259 99,795 259
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10. Income Tax (continued) 10. FrfS % (4&)

CONSOLIDATED
CASH FLONS.
BERERER 2014 20145
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B FEA Ch
RMB'000 % RMB'000 % RMB'000 %
ARETT Bl AREFTL Bt AREFTL ARl
Prolfit/(loss) before income tax BEERAFE /(5R) (1,250) 457580 456,330
e Tax at the statutory tax rates* WAER KA E 7 BB (206) 165 114,395 2.0 114,189 25.0
FINANCIAL Profit not subject to tax due to R BEEHES R AOFE
%Ti;;;gggs concessions™ = = (7.131) (16) (7.131) (16)
Expenses not deductible for tax TRz RS 206 (165) 3,717 10 3,923 10
Adjustments in respect of current tax of  bAEEARTRE
previous periods HIBERE = = (1,310) (03) (1,310) (03)
Tax losses utilised from previous periods — EVERAHRMNFHESE = = (5,351) (1.2) (5,351) .
Tax losses not recognised KR HEEE - - 5,160 11 5,160 11
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate  AEEFERHEHE Y
WERX - - 109480 240 100480 240
FIVE-YEAR
FINANGIAL *  Pursuant to the approvals issued by the State Administration * REFEEXBEFEEREREZR
%Jggﬂgg%g of Taxation of the PRC during the year ended 31 December 20134 12H31H 1 F & &1 a9 #E

178

*k

2013, the Company and most of its subsidiaries registered
in Hong Kong and the British Virgin Islands are regarded as
Chinese Resident Enterprises (collectively the “CREs”) and
the relevant enterprise income tax policies of the PRC are
applicable to the CREs commencing from 1 January 2013.

Under the PRC income tax laws, enterprises are subject to
corporate income tax (“CIT”) at the rate of 25%. Two of the
Group’s subsidiaries are operating in a specific development
zone in Mainland China, and the relevant tax authorities have
granted these two subsidiaries a preferential CIT rate of 15%.

& H2013F1A1H#E KX Al
REREEBERLEBABRESIN
HIR BB 1 BB 22 ] 15 38 73 B Je
Bt (AETEERLE]
M a% B )& R 10 R 8 /5 7P B i %
P M A9 ARR AR

> WRIEFEIRTRRE - DR EIZ25%
BB RG> ZEATRRR ([1EEAT
78H 1) o KEBA F KN E L Al
TR ER R BATE + FHE P 5 1
R TFHZMEN B LR 2 BERLE
e ER15% °

11. Dividends 11. RE
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T AREF T
Interim — RMB0.04 FHl - ZREER
(2014: RMB0.045) AR#0.0470
per ordinary share (20145 - AR¥0.0457T) 39,902 44,890
Proposed final - RMB0.02 BRAKE — BRTAR
(2014: RMB0.025) ARE0.027T
per ordinary share (20145 - AR¥0.0257T) 19,951 24,939
59,853 69,829

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)

AN 2 R R AR B A 0 FE JE R
BFERE LESARRRELE -
TAIEE °



12. Earnings Per Share Attributable to

Ordinary Equity Holders of the Company

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company of RMB282,898,000 (2014:
RMB345,855,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 997,560,000 (2014: 997,560,000) in
issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares into
ordinary shares.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share
are based on:

12.
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RAAEBRREAFAEARE
LERER

EREABFNSBEIREBEASF
EMARARABEBRBELAFTE A
fE {5 F B8 A R #282,898,0007T
(2014%F : A R #345,855,000
L) RFERB T TR A N
15 #997,560,0000% (20144 :
997,560,0000%) st & -

BEREERNSENREBEARAE
BERERE ARGZFANBEGFE
B - RETEHERZ EBBINE
FHERAEFESRERRN
FARABRTEBREE - ALK
FITEEHEEHETLBR A LR
BBRREERTZEBRINETLS
2o

BREANBEERNGETIER

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
Earnings B2F
Profit attributable to ordinary equity RETE BIRERER 2
holders of the Company, used in the ZNNETE-S 5 (i
basic earnings per share calculation BHAa AREFE 282,898 345,855
Number of shares
RHEE
2015 2014
’000 ‘000
T8 TR
Shares 8l
Weighted average number of ordinary RETEERERETF 2
shares in issue during the year used FREETLBAR
in basic earnings per share calculation I8 997,560 997,560
Effect of dilution — weighted average HEoRE - TR
number of ordinary shares: hngEFEaE
Share options B i 879 2,285
998,439 999,845
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment

13. M¥ - MERRE

Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold equipment
improve-  Machinery and fixtures
ments and EFi&ME > Construction
Buildings E#%£- equipment  Vehicles HAZRME inprogress Total
Bz 5 HBERRE EHIA R#E  AREIE CH
RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETR AR%ETR AR¥Tn ARETR AR%Tn ARETR ARETx
31 December 2015 2015%12531R
At 31 December 2014 and R2014512A31A K
1 January 2015: 20151718 :
Cost B 901,464 14,517 3,066,993 45,794 126,646 488,840 4,644,254
Accumulated depreciation ZHMELHE
and impairment (87756)  (7630)  (855.275)  (29851)  (70,195) - (1,050,707)
Net carrying amount ERFE 813,708 6,887 2,211,718 15,943 56,451 488,840 3,593,547
At 1 January 2015, R2015E1A18 -
net of accumulated il
depreciation and RERAE
impairment 813,708 6,887 2,211,718 15,943 56,451 488,840 3,593,547
Additions AE 834 4,464 3,067 258 185 439,377 448,185
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHEAA
(Note 30) (Hi#30) 57703 - 17133 635 968 - 76,439
Disposals it (2,356) - (14,09) (155)  (1472) - (18032)
Depreciation provided REEERERE
during the year (32827)  (6491)  (190247)  (5599)  (18,952) - (25411)
Transfers upon completion TREEA 45,445 - 488,490 2,877 22246 (559,058) -
At 31 December 2015, 20155128318
net of accumulated B2t
depreciation and RERAE
impairment 882,507 4860 2,516,112 13,959 59,426 369,159 3,846,023
At 31 December 2015: R2015512A318 :
Cost A 1,002,848 18,981 3,522,029 47,981 144,108 369,159 5,105,106
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERAE
and impairment (120341)  (14121) (1,005917)  (34,022)  (84,682) - (1,259,083)
Net carrying amount RRSE 882,507 4860 2,516,112 13,959 59,426 369,159 3,846,023
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13. Property, Plant and Equipment

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁ%}

2015%12H31H

13. W% - BERRKRHE (&)

(continued)
Electronic
equipment,
office
Leasehold equipment
improve- ~ Machinery and fixtures
ments and SF&E-  Construction
Buidings &M% - equipment  Vehicls HAZRE  inprogress Total
BT XE BEREE  ERIR RRE  REIR At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETE ARETR
31 December 2014 2014512831R
At 1 January 2014: R2014%1R1A :
Cost AR 807,464 11557 2,764,048 41573 112,793 520,093 4,257,528
Accumulated depreciation ZMELHE
and impairment (61,621) (4,901)  (700,184) (24,538) (55,442 - (846,686)
Net carrying amount FRFE 745,843 6,056 2,063,864 17,035 57,351 520,093 3,410,842
At 1 January 2014, R014E1A1A -
net of accumulated i3S
depreciation and RERAE
impairment 745,843 6,606 2,063,864 17,035 57,351 520,093 3,410,842
Additions NE 552 2,960 10,224 1,915 4310 386,908 406,369
Disposals e - - (714) (639) (2,336) - (3,689)
Depreciation provided REEERERE
during the year (26,135) (2,729)  (166,520) (5,867) (19,224) - (220,475)
Transfers upon completion TRKEEA 93,448 - 304,864 3499 16,350 (418,161) -
At 31 December 2014, R2014F12A318 -
net of accumulated i)
depreciation and HERRE
impairment 813,708 6,887 2211718 15,943 56,451 488840 3593547
At 31 December 2014: R2014512R318 :
Cost A 901,464 14517 3,066,993 45,794 126,646 488840 4,644,254
Accumulated depreciation ZHMERAE
and impairment O7756)  (7630) (85275  (29851)  (70,19%) ~ (1,050,707)
Net carrying amount FEFE 813,708 6,887 2211718 15,943 56,451 488840 3,593,547

As at 31 December 2014, the net carrying amount of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment held under finance

leases included in the total amounts of machinery and

equipment was RMB11,896,000.

MR2014F12A31H » BEEHKEN
HERET AEERBERET
BENYME  BERKEHHRDF
BEAAR¥11,896,0007T °

Annual Report 2015 2015 [ #4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TFEFHHE

181



Notes to Financial Statements
,E\Zl'i%ﬁéé M;J"E‘I 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

14. Prepaid Land Lease Payments

14. B L HEER

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FARRRER 2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREBTT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1HERAE 285,950 293,133
Disposal & (24,350) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 30) WK B A =) (K77£30) 9,171 =
Recognised during the year RERNTER (6,234) (7,183)
NOTES T Carrying amount at 31 December K12 A31HEREAE 264,537 285,950
FINANCIAL Current portion included SEATENR - He Rk
STATEMENTS in prepayments, deposits and H A FE MR E
HBRENE other receivables (Note 19) BNEAS 2B (M15£19) (6,197) (6,503)
Non-current portion JERNEREL 2 258,340 279,447
15. Goodwill 15. &
RMB’000
AR%T T
e At 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014: 2014481410 k20144124318 :
SUMMARY Cost AR 201,187
DEHBHE Accumulated impairment SERE -
Net carrying amount REVFE 201,187
Cost and net carrying amount at M20144F1 518 K%20144F
1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014 12318 2 KA KR A 201,187
Cost at 1 January 2015, RK2015%F1 418 -
net of accumulated impairment Nk 2:RE 201,187
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 30) UEEB BN A (K72%30) 13,764
Impairment during the year FARE (7,000)
Cost and net carrying amount at M2015F12H31H 2
31 December 2015 PO N BREDHE 207,951
At 31 December 2015: 7201561283108 :
Cost AR 214,951
Accumulated impairment ZETRIAE (7,000)
Net carrying amount BREFE 207,951

Impairment testing of goodwill

BB E R

EREAEBAHBUBZERA
K %59,115000t & A K %
155,836,0007T B 7 & 7 5l 73 B &
SOHBERSELBUREREER
KRGELEM -

Goodwill acquired through business combinations in
the amounts of RMB59,115,000 and RMB155,836,000 is
allocated to the tinplate packaging cash-generating unit
and plastic packaging cash-generating unit, respectively.

BEBREHBEHRBENRECSIERE
VAR 3R & B A BB o DA 77 080 (208

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for

impairment testing: 5
e Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit e BHHBRRSE4AEM
e Plastic packaging cash-generating unit s BRBRBSELEM
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂjﬁi&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

15. Goodwill (continued) 15. B& (&) CONSOLIDATED

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)

Tinplate packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the tinplate packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 14.4% and cash flows beyond the
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth
rate of the packaging industry.

Plastic packaging cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the plastic packaging
cash-generating unit was determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 14.1% and cash flows beyond the

AEERENR (&)
BEO#HERATELEN
FSOHBERSELBUM A KE
TRIREEREEAEEE - &
ERERNSREEE ENTFH
MREENRESRERA - EAR
BeRnERANKERER144%
MR AFHEENEESREDNER
2% B R R - DEBRITEN
PR RER—F -

BEEAREELEN

BREERSELEVNHTREE
BIOREEREEHEETE - HE
RER =R EIE B /EN D F Y
BREENHEESRERD - BARNHE
ERERAWEEXRH141% - M
RAFHEERNERRETER2%
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NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

\ /! FIVE-YEAR
five-year period were extrapolated using a growth rate of RIE R EMEE - DEARITENR FINANCIAL
2%, which was the same as the long term average growth HEERER—5 - ﬁg%’\%zg

A7 =

rate of the packaging industry.

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the tinplate packaging and plastic packaging
cash-generating units for 31 December 2015 and 31
December 2014. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow
projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins — Management determined
budgeted gross margin based on past performance and its
expectations for market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before
tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant
cash-generating units.

Raw materials price inflation — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to raw materials price inflation is the
forecast price indices during the budget year for Mainland
China from where the raw materials are sourced.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, due to
the reduction in the expected growth rates of certain
subsidiaries of Victoria Industrial Group (defined in Note
30) which are principally engaged in plastic packaging, the
directors of the Company considered that an impairment
loss of RMB7,000,000 was recognised for the related
goodwill with a carrying amount of RMB97,892,000 (Note
6).

HESEO#EHORLNEBRERRGE
A4 B 7 B20159F12 8318 k2014
FI2AMHMEAEERKAR
B UM EEBREITEER
EAREAMEANSEETZERESR

EFRRRR

BEENE - EBERBEERE
MBS ERNENREEREERN

BB E — FTEREREIR R BB AT R
RIREEEARSELBEUABNE
ERE

BRHHEEK — BIEBEERMAE
1B 3B AR (B /Y B2 5 R A RHER B 3 By
BEFENTRRIEBRER -

#H E2015F12A31B It FE &
REBEEEE (& 5 M 30)
(EEREBRBE) 2ETWSB
NRIZTEHEREREL - KQARE
ERAEREEASARKI7 892 000
TZEBHEEBRAEREARE
7,000,000 T 2 B B8 (MI5E6) °
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Notes to Financial Statements
E\Zl-i%ﬁéé M;J-E‘I 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

16. Other Intangible Assets

16. Hth B EE

Customer Computer
relationship Patents software Total
EFR% =X B EG &5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT AR®BTrx AR%BTx AR%Tx
31 December 2015 2015F12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2015, netof 720151 A1BHZ
accumulated amortisation RN - I 2EtEEEY 1,540 29,644 8,744 39,928
Additions NE - - 2,717 2,717
Write-off igic - - (35) (35)
Amortisation provided FAEEEEE
during the year - (3,460) (1,632) (5,092)
At 31 December 2015 7201512 A31H 1,540 26,184 9,794 37,518
At 31 December 2015: R2015%12A318 :
Cost B AR 1,540 36,562 20,345 58,447
Accumulated amortisation 2 - (10,378) (10,551) (20,929)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 26,184 9,794 37518
31 December 2014 20145F12831H
At 1 January 2014: R2014F1 /18 :
Cost B AR 1,540 36,562 14,875 52,977
Accumulated amortisation 2 = (3,459) (7,880) (11,339)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,540 33,103 6,995 41,638
Cost at 1 January 2014, netof ~ #2014F1A1BZ
accumulated amortisation BN - Bk ZETEE S 1,540 33,103 6,995 41,638
Additions NE = - 3,587 3,587
Write-off s - - (95) (95)
Amortisation provided FABHEEE
during the year - (3,459) (1,743) (5,202)
At 31 December 2014 20146127318 1,540 29,644 8,744 39,928
At 31 December 2014 and 2014F12A318 &
at 1 January 2015: 20151818 :
Cost DN 1,540 36,562 18,216 56,318
Accumulated amortisation Rt - (6,918) (9,472) (16,390)
Net carrying amount RESHE 1,540 29,644 8,744 39,928
17. Inventories 17. &
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBT T
Raw materials RH R 287,637 315,365
Work in progress ERH 106,703 134,244
Finished goods XS 241,875 238,082
Consumables A 54,341 52,471
690,556 740,162
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18. Trade and Bills Receivables

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\j—i%i&%l}ﬁ-i

2015%12H31H

18. EZ BN K EWRRE

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTT
Trade and bills receivables from KEAB=ZAEFHNES

third-party customers FEUE K FE W SR 4% 1,350,192 1,142,517

Trade and bills receivables from R B BaHE 5 R B SRR
related parties (Note 35(b)) KW R (B1735(b)) 15,490 17,136
1,365,682 1,159,653
Impairment VEREEN (1,575) (1,131)
1,364,107 1,158,522

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers, where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period is generally
for 30 to 120 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

The Group’s trade receivables from related parties are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the
major customers of the Group.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date
and net of provisions, is as follows:

rEEBRTEFEEN  EHEP
REARENK - EEH—RAB30
E120Kk - BREFHARREER
B REEZREBIEHHERER
MR - RRIZEEZHHE
ERBRERE BREBAEWD
SR BHARE - AKEIL R
oL B 5 B MRS et B T AR
mHEMEERE - BZRKFE
TEHEHY ©

AEBEBEALTZESRERTIZ
AAEEEEEFREHANEUEE

R EE -

RB|ERERBNE 5 RBKKLE
WREREZAH - WNREEN
FRECDMTIAT -

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET ARETTT

Within 3 months 3E AR 1,019,014 1,009,438
3 to 12 months 3= 121E A 344,367 148,692
1 to 2 years 1224 636 303
Over 2 years 2F A E 90 89
1,364,107 1,158,522

The movements in provision for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

B2 RUGRREREZERNT

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBT T ARBT T

At 1 January Mm1A1R 1,131 1,255
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) EER 2 BEEIE (K1:26) 919 205

Amount written off as uncollectible WEE AU E 2 £ 58 (475) (829)
At 31 December #»12/831H 1,575 1,131
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CONSOLIDATED 18. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 18. EZ BN KR EWERE (&)
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Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB1,575,000 (2014: RMB1,131,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB1,575,000 (2014:
RMB1,131,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to
customers that were in financial difficulties and the
outstanding receivables are not expected to be recovered.

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables
that are not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

ELESRKFOREREST &
FE¥ A R#E1,575,0007T (20144F ¢
AR¥1,131,0007T) ERIEREEZ
SV 2 B - ERERREE
EAARE1,575,0007T (20144 :
AR¥1,131,0007T) °

& 5 2 BB 5 FE Wk B2 A W 75 IR
BeRFPARM  RAREERYNE
HiBEd @ o

A AR ERRRBENE 5 &
Wk M R B RREC AT A0 TS

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%T T AREBTT

e Neither past due nor impaired KGR R E 1,344,915 1,018,915
SUMMARY Less than 1 month past due BHAOR1EA 6,364 74,439
AEHBHE 1 to 3 months past due B E3MEA 4,076 62,878
More than 3 months past due 60 BRI 1E A 8,752 2,290

1,364,107 1,158,522
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Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to the customers for whom there was no recent history of
default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

CPMC Holdings Limited fig 5=k H R AR

R 380 E 7 AR B B FE W sk B3 B 3P
BRACHENEF AR -

B HE R AVE IR B 2 FE Wk Jh B AR
SEBERURGRHBIAEBYE
FER REBEER ARAE
ERB ARFE/EBRME - HRME
EEZUABLEEANEY  BZF
BRDARSTENE - RB AR
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂjﬁi&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

18. Trade and Bills Receivables (continued) 18. EZ RN REWRE (&)

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
At 31 December 2015, the Group endorsed certain M2015%F12A31H » REERHEE i;ff;g%g

bills receivable accepted by banks in the PRC (the
“Derecognised Bills”), to certain of its suppliers in order
to settle the trade payables due to such suppliers with a
carrying amount in aggregate of RMB346,293,000 (2014:
RMB419,133,000). The Derecognised Bills have a maturity
from one to six months at the end of the reporting period.
In accordance with the Law of Negotiable Instruments
in the PRC, the holders of the Derecognised Bills have
a right of recourse against the Group if the PRC banks
default (the “Continuing Involvement”). In the opinion
of the directors, the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards relating to the Derecognised
Bills. Accordingly, it has derecognised the full carrying
amounts of the Derecognised Bills and the associated
trade payables. The maximum exposure to loss from the
Group’s Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills
and the undiscounted cash flows to repurchase these
Derecognised Bills is equal to their carrying amounts. In

THERZEZERRERBITEMNDN
AETERER ((BUBERER]) -
LUBERNBEBHRERMEEDEEA
R #346,293,0007T (20144 : A
R #419,133,0007T) B & 5 & 1+
Ko MMEHK - BUBERZEN
BN F—2XEAR - BREHH
ZRA MRSTPHRTEL W
EERERBEREBEALHAEEEFE
RigE([HEFR]) - EERE K
SEEHEUERREBRNBRIBY
BB & Bl HRER o FAitt - HEBUH
WRIVEERZE LIEHEE 5 ER
FHE2HEESE A EERFE
HREBUHEREE KA BELZER
SHIER EIE M RN IR IR € & M
XHEeEERBRESNEERAS
H-EFZRE AFERFES LI

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

R - FIVE-YEAR
the opinion of the directors, the fair values of the Group’s EERZEBNATELAERX o FINANCIAL
Continuing Involvement in the Derecognised Bills are not SUMMARY

RFHBHHE

significant.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
not recognised any gain or loss on the date of transfer of
the Derecognised Bills (2014: Nil). No gains or losses were
recognised from the continuing involvement, both during
the year or cumulatively. The endorsement has been made
evenly throughout the year.

HE2015F12A831BILFE » A&
EWEREEIUERRAZE 2 B
R ZE (20144 : #) - KEE
WERSELRERFAXRFTR
B BEEREEBRYIFEE
7 °
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%*ﬁé% M;J'EI 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

19. Prepayments, Deposits and Other

19. AR - BERAEEKRK

Receivables
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments to third-party suppliers BN T E = HERE 2 2K 133,137 203,017
Deposits Ze 10,388 11,150
Input VAT recoverable AU B 2 TR I (E R 106,066 101,230
Prepaid expenses SCANE=9:E 23,406 18,312
Other receivables H fth e K 23,082 121,225
Amounts due from related parties FEMEAE A+ /IR
(Note 35(b)) (K15#35(b)) 22,616 6,760
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 14)  Faft+ini &z (#714) 6,197 6,503
324,892 468,197
Impairment E (850) (2,533)
324,042 465,664
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepaid expenses AR 14,825 24,382

The movements in the provision for impairment of
prepayments and other receivables are as follows:

HIE N H R A R FOR R ER B
wm -

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARBT T

At 1 January M1A1H 2,533 3,447
Impairment losses reversed (Note 6) BROURERE (#1:726) (117) (%)
Amount written off as uncollectible WS AT Uk [e 2 £ %8 (1,566) (909)
At 31 December M12A31H 850 2,533

The prepayments, deposits and other receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

Included in the above provision for impairment of
prepayments and other receivables is a provision for
individually impaired prepayments and other receivables of
RMB850,000 (2014: RMB2,533,000) with a carrying amount
before provision of RMB850,000 (2014: RMB2,533,000).

The individually impaired prepayments and other
receivables relate to customers that were in financial
difficulties and the outstanding receivables are not
expected to be recovered.

Except for the above impaired prepayments and other
receivables, the remaining prepayments, deposits and
other receivables that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to the customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

CPMC Holdings Limited i85 AR A 7

BN e REMREKETE
By e

LA b 3B 5 30 &% E b FE U R 89 OR (B
B & 8 1 A R #850,0007T (2014
£ AR#¥2533,0005T) B9@ERIE
MEENREEMERREE &
B ER A B A A R #850,0007T
(20144 : AR#¥2 533,0007T) °

118 51 2 8k 18 T8 158 350 % L A 8 Wk 2
BRAMBRENTFEBLREERE
FEUW R IR RN AT YR @]

B DA B R (E T8 {5 5K e B A & IR
S - BRI R A HISORE R TR K
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂj—j’%i&%l}ﬁ%

2015%12H31H

20. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Pledged 20 R RESEEYREKA
Deposits b3y
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBTT
Cash and bank balances B MRTTHERR 235,046 131,123
Deposits in COFCO Finance NSk 1 Pz OR E N
(Note 35(b)) (H13£35(b)) 693,983 343,436
Time deposits JEHFR 111,317 553,401
1,040,346 1,027,960
Less: B
Pledged time deposits for ERFENEEBER
letters of credit (12,568) (20,215)
Pledged time deposits for ERRENE ERTTR
bills payable (Note 21) (Hiaz21) (31,850) (3,039)
(44,418) (23,254)
Cash and cash equivalents Ee RIS ZEEY 995,928 1,004,706

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
cash equivalents and pledged deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to RMB779,580,000 (2014:
RMB479,455,000). The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

All the above deposits in COFCO Finance have a short
maturity of less than three months and a determinable
return when acquired. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, these deposits in COFCO Finance are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value.

RFEPR  ~AEEBUAAREE
MEehReFEDREETR
R A AR #779,580,0005T (2014
4 AN R #479,455,0007T) °© A
REAATERLRRHEMERE - A
m - AR % A B Pt A S PE B EE {55
M#EE - EERMEEERT - &
SETERERBNLEINEEBTD
RITHARE SR AHEME -

RITRSRE BRI RA R HRER
FBHNE c REAREHREFL
Z=tE - FEEE HE TR A
—BE=ERTF  DRIREMZ
75 HATE BT R R R AR B, - dR7T
kB ERFRIFROHER
RAERBEBRIF ZIRTT ©

VA EFTE A 18 B 15 10 77 SR B IR
BE (PR=EA)  ALAHRDREHN
B3 - AABEZRAL  ZERH
A8 B 765 ) 1 3K T B B 2B 3R 4 ) N 8K
BOE BEEZHRARTK

Annual Report 2015 2015 [ #4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TFEFHHE

189



Notes to Financial Statements
,E\Zl'i%ﬁéé M;J"E‘I 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 21. Trade and Bills Payables 2. EZRARRESRERE
STATEMENT OF
%AAS?;;IQ%VY;; An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the R EHERE  REEAEBGE
. end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is WE S ENRRENZENERRD
as follows: B OENE
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Within 3 months 3EAR 573,268 488,766
;‘I‘:ITAE:JEL 3 to 12 months 3E12fEA 18,508 13,149
STATEMENTS 1to 2 years 1226 3,407 2,759
MRERMEE Over 2 years 2FEPA 2,108 2,860
597,291 507,534
Included in the trade and bills payables are trade payables BORNREENEERERER
of RMB215,000 (2014: RMB223,000) due to a fellow —HRREMNBARANE ZHEN A
subsidiary which are repayable within 90 days, which R #215,0007T (2014F : AR ¥
represents credit terms similar to those offered by that 223,0007T) * #% % 3 1A A N90H
FVEVEAR fellow subsidiary to its major customers (Note 35(b)). WNEE HZRRAMBARST
FINANCIAL HIrEXPZEERITAEU (M
SUMMARY 35(b)) °
RFHBHE
As at 31 December 2015, certain of the Group’s bills R2015F12A31H KAEBEBH A
payable were secured by the Group’s bank deposits TERENEBEATREENRITERE
amounting to RMB31,850,000 (2014: RMB3,039,000) (Note H A R #31,850,0007T (20144 :
20). A R #3,039,0007T) 1EH # (Bt 7
20) °
Trade and bills payables are non-interest-bearing and the BEORNARERNZERE T A
credit terms are normally 30 to 90 days. K &HE{EFAEIEE A30290H -
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2015%12H31H

Other Payable and Accruals 22, Hitt e R R FESTIEE
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARBTT
Advances from customers BB 42,950 57,047
Salary and welfare payables ENTERER 80,690 72,376
Accrued expenses FERT & 38,768 41,899
Guarantee deposits from suppliers HEHRES 13,664 13,906
Payables for purchases of equipment FREE XA e~ 7RIl 26,736 60,309
Amounts due to related parties FETREE A T 5RIR
(Note 35(b)) (K7:£35(b)) 848 45
Tax payables other than current income K& BiFT 1S5 & &SN
tax liabilities e IA 51,097 23,121
Consideration payable (Note 30) FERHRAE (K77#30) 7,091 89,839
Others Hith 13,142 29,219
274,986 387,761

Other payables and accruals are non-interest-bearing and
have an average term of three months.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Group has entered into various commodity futures
contracts to manage its market price risk arising from
the fixed unit price of aluminum to certain of the Group’s
customers conducted in the normal course of business.
These commodity futures contracts are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Net fair value loss on
derivative financial instruments of RMB29,588,000 (2014:
RMB3,501,000) was charged to cost of sales in the
statement of profit or loss during the year (Note 6).

23.

HENRXEEFEEZ T B
B FHFERMAS=M@EA -

TTHEESMTA

AEEBYZERABREL -
ARERFEXBBETAEES
FTREHETEIAMEAL KA MBI
MmEERRR - ZERAH S
BRI ATFEF ABRDE - FRITE
PRIANFATFEERBARKE
29,588,0007T (2014%F : A R ¥
3,501,0007T) Bt AEEmERMNEE
A (FfsE6) o
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Notes to Financial Statements
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2015%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 24. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings 24. HERTER
STATEMENT OF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) rate (%)
EBFIZ  Maturity RMB'000  EREFIE Maturity ~ RMB'000
(%) HE  AR¥TR (%) HE ARBTT
Non-current JEENER

Bank loans - unsecured BITES - A 145-2.13  2017-2018  2,597440 145206 2017-2018 2,447,600

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS 2015 2014
BBRRMEE RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBT T
Analysed into: ST
Bank loans repayable: FER T I EAfA -
In the second year F_F 1,233,784 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZEERF
BIEERME 1,363,656 2,447,600
e 2,597,440 2,447,600
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY Note: Hat
RENBHE
(a) All borrowings are denominated in United States dollars. (a) FTBEBHIGUETEE -
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\ji%i&%l}ﬁ%}

2015%12H31H

25. Deferred Tax 25. IEFERL A CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during FANRERBEERBENE SN Z;ff;;igg
the year are as follows: TS ¢ R
Deferred tax liabilities EELEHRESE
2015
Accelerated
Accelerated tax  Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax NOTES TO
amortisation  of property, amortisation ST;'T"E‘I‘VI"ER:‘T‘;
of land plantand  of intangible BEHENE
use rights equipment assets Total
n¥ - BER
THEREZ RiFZ A BYEEZ
MEBE R BERE  MEHEGE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARET T ARBTR
At 1 January 2015 12015561718 436 1,030 7410 8,876
Acaisition of subsidiaries (Note 30) WEHBAR (Wits0) 1,748 5,845 - 7593 FIVE-YEAR
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated ~ RAAFEGZABER gmmﬁb
statement of profit o loss during the year ~ AREEERIA RENKHEE
(Note 10) (H1at10) (32) (553) (857) (1,442)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at M2015F12A31 8K
31 December 2015 BETHERE 2,152 6,322 6,553 15,027
Deferred tax assets BEEHRIEEE
Provision for Provision for
Provision for  impairment of impairment

impairment  prepayments  Provision for  of property,
of trade and other  write-down plant and

receivables  receivables of inventories  equipment Others Total
BAER VES
BAENE  HfERR 78 BERREZ
RERE HERE HERE HERE Ht it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 000
ARETR  AR%TR ARMTR AR%Tr AR%TR ARETR
At 1 January 2015 201551 A1A 13 578 696 2,399 7,603 11,389
Deferred tax credited/(charged) WRFEGABER
{0 the consolidated statement e/ (1) B
of profit or loss during the year EiEsE
(Note 10) (Bt 10) 10 (411) 83 (860) 10,269 9,091
Gross deferred tax assets at 12015512 A31 B )
31 December 2015 BEEHEEE 123 167 9 1,539 17872 20,480
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2015%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 25. Deferred Tax (continued) 25. IEFEFLIE (48)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS I
e Deferred tax liabilities EEREERE
2014
Accelerated
Accelerated tax Accelerated
tax  depreciation tax
amortisation of property, amortisation
of land plantand  of intangible
NOTES TO use rights equipment assets Total
FINANCIAL % g
STATEMENTS . %% W%& .
B ERRE TifERE REomE  EVEEZ \
IERBIEE HEE  RES a5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARMTR  ARRTRT  ARETR

At 1 January 2014 2014F1A1H 444 1,122 8,276 9,842
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated ~ RAEEGZABER
statement of profit or loss during the year NEEEERE

(Note 10) (#z10) (8) (92) (866) (966)
E:XUE\,J(EC\T Gross deferred tax liabilities at M2014F12 83185
SUMMARY 31 December 2014 BELHEAR 436 1,030 7410 8,876
HEHKHE
Deferred tax assets EERIEEE

Decelerated  Decelerated

Provision for Provision for fax fax

Provision for - impairment of Provision  imparment ~ depreciation  amortisation
impairment of  prepayments forwite-  of property,  of property,  onthe pre-

frade and other down of plant and plant and operating
receivables  receivables  invenfories  equipment  equipment  expenses Others Total
BRAR hx VES i

HARH  Rbmi FE HRRREZ EEREE  ARZAR
AERE  BERE  KERB  NERE RoWERE  HERE At it
RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RWBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBODO  RMBOO
ARRTL  ARETR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARMFn ARRTm ARBTR ARETR

At1 January 2014 20145151 166 856 942 1,366 386 191 10,594 14,501
Deferred tax credited/(charged) REEERABRER

to the consolidated statement B/ (8 &

of profit or loss during the year TR

(Note 10) (Wit10) (53) (278) (246) 1083 (386) (191) (2991) (3:112)
Gross deferred tax assets at R014F12A3188
31 December 2014 BEEHBEE 113 578 69 2399 = = 7603 11,389
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\j—i%i&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

25. JRIEHIR (&)

25. Deferred Tax (continued) CONSOLIDATED

Deferred tax assets (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
RMB46,232,000 (2014: RMB17,182,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have
been loss-making for some time and it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
the tax losses can be utilised.

At 31 December 2015, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2014: Nil) for taxes
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of
the Group’s subsidiaries as the Group has no liability to
additional tax should such amounts be remitted due to the
availability of double taxation relief.

FEHRBEEE ()
AEBEEFBRAMELEFBEEIEA
R #46,232,0007T (20145 : AR
#17,182,0007L) * BR—ERFA
B - FARIESE AR R ERTRFNE -

HREBERKEE A —REEE
SEENHMERR  ATRAEH
RERERTANEAREHEATEH AN
MR - B KRR EELEH
HEE °

201512 A31 8 » st BB
RNEZAREDBFESE 2 EBETRIE
mE BRUHITEEERHER
A ZEREELN  AEETE
BN FHIBRE QM EEA LR
RIBEFIEAE (20145  £) ©

STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

26. Share Capital 26. RA& FIVANCIL
SUMMARY
Shares [ AEHHHE
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARBTT
Issued and fully paid: EEITRARE
997,560,000 (2014: 997,560,000) 997,560,0000% & A%
ordinary shares (20144 :
997,560,000/% ) 2,336,168 2,336,168

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital
is as follows:

ARBBEARZZEFEINT

Number of Share
shares Share premium
in issue capital account Total
2#1T
BB EE BE  ROOEER &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT AR®TrR
At 1 January 2014 R2014F1 518 997,560,000 86,715 2,249,453 2,336,168
Transition to no-par value 20143 A3H
regime on 3 March 2014 BEEEEE
(Note(a)) HIE (Kt (a) = 2,249,453 (2,249,453) -
At 31 December 2014 and 72014128318 &
31 December 2015 20155 12H31H 997,560,000 2,336,168 - 2,336,168

(a) WREZELAED (F6228) fiF
11E371%# 5 2 R EX - R
20144F3A3H - (12 51 5% 75 K 17
Ja1BARZ & BE 1K A3 K 1 AR AR A

— LN
aprr °

(a) In accordance with the transitional provisions set out in
section 37 of Schedule 11 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622), on 3 March 2014, any amount
standing to the credit of the share premium account has
become part of the Company’s share capital.
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26.

27.

2015%12H31H

Share Capital (continued)

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the
share options issued under the scheme are included in
Note 27 to the financial statements.

Share Option Scheme

On 23 October 2009, the shareholders of the Company
conditionally approved and adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purposes of attracting,
retaining and motivating directors and eligible participants,
providing them with an opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and encouraging them to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company. Eligible
participants include, but are not limited to, any directors
(excluding independent non-executive directors), officers
and employees of the Group, or any other person the
board of directors may propose. The Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a period of ten years commencing from 16
November 2009.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
currently permitted to be granted under the Scheme is
an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any time. The maximum
number of shares issuable under share options to each
eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month
period is limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue at any time. Any further grant of share options in
excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors. In addition, any
share options granted to a substantial shareholder of the
Company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million,
within any 12-month period, are subject to shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf i AR A )

26.

27.

BA (&)

B

AR BB IR B AR IR AT 813 1T
MBI AR R IE D BN I 7S R M A
27 °

BRESTE

200910 H23H * A A AIMREREA
IR e R BR 4 T — BB IR R AT
g ([Z&r8l)) 8ERS - &

HEEERAEKRIEE WL
BEARAINMAEREZ @M
MAERARAGEEMIE 6&
B2 EEBEBERERAEBIM
B2 (TEEBUERNTES) B
BETIREE HNEZGUREEH
FIE E M A I o 3Z 5T 8] B 2009F
11A16BRBENR - BERHAAETF -

WstElBRTAI R T MARTTE 2B
PR AT 0B A] SR PE 2 AN A R B
= EREE - HERAREEM
R 2 #ITR 210% ° IRIE12
fEAME - REZAERTELE
BER2EEZBRENETRNDZ
=¥ EETABRERRARR
BETRN Z1%  BBILR S ZE
ME—F RO ZBREALTESR
RRBRRAGHE ©

RYARAEER  TETHARH
TERRIWEEMBEA BB
RASTHBYIFNTESAE - It
Sh - REM12(E A HIEA - BT A
NAEAEEBRRIEEMBRAZE
o] B A A - i R 78D 7R % B A fRT B
BEEITRN0.1% » HILARFRND
REHARZERFTENRERR
5,000,000/ 7T » AlIZB % B IRR AR
RAGHAE -



27. Share Option Scheme (continued) 27.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer, upon payment of
a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.
The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a
vesting period of two to six years and ends on a date which
is not later than seven years from the date of offer of the
share options or the expiry date of the Scheme, if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the highest of (i) the
Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options; (i) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 12 October 2011, a total of 8,300,000 share options
were granted to certain directors and employees of the
Group in respect of their services to the Group in the
forthcoming years (the “2011 Options”).

The following 2011 Options were outstanding under the
Scheme during the year:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂj—j’%i&%l}ﬁ%

2015%12H31H

BT E (|

BRER D EHA N E L B
28R AEMAMERABAZNAH
IBETHRBARE - IRHER
ROTTEN AESETE YRXM
EXNFNREBHRERABL AR TER
BRER L B I ZET e A 3
(AP ERE) Bt LFZ AR
Ik o

BERELTEERESRE  BF
BERONEELEEREZBART
B0 B 32 P 2 TR (B 5 (i) B IR IR
HE M AER S A ARR B R
R AT P E ¢ (i) 2
mE (AERE/E) -

FE R T B B T 1A A URER A B Bk
ERRBRAGREZER -

R2011E108128 - & #
8,300,00017 & A% # (20114 B ix
) ERTAEEETEESERE
8 UEABRSABNAEERS
K HEEp o

BT 58T 2 20114 B AR R A
FREMRITE

2015 2014

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price  of options
pilIY: W IR piliL::3 RE AR
FIETEE HE FHITEE A
HK$ ’000 HK$ ‘000

per share per share
BRET T BRET Tt
At 1 January M1HA18 3.04 4,680 3.04 6,240
Forfeited during the year RARFER LRI 3.04 (1,560) 3.04 (1,560)
At 31 December M12A31H 3.04 3,120 3.04 4,680

For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December
2014, no share option was exercised.

#H 201512 A31H Kk20144F12H
31BIEFE . WEBRIEETE -
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27. Share Option Scheme (continued)

The vesting periods, exercise price and exercise periods of
the 2011 Options outstanding as at 31 December 2015 are
as follows:

27. BIRAETE (&)

M2015%F12A8318 © & K 1T &
011 FEREZEEBH - 1THEER
ITEEHATE

Number of options granted

EREREHE Vesting period Exercise price  Exercise period
Directors  Employees Total  (dd-mm-yyyy) per share  (dd-mm-yyyy)
B &8 CEIR 3 BROEE TEH
NOTES TO ’000 ’000 000 (£-A-R) HK$S (£-A-H)
oL ™ 0 #
BRI A 280 1,280 1,560  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2016 3.04  12-10-2016 to 11-10-2017
2011E10A 128 £2016%10A 118 2016107128 220175108118
280 1,280 1,560  12-10-2011 to 11-10-2017 3.04  12-10-2017 to 11-10-2018
2011E10A 128 E2017410A 118 2017F10A 12822018 10A 118
560 2,560 3,120

The fair value of the 2011 Options was HK$8,126,514, of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of

2011F R #E 2 A FE A
8,126,514 e ALEBREE

FIVE-YEAR . N
FINANCIAL RMB449,000 (2014: RMB435,000) during the year ended 2015612 A31 B It FE R B AE
S 31 December 2015. X A R #449,0007T (20134 :

The fair value of the 2011 Options was estimated as at the
date of grant, using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

AR#435,0007T) °

0NEEREL AFEIRIFELA
HFB B R G  TEEE
= AR 2 R R o TR
TRET(E R 2 AR A 5 A B

2011 Options

2011 SF R AR A
Dividend yield (%) AR B2 (%) 2.35
Expected volatility (%) TE B 18 (%) 38.48
Historical volatility (%) B SR R (%) 38.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ [ 1 R (%) 1.12
Expected life of options (year) TEEARE AR A WU (5F) 3.00 to 7.00
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) INEEHRE (FIRETT) 3.04

198

The expected life of the options is determined with
reference to the vesting term and original contractual term
of the Scheme and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

CPMC Holdings Limited i85 AR A 7

B BRBERM 2 EZTE
ZFRBIEHRMRE M IGERMEE
BT —ERRATREIT 21T R
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27.

28.

Share Option Scheme (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
3,120,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 3,120,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$9,484,800
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
shares issuable from the above outstanding share options
represented approximately 0.3% of the Company’s shares
in issue as at that date.

Reserves

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of financial
statements.

Capital reserves

The capital reserves represent: 1) the difference between
the total consideration of the shares issued and the
issued share capital; 2) additional contribution made by
the shareholders of the Company’s subsidiaries; 3) in the
case of an acquisition of an additional equity interest in
a non-wholly-owned subsidiary, the difference between
the cost of acquisition and the non-controlling interests
acquired and; 4) in case of a settlement of a shareholder’s
loans, the difference between the carrying amount of loans
and the consideration.

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622), a portion of the Group’s capital reserves (share
premium account) as at 3 March 2014 has been transferred
to share capital.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC
are required to make appropriations to certain statutory
reserve, namely the reserve funds, from their statutory
profit for the year after offsetting accumulated losses as
determined under the PRC accounting regulations from
prior years and before profit distribution to equity holders.
The percentage to be appropriated to such statutory
reserve funds is determined according to the relevant
regulations in the PRC at 10% or at the discretion of the
boards of directors of the respective companies.

27.

28.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂjﬁi&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

BT E (|

REBEHR » NRREZEI T #
E3,120,00017 i& & 17 15 B8 I 4% -
EARRZBEITRARET 2@
THEEMARTEBREBSERET
3,120,000/ BN A &) F i AR I 22
49,484,8007 T 2 BEIMNR A (RET
BATRAI) ©

RHEZEMBHRERZ2H KRB
EERITE B 2 AT BT IR (DG
ZBAXRRRE BTN A0.3% °

e

ARERAERE RBE R G
BEREREDERS R &
AEABBE 25 -

N

EAEBARER  NERTRHAR
BEREEITRAZEZR  2)ARH
MEBARZRRIEH ZBIINER
NEWBIFZEHANBLRRNE
SMEHERERT - WERARBE I
BIRERERZER  Rk4) BUBE
BRERME  EREREREE
ZER e

BRIERBDEIEN (F622F) + A
% B R2014F3A38 M & & % &
(BRMEER) PH—BLEERES
BEA o

EERE

PiNNETD ST s VA= o1 il N
ABEFAZXEMNE (RHEREF
BEetZRENBEFERAE
BERERABRAREE AELFED IR
Al ME TAERE (BHEES) &
Ko BRZFEERBEIEHAE
FREL BIAR 35 o B AR BE A HR A 10% 9
ERFHEEARANESTENEE
5 o
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29. Partly-Owned Subsidiaries with Material

Non-Controlling Interests

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material

non-controlling interests are set out below:

29.

EREARFEREZ 2D

BEHEOTE

BBEEAFE R 2 A& BB

RNAEIHF|AT

2015 2014
Percentage of equity interest held by FEIE AR i Z P AR
non-controlling interests: Bk
Company A ~AEIA 38.52% 38.52%
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARETT
Profit for the year allocated to DELE FEE AR A
non-controlling interests: FEAHE :
Company A RAEIA 2,167 995
Accumulated balances of non-controlling  JE#EREHEZS R B HRfY
interests at the reporting dates: Sy .
Company A ~AA 102,618 100,451

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed

TRIALAMBRARTNITHEEHR
BE - IERBESESKREFNREMN

are before any inter-company eliminations: HIEAT S
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue WA 423,206 469,833
Total expenses Fsz 4@a (417,578) (467,251)
Profit for the year F T 5,628 2,582
Total comprehensive income FEZERANERE
for the year 5,628 2,582
Current assets MENEE 170,676 209,878
Non-current assets IEMBNVEE 249,438 205,835
Current liabilities mEaE (115,055) (118,351)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (35,647) (33,578)
Net cash flows from operating KETEENEE Y
activities REmEF5E 47,343 52,878
Net cash flows used in investing WEEEFERZ
activities REmEFHE (63,269) (31,284)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBEL S (FH)
financing activities ZREmEFE 10,000 (38,964)
Net decrease in cash and ReFREEEY
cash equivalents T HER (5,926) (17,370)

CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)



30. Business Combinations

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2015

On 2 April 2015, COFCO (BVI) No.33 Limited (“BVI
33”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into share purchase agreements with FC General
Packaging Limited (the “Vendor”), pursuant to which BVI
33 had agreed to purchase the entire issued share capital
of FC Packaging (NE) Limited (“FC Packaging (NE)”) and
China Modern Holdings Limited (“China Modern”) from
the Vendor at cash considerations of RMB101,391,600
and RMB25,598,800, respectively (the “Acquisitions”).
FC Packaging (NE) holds 91.3% of the equity interest in
FC Packaging (Harbin) and China Modern holds 100%
of the equity interest in Fujian FC Packaging. BVI 33
agreed to take the assignment of the shareholder’s loans
owed by FC Packaging (NE) and China Modern free
from any encumbrance in the amounts of HK$74,206,567
and HK$23,399,999, respectively. The Acquisitions
were accounted for as business combinations and were
completed on 20 April 2015. The Acquisitions were made
as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share
of metal packaging products.

The Group has elected to measure the non-controlling
interest in FC Packaging (Harbin) at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of FC Packaging (Harbin)’s
identifiable net assets.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂjﬁi&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

30. ¥%a6t

BZE2015F12A31 AL FEE 2 %7
&6t

R2015F4H28 » KA a2 &H &
EMBARYTRE (RBHERRE
) F3ERAFR([HABHER R
FE33)) HXEARVLEARA
Al(TEAHD T — B
Bt RE#RRES33RAE S5
AR € KB A R #101,391,6007T
M AR #25 598,8007T A & 7 A
XERw (R BRAR([XKE
A (R P EEBEARA
AI([FEEHE]) 2282 BTR
K ([WEEEIE]) - kEA2E (Ri)
BAXKEAZR(BHE) 91.3%K
E-mPREEREREKSAHR
100% /% 7 - A8 % R = B £33
ETLMSEERAEZRBKEA S
(Rib) kP BEEBMERZERE
R ED R AET74,206,5678 T K
23,399,999/ 70 - WEEEHEIR A
¥BA0 mEEEN201554
RA20B %MK - WIESHEAEAEER
BEz—%n NBRESBEREE
mZ MHM0NEE °

AEEREBRFEREREKE
Heaz (MER) ABREEFEZD
BB RN KEREE (BMEE)
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Notes to Financial Statements
Eji%*ﬁé% M;J'EI 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

30. Business Combinations (continued)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December

2015 (continued)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
FC Packaging (NE) and its subsidiaries as at the date of

acquisition were as follows:

30. XAt (&)

HZE2015F12A31 B L FE 2 ¥7
&0F ()
XERAR (Ri) RETRAZA#
FEERBERUEEBEAHZA
FEMT -

Fair value

recoghised

on acquisition

T Wi B B

BRZAFE

Notes RMB’000

Hiat ARETTT

Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MR 13 56,603

Prepaid land lease payments Jaft LA E R 14 6,603

Inventories FE 20,270

Trade and bills receivables B 5 R R RN EE 44,343
Prepayments, deposits and BRI - e REMFEKGK

other receivables 1,217

Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 2,149

Trade and bills payables B S RENFRENER (24,530)

Other payables and accruals HAb RN SRR ERIER (360)

Tax payable e IR (809)

Deferred tax liabilities EIERIEBE 25 (5,619)

Total identifiable net assets A REEEATE

at fair value ksl 99,867

Non-controlling interests IR A (9,178)

Goodwill on acquisition W BB R 15 10,703

Satisfied by cash* AR R 4 101,392

CPMC Holdings Limited i85 AR A 7



30. Business Combinations (continued)

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2015 (continued)

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of China Modern and its subsidiaries as at the date of
acquisition were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 Hj-i’%i&%l}ﬁ?

2015%12H31H

30. XSt (&)

HZE2015F12A31B L FE 2 %7
&0F ()
FEREEERETRARIZAHAEE
FEaERKEEEARE A AFEN
—|T :

Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
Uit i B
BRZAFE
Notes RMB’000
Kzt ARBTT

Property, plant and equipment ME - HE NERIE 13 19,836
Prepaid land lease payments A LA ER 14 2,568
Inventories FE 746
Trade and bills receivables B SRRV RN EE 127
Prepayments, deposits and AN~ e REAMEYRGK

other receivables 88
Tax recoverable AU EIR TE 39
Cash and cash equivalents ReMREEED 1,267
Trade and bills payables B Z AR RENEE (55)
Other payables and accruals Hib SRR ERIER (105)
Deferred tax liabilities BETIBEAE 25 (1,974)
Total identifiable net assets AHBRFEERATE

at fair value iz 22,537
Goodwill on acquisition W RS R R R 15 3,061
Satisfied by cash* IR HFA L4 25,598

* Cash consideration of RMB122,990,000 was paid by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2015, and the
remaining consideration of RMB4,000,000 was included in
the Group's other payables and accruals as at 31 December
2015.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

The fair value of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
RMB44,470,000 and RMB1,305,000, respectively. The
gross contractual amounts of trade receivables and other
receivables were RMB44,470,000 and RMB1,305,000,
respectively, of which none of the trade receivables and
other receivables are expected to be uncollectible.

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB931,000
for the Acquisitions. These transaction costs have been
expensed and are included in administrative expenses in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

* Bz AE AR KI22990,0007T
2 R B 22015 12H31H 1F &
FEFZ  METHEARE
4,000,0007T B i1 A K £ ER2015
F12A31H 89 R it fE 1T 3 R FE&F
HAH e

BB R E AT IR SR -

ZE o5 EKRAR R EMERKR
WEBABBEMNAFED R AA
R #44 470,000 & A B ¥
1,305,0007T ° & 5 F& W 51 K& 4
FEBRMBEHNEED E\J%/\E%
44,470,000 & A R #1,305,000
T HPUWEZZERG R EAE
WRTEEA AT U ] ©

tﬂi
FE

AEBAKBEEEEZRHEA
A ANR#931,0007T 0 2EXH K
AEFBAEREABRERPALT
BRER -
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Notes to Financial Statements
=) +2x 31 December 2015
R3S R M 20154128318
- . . . A =
CONSOLDATED 30. Business Combinations (continued) 30. EH S0 (&)
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS Business combinations for the year ended 31 December BZ2015F12A31ALFEZEHK
BERERER . o =
2015 (continued) &6t (&)
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the Acquisitions EARBIBEENRSRITOT ¢
is as follows:
RMB’000
ARBTT
Cash consideration ReRE (122,990)
NOTES TO Cash and cash equivalents acquired BEEARSRIFLSZEY 3,416
STATEMENTS Nt outfiow of cash and cash BREEREEDRS T
MSHEME equivalents included in cash flows BeMREEFEEY
from investing activities Pigasheis=cl (119,574)
Transaction costs of the acquisition BIEELEERRE MM
included in cash flows from WHEEBERHMA
operating activities (931)
120,505

Since the date of acquisition, FC Packaging (NE),
FC Packaging (Harbin), China Modern and Fujian
FC Packaging have contributed RMB63,713,000 and
RMB1,313,000 in aggregate to the Group’s revenue and
profit, respectively, for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of
the period, the revenue and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMB5,137,636,000 and
RMB284,817,000, respectively.

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2013

On 18 February 2013, COFCO (BVI) No.34 Limited (“BVI
34”), a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a share purchase agreement with Mr. Huang
Weibo, pursuant to which BVI 34 had agreed to purchase
the entire issued share capital of Victoria Industrial Limited
(“Victoria Industrial”) from Mr. Huang Weibo at a cash
consideration of RMB269,250,000. Victoria Industrial
holds 86.67% of the equity interest in Zhongshan Huanya.
Victoria Industrial and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Victoria Industrial Group”) are engaged in the production
and sale of plastic packaging.

On the same date, Hangzhou CPMC, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a share purchase agreement with Zhongshan Huihong
Assets Operating Management Co., Ltd.* (“Zhongshan
Huihong”), pursuant to which Hangzhou CPMC had agreed
to purchase 13.33% of the equity interest in Zhongshan
Huanya from Zhongshan Huihong at a cash consideration
of RMB37,000,000.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf i AR A )

BERBEEEIHUKR kKEEE
(i) - Xk EBR (BHE) - F
BEEREEKERRNEZE2015
F12A31H It AR E B T B IR A
LEBGEFIBEES R AARE
63,713,000t & A R #1,313,000
=

B EEEFRE#ETT - AFEAR
SBAMEEMBARTEED R A
A R #5137,636,0007T & A R #&
284,817,0007T °

BZE2013F12A31B L FE 2 ¥7
a5t

MN2013F2H188 * AR Az H#E
ZEMBARIFTIRE (LBHRRA
5) FMERRAR ([HBHER =B
5£34)) BEFEREER L —MDIER
Wi B REARRES34F
EUIR &R E AR269,250,000
TREERBAGESEESRAT
([HAEEE]) 22HBHTHRA -
HRBEEFBERIUIRTT 286.67%M%
o HEEERENBARR (FTE
(A EEEE]) YRELAERE

R B -

REB ARAZEEZENEB
X BN R B 5 B e 1L T B R
BERZEEARQA (THWLUE
1) AT — B - B -
MNPEEBERABEAREKEARR
37,000,0007T A # LI B %5 B A R 1L
IRTpAY13.33% % #E -



30. Business Combinations (continued)

31.

32.

33.

Business combinations for the year ended 31 December
2013 (Continued)

Cash consideration of RMB216,411,000 was paid by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2013, and the
remaining contingent consideration of RMB89,839,000
was included in the Group’s other payables and accruals
as at 31 December 2014. For the year ended 31
December 2015, BVI 34 and Mr. Huang Weibo reached
an agreement, pursuant to which the remaining contingent
consideration was finalised at RMB78,091,000. This
change in consideration payable of RMB11,747,000 has
been included in other income and gains — net in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 5).

Contingent Liabilities

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not
have significant contingent liabilities (2014: Except for the
contingent consideration payable which was required to be
measured at fair value, the Group did not have any other
significant contingent liabilities).

Pledge of Assets

Details of the Group’s letters of credit and bills payable,
which are secured by the assets of the Group, are
included in Notes 20 and 21, respectively, to the financial
statements.

Operating Lease Arrangements

As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties, factories
and warehouses under operating lease arrangements.
Leases for office properties, factories and warehouses are
negotiated for terms ranging from one to five years.

At 31 December 2015, the Group had total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

30.

31.

32.

33.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂjﬁi&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

EBast (&)

HZE2013F12A31B L EE 2 #7§
&0t (&)

A R #216,411,0007T B9 IR & (X B
A £ E RN E £2013F12A31H
EFESH MBTHARBAR
#89,839,000 7T 5T AR & E 72014
F12A3 1M HE M EN R EERIE
B - HZE2015F12A831BILFE -
BEEABRAEMEE BN ELER]
Sk B REBRTHARE
E A A R #78,091,0007T ° & it
REZ2EEH ARE11,747,000L E
STAERE Bk P H A A A KU
@ — 58 (KIsEs5) ©

HREE

RBEMR - ARELEEFMEKN
FABE (2014%5F : AR A FE
AFEZRAREIN  AKELEL
AEMBEALREE) -

BEHEE

AREBNEEEBRBZEHM &
NEBERBITERZFBD BIEHR
PR FRE M 2021 -

ReRER

EREBA
AEEREBELEEOLHEARET
WMAEME  BMERER - BEM
REME BEMREREMNF—
ZhE o

REBER2015FE12A31BIRE T
BRI E 2 TR RSB AL BAS
N2z RAkREFEBRSEENT :

2015 2014

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARET T

Within one year —FR 8,027 11,858
FZEFERF

In the second to fifth years, inclusive (BIEEREME) 777 513

8,804 12,371
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Notes to Financial Statements
E\Zl-i%ﬁ% Bﬁ%I 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 34. Commitments 34. 7&5E
STATEMENT OF
E?Af';ﬁgi\’\gi Capital commitments B AR
. In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed Br = SCPT R 33FT a2 & E A & 2 &
in Note 33 above, the Group had the following capital HON RIERERBAEE &
commitments at the end of the reporting period: AAEGEWR ¢
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBF T ARETTT

L‘IE:ITAENSJEL Contracted, but not provided for BB TAEREED
STATEMENTS property, plant and equipment W - WEMRE 178,942 269,469
Other commitments H R
Commitments under foreign currency forward contracts: RERINE S HTA T 2 G
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARET T
FIVE-YEAR Sales of United States dollars EHET - 22,212
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
EHBHE At the end of the reporting period, save as detailed RBEIAKR  BRRZETEHRERP
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group did not FEN  AEEI RMPHERE
have any significant commitments (2014: Nil). KAEES (20144 « 4) -

206 CPMC Holdings Limited i85 AR A 7




Notes to Financial Statements

31 December 2015 =
201541231H Bl R ¥R R MY o
35. Related Party Transactions 35. BEXRS
(@) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere (a) FRZEMBHRREMU TS FIE
in these financial statements, the Group had the LRGN - REENGF A LR
following material transactions with related parties BATETEARSAT :
during the year:
2015 2014
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
HaE ARET T ARETTT
Transaction with the ultimate b g il /NE]
holding company: RIS
Rental expense e (i) 1,023 1,023
Purchases of IT software BEEMERESG
and IT facilities KEMEHRR (ii) 108 -
Transactions with related BB ARINR S « *
companies: *
Sale of products * HEE M (i) 5,697 11,441
Transactions with fellow B [7] Z [} 8 A A
subsidiaries: HIZZ 5
Sale of products * HEER® (iii) 148,738 168,326
Purchases of IT services and & \é{uﬂﬂﬁiﬁﬁﬁ%
market consulting services 58 RS (i) 894 -
Rental expense %E%Faﬁi (i) 1,796 2,449
Interest income (Note 5) FBUWA (H1:E5) (iv) 4,583 2,981
Interest expense (Note 7) B (#5£7) (v) - 2,796

A certain portion of these related party transactions
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions discloseable in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Related companies are companies under significant
influence of the Group's ultimate holding company.

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

The rental expenses were determined with reference to
the prevailing market rental.

The transactions were carried out in accordance with
the terms and conditions mutually agreed by the parties
involved.

The sales to the fellow subsidiaries and related
companies were made according to the published
prices and condlitions offered to the major customers of
the Group.

The interest income arising from the deposits to
COFCO Finance was determined in accordance with
the prevailing RMB deposit rates promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China.

The interest expense arising from the loans from
COFCO Finance was charged with reference to the
prevailing RMB lending rates promulgated by the
People’s Bank of China and the prevailing market
conditions.

RIELTARR - M FREALRS
#YE T IBE T 3 A FER
BAIFEHERS -

# /§§L \ 7] 73 RN [ R AR 2 A
A ER A o

Hat

() HEHXIZERTTEHEME
o

(i)  RBIHRIESL T R FEZ R
RAFIHETT -

(iii) A1/ K1/ 22 7] R B2 2 A A9 25 5
TIRIEE T EETE RIEH T AL H
FEELMIRIETETT °

(iv) E£ETEYEFHFBRATS
BRI B A B ARTTAT R B B 7T A
BEEFHFEMEE °

(v) ELGFEYBEENGF SR

A2 Z A FRIRT TR AR B BT
%E%ﬁ%’(ﬁ%& & IR T
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Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

35. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

35. BERS (&)

(b) EEEALZEHARFBERE :

(c)

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T ARETTT
Trade receivables (Note 18); B S EUGR (H1:F18)
Fellow subsidiaries EES =N 15,391 14,336
Related companies RAE N A 99 2,800
Prepayments, deposits and AR - B REAM
other receivables (Note 19): FEWER (B15E19) -
Fellow subsidiaries GES =N 22,616 6,760
Trade payables (Note 21): B RN (Hfite1)
A fellow subsidiary —HRZRWB AR 215 223
Other payables and accruals Hib R R Bt IER
(Note 22); (Hizt22) :
Fellow subsidiaries EESI)-YN-] 848 45
Deposits placed (Note 20): ReFWRR (Hz20) -
A fellow subsidiary —FHRAMB AR 693,983 343,436

Except for the deposits placed to a fellow subsidiary,
COFCO Finance, which are interest-bearing and
repayable on demand, the above balances are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

Transactions and balances with other state-owned
entities

The Group operates in an economic environment
predominated by enterprises directly or indirectly
owned or controlled by the PRC government
through its numerous authorities, affiliates or other
organisations (collectively “State-owned Enterprises”).
During the year, the Group enters into extensive
transactions, mainly covering purchases of tinplates
and sales of finished goods with State-owned
Enterprises, other than the COFCO Group, on terms
comparable to those with other non-state-owned
entities.

The directors consider that transactions with other
State-owned Enterprises are activities in the ordinary
course of its business, and that dealings of the Group
have not been significantly or unduly affected by the
fact that the Group and those State-owned Enterprises
are ultimately controlled or owned by the PRC
government. The Group has also established pricing
policies for products and services, and such policies
do not depend on whether or not the customers
are State-owned Enterprises. Having due regard to
the substance of the relationships, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that none of these
transactions constitutes a related party transaction
that requires separate disclosure.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf i AR A )

e IS CEN - PNCIL k- 18 v
TEEt B MR ERE RS - Ll 4
HAEER - 28 KEEEEKY
R o

(c) ;!;EﬁﬂﬁEEEZFEﬁBQB‘EE&
R

AEEELNKERRTTHE
ERZRTBERNEBERS
R MERBREMASE
EREERAERENNDE
(M EARE]) - KEEAXR
SHERESEAINEEG R
RETRERS B NEK
BEOHE ARAXSGRELE
fIFE A BRI ERE

E=RA BEAMBEARLEN
RE/REEBEXBBETHE
1THEE) - BARSE EFfLLh
BT & & S EAHEE
TENEZALBXBNEAX
“ERE - AREEHIEEM
MRF R EEBER - MiE LR
RATBRREFPREREE
¥ KAFEREBBLE
MEBENEER  ARAES
RRELRZIIFE AR
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Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\ji%ﬁ%l}ﬁi
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35. Related Party Transactions (continued) 35. BAEXRS (&) CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
(d) Compensation of key management personnel of (d) ZEEFEEEAENHE : CASH FLOWS
the Group: FABSTER
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Short term employee benefits R EEE A 5,614 8,019
Post-employment benefits BB 212 7 401 466
Equity-settled share option expense S E RN 100 117
Total compensation paid to X TEEEEAR F’,m,ﬁg,}\?
key management personnel K KA 5 6,115 8,602 STATEMENTS
BB RRMEE
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s AAEENRERTHABMSHE
emoluments are included in Note 8 to the financial — S E BN S WERMEESA o
statements.
36. Financial Instruments by Category 36. REFESHNERMTIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial EemI AN HEHRNER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BT :
follows: FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
. , SUMMARY
Financial assets D EEE HAEBEIHE
Loans and receivables
BERREKRRE
2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Trade and bills receivables B S EBGR KER R R 1,364,107 1,158,522
Financial assets included in FABAR ek
prepayments, deposits and Hih UK & R & &=
other receivables 55,365 138,071
Pledged deposits [RELeiER 44,418 23,254
Cash and cash equivalents ReFREEEY 995,928 1,004,706
2,459,818 2,324,553
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Notes to Financial Statements
E\Zl-i%ﬁéé Bﬁ%I 31 December 2015

2015%12H31H

CONSOLIDATED 36. Financial Instruments by Category 36. ZERE2HEMTE (F)

STATEMENT OF (continued)

CASH FLOWS

DRRLRES The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial e T EERNRRESEAARMEER
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as BT : (8)

follows: (continued)

2Q15 S 20154
Financial liabilities SEBE
Financial
NOTES TO liabilities at
FINANCIAL .
STATEMENTS amortised cost
BRRRMEE R
RAGTEZ
TRIBE
RMB’000
AR%T T
Trade and bills payables B RENRERENER 597,291
Financial liabilities included in other payables s AE A FE T RO FEETTE B Y
and accruals CRIBE 151,346
. Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 2,597,440
FINANCIAL 3,346,077
SUMMARY
RFHBHE 2014 20144
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial
liabilities at fair
value through
profit or loss
BATE
FIAE=D
THREE
Designated Financial
as such liabilities at
upon initial amortised
recognition cost Total
RS
RoE  BAREtEZ
REHEE THERE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT
Trade and bills payables B S RIE R ENEE = 507,534 507,534
Financial liabilities included STAHMERT R
in other payables and B EENERBE
accruals 89,839 168,499 258,338
Interest-bearing bank sTERITIER
borrowings - 2,447 600 2,447 600
89,839 3,123,633 3,213,472
2 1 O CPMC Holdings Limited FRig e & H R A7)




37. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of
Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s
financial instruments, other than those with carrying
amounts that reasonably approximate to fair values, are as

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 E\j—i%i&%l}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

37Z.eMI AN A FERAEE
AEECREEZETRAEAREAT

B (REOSENAFENKEER
5h) o

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
IREE ATE
2015 2014 2015 2014 NOTES T0
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 FINANCIAL
ARBTR ARETT AR%TR ARETET O
Financial liabilities cRaE
Financial liabilities included HANE M ER R
in other payables and FEFTIREHY
accruals TREE - 89,839 - 89,839
Interest-bearing bank FTEERITER
borrowings 2,597,440 2,447,600 2,597,440 2,447,600
2,597440 2,537,439 2,597,440 2,537,439
FIVE-YEAR
) . ) FINANCIAL
Management has assessed that the fair values of financial KEBREI(L - st AHEMENT R SUMMARY
liabilities included in other payables and accruals FEEtTEB RS RaEn A EE TFEFHHE

approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
in a current transaction between willing parties, other than
in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of interest-bearing bank borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The
Group’s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2015 was assessed to
be insignificant.

HEEmERS  TERARZET
AREHIRNEIE -

TRABNAFENKRERRS S
ERAORS GEFRExHBFRHE)
TRZZIENEBARKR AT
A RBRRAEGEETAFE

SFERITERNAFTEEBRA
BRUEABNRIKR  EERREHT
BUEAREN T AT RELIETEH
RKBEREFTEB L - 1R2015F
12A318 » "EBAE K BIRIT
EREHRBRWTEBTEK
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E\Zl-i%ﬁéé Bﬁ%I 31 December 2015
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CONSOLDATED 37. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of 37.EMITAENAFERAFE
STATEMENT OF Financial Instruments (continued) & (&)
CASH FLOWS
= A NN
DRRLRES Fair value hierarchy AFEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement THREHAREESHRITANATE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: ATEEAR
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EBENFENEE -
As at 31 December 2015 ®2015%12A31H
NOTES T0
FINANCIAL Fair value measurement using
T EAUTEERGATENE
FLLELLE Quoted

prices  Significant Significant

in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REER EATEE EATTER

TIHNRE BARE BABE

FVEEAR (%) (E=#) (BB=4) #st
FINANCIAL RMB'000  RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB’000
SUgg/'%gEﬁ AR®TRT AR%TR AR®BTRT AR%TrR
hFE 2 . -
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5T BR1TER - - 2,597,440 2,597,440
As at 31 December 2014 M2014F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEEETATENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
inactive  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

WNER  EAAEE EATIEER

TiEH R E AR LN ¢
(F—#) (B=%) (B=R) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETE ARBTE ARETR ARET:R

Financial liabilities included in PIAE AR F & FE ST
other payables and accruals BENESRERE - - 89,839 89,839
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5T BR1TER - - 2,447,600 2,447,600

= = 2,537,439 2,537,439

2 1 2 CPMC Holdings Limited fig 5=k H R AR




38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, price
risk and interest rate risks), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial
performance.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

Most of the company’s subsidiaries’ functional
currency is RMB since the majority of the
revenues of the subsidiaries are derived from
operations in Mainland China. Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions of
limited purchases from overseas and recognised
assets or liabilities, such as cash and cash
equivalents (Note 20) and bank borrowings (Note
24), certain of which are denominated in US$ and
HK$.

As at 31 December 2015, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% against US$
with all other variables held constant, the profit
for the year for each of the years would have
changed mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on the translation of cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings denominated
in US$ and HK$. Details of the changes are as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂj—j’%i&%l}ﬁ%

2015%12H31H

38. MBEMEEERREE

PR R E &

AEEWESHEAKEEEER TR
MR misER (BENE R
@ BRERENEEAR)  FER
ahRBETRER NEBEMEE
RREEAEKTIRERTIZNT
A FERAINE - 3 P SRER AR E HFE K
BAKEPHERANEETFZE -

(a) AL

(i) HMEERRR
AABRNZHNERFHN
MEEEBABEARE  EA
ZEMB AR 2 K% EIK
ANEBEHRBRH A ER -
SNEEELBR 2R B B IR AR
IMNRERKRBER S RE
BRAMNEEXAEZ W
RekReEEY (ME
20) RERTTER (Mi5E24)
(A AE T RBTT
FHAE) °

2015512 A318 - fi
PE R B BURRS T
mARKBEETHE
2E5% ERFERSF
MAMERERMAE - &
TEHRBEUETRE
THENESRESZE
W R B REE N e
18 BHFBFMT

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTT

Profit for the year increase/(decrease) FEFEEMN (L)

— Strengthened by 5% — FE5%
— Weakened by 5% — 2{E5%

86,574 72,166
(86,574) (72,166)

Annual Report 2015 2015 [ #4

CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF

CASH FLOWS
FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
MBRRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
TFEFHHE

213



CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

FAESRER

NOTES TO
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
BB RRME

FIVE-YEAR
FINANCIAL
SUMMARY
LFEPHHE

214

Notes to Financial Statements
BfF& 3R e MfsE 3! December 2015

2015%12H31H

38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Price risk

Tinplate and aluminium are the major raw materials of
the Group. The prices for tinplate and aluminium may
be affected by market demand and supply, domestic
government policy and other economic conditions.
In order to maintain a continued production cycle,
the Group has a policy of maintaining a certain level
of tinplate and aluminium inventories. The level of
the Group’s tinplate and aluminium inventories will
depend on orders on hand, the prices of tinplate
and aluminium in the market and the perceived
future trend of the tinplate and aluminium prices.
To partially minimise the Group’s market price risk
exposure, the Group enters into commaodity futures
contracts of aluminium. In selecting suppliers, the
Group usually takes into consideration the price and
quality of the tinplate and aluminium. The directors
believe it is not necessary for the Group to enter into
any long-term supply contracts with its suppliers to
ensure stable material prices as there are various
sources of tinplate and aluminium and the Group has
not experienced any difficulties in securing a steady
source of high quality tinplate and aluminium.

Interest rate risk

Except for bank deposits with stable interest rates,
the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group's interest rate risk mainly arises from bank
borrowings. Bank borrowings obtained at variable
rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Bank borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group has
not hedged its cash flow and fair value interest rate
risks. The interest rates and terms of repayments of
bank borrowings are disclosed in Note 24.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf i AR A )

B.UBEBMEEBEZRERBE

(&)

MBEBEE (F)
(a) THERE (&)

(i)

(iii)

ER[E
EOEMIERAEEMNE
TEME - FEO#IRE
AR MmBHE - B
R AT ISR A B A 48 7
MR E - BRERITERE
BAHOFHE  AEEHT
BUR AR —EXENE
D MiafEE o  NEED
5O iAHEIURRF
SHEIE - 5K D Min
BRARATERLARZE
OISR ER - BRIEAR
SEEHHHmER
B ANEBEFI M IRM R
EmEH  REEHER
B AEBE—REEFOD
AN SR B A% A & 5 O = AN
inEE - EFZMHE AR
BOEMBRRRZ AR
AEBEESHREEES O
18 A0 83 35 € AR 77 E 3 &
Ng - B AEBEWTH
B AREE OEMBER
2 FETE i B E A R
FEIRAHESR o

FIEAR
% BT HIE MR
$5N S B3 A (]
Rt e BE: AEE
BAREER S REER
FEFETB RSB
@,

REBRF ERREZER
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AEEAZREREFNE
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o RITIERFERIE
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
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38. %%i;%ﬁt?ﬁ%‘ﬁﬁ%&ﬁ%

MBEREE (&)

(a) Market risk (continued) (a) WHERE (&)

(iii) Interest rate risk (continued) (iiiy FERR (&)
Management does not anticipate any significant B P R 1T 17 51 89 F1) % 58 A
impact on interest-bearing assets resulting TR BEER
from the changes in interest rates, because the R ENEEH LT L
interest rates of bank deposits are not expected BEEAFNERTE -
to change significantly.

As at 31 December 2015, if interest rates on bank MR20156F12831H © i
borrowings had been 25 basis points higher/ FrEHEMESRFTEM
lower with all other variable held constant, the RITEBEFE EFHTBE
profit for the year for each of the years would 25(EEE - HRNEEEE
have changed mainly as a result of higher/lower ) KB B g R
interest expenses on floating rate borrowings. L BRAFESFENEE
Details of the changes are as follows: SREEE EHFIBW
-
Group
REHE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in basis in profit  (decrease)
points after tax in equity*
2B BREENE i
#m, #m, #m,
CRA) CRL) OB *
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBTT
Year ended 31 December & Z20154F12831H
2015 IFFE 25 (4,812) -
Year ended 31 December #HZE2014F12H31H
2014 IEFE 25 (4,650) -
Year ended 31 December & ZE2015F12F31H
2015 IFFE (25) 4,812 -
Year ended 31 December & ZE20144F12H31H
2014 IFFE (25) 4,650 -
*  Excluding retained profits T EEEEFE
(b) Credit risk (b) 1=EERE
Except for the sales to the five largest customers of the BR B 75 R 2% BT 5T 4P it &Y [A) AR
Group as detailed in Note 4 to the financial statements, EEGAAVNFIFEEZFLMINE

the Group has no significant concentrations of credit
risk. The carrying amounts of pledged bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents, trade and bills receivables
and other receivables included in the consolidated
financial statements represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

S AEEYESERTHE
ERk - M BEmERMIIE
ERRTER ReRkReFH
EY  BEHRUAEERRE
VA B B ftb i Wk ) B T (B A3 AN
SEHERESRMEEGR
R AE SRR o
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and
Policies (continued)

Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

Deposits with banks

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, all pledged
bank deposits and bank balances were
deposited with licensed financial institutions
without significant credit risk. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance of
these counterparties.

Trade receivables

Management assesses the credit risk of
customers by taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has put
in place policies to ensure that sales of products
are made to customers with an appropriate credit
history and the Group performs periodic credit
evaluations of its customers.

For those key customers with a long-term
relationship, on some occasions the Group
offered credit terms up to 120 days. The granting
or extension of any credit period must be
approved by senior management of the Group.

An allowance has been made for estimated
irrecoverable amounts from the sales of products,
which has been determined by reference to past
default experience and objective evidence of
impairment such as an analysis of the particular
customers and their financial condition and the
ages of the trade receivables.

The carrying amount of trade and other
receivables included in the statement of financial
position represents the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial
assets. The directors are of the opinion that
adequate provision for uncollectible trade and
other receivables has been made in the financial
statements.

CPMC Holdings Limited frigf i AR A )
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MBEBEE (F)
(b) EEERE (&)

(i)

RITIFER

R2015%F K2014%127
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SEEE  HEEXEE
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B 5 fE WK
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and B.YKEREEEREREE
Policies (continued) (&)
BEREBEE (&)
(c) HBEZmEME

Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents, the
availability of funds through adequate amounts of
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions.

Except for non-current interest-bearing bank
borrowings, all the Group’s other financial liabilities will
be settled within one year or on demand based on the
remaining contractual maturity date at the end of the
reporting period and their contractual undiscounted
payment amounts are disclosed in Note 36 to the
financial statements.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings as at the end of the reporting period,
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is

EENRDESAREEBRE
MERANBASRASEE
Y BRRBEAMHEARKE
ERmERENGRAIBRES
REETIGET 28N -

BRIEMEFT BRITENIN R
BHRERRNK TR OH
RETE - NEBEAMAE M
BESR -FAXNREKRB
8 mAMARMBENRER
IR TS R I RES6 1K R ©

RIBAKARBBRNTE K&
BN S HRE SER B IRITIE
FEHB|RERMT

as follows:
6 to less
Less than than 1to5
6 months 12 months years Total
6EA =
PHR6EA P12 1FEZE5F &t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
2015 20155
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 24,222 24,222 2,635,171 2,683,615
2014 20144

Interest-bearing bank FTEIRTTER
borrowings 21,662 21,662 2525319 2,568,643
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38. Financial Risk Management Objectives and

Policies (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as net borrowings divided by total equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, in which the
net borrowings are calculated as total borrowings less cash
and cash equivalents.

The Group’s strategy is to maintain a healthy gearing ratio.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods
were as follows:

38.

?%i;ﬁﬁl?ﬁ%‘ﬂﬁ%&ﬁ%

BEXxERE
AEEEAEENTERNRRE
AEBREEEARBECL T A BR
EMEARLLE M HEES
RERCBIREE -

AEBRERELER D ESH RABE
EZRREL  EEEREELE
BRZMRENSEE  MRERE
BEAR - BOTFRMOBIEEEENNR
DETE - KEBYW AT EERINR
ERIRTERE - HZE2015F 12831
B KR2014FE12A31B ILEE - &8
BEARMBIEZE BRI EIERE o

HEEXAEMAR % AERERE
BERBELREZEER - ZL X
TR B TR FBR AR R R AT H
ARG EERTE > AR EFFE
RIEFBBRER G HREFEY -

rEBRBEAKEERBL XS
FREEKFE RBEHPRZEE
BELEMT :

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AREF T
Total interest-bearing bank borrowings BRI TIEREEE
(Note 24) (Htstz4) 2,597,440 2,447,600
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B RERESEEY
(Note 20) (#izz20) (995,928) (1,004,706)
Net borrowings AR 1,601,512 1,442,894
Equity attributable to equity holders RARRAFEEA
of the Company FEfhfER 4,212,279 4,137,140
Gearing ratio BEAMGHLE 38% 35%

CPMC Holdings Limited Fig &35 Z AR AR



39.

40.

Event after the Reporting Period

On 27 January 2016, the Company was informed by
COFCO (Hong Kong) that all conditions precedent under
the sale & purchase agreement (the “Sale & Purchase
Agreement”) entered into between COFCO (Hong Kong)
and BlneBEKRH AR AT (ORG Packaging Co. Ltd.*),
who is an independent third party of the Company, on
8 November 2015 had been fulfilled and completion
(the “Completion”) of the Sale & Purchase Agreement
took place on 27 January 2016. Pursuant to the Sale &
Purchase Agreement, COFCO (Hong Kong) sold and the
ORG Packaging Co. Ltd. purchased 269,341,200 shares
of the Company at a consideration of HK$1,616,047,200
(i.e. HK$6.00 per share). Following the Completion, (i)
COFCO (Hong Kong) beneficially holds 330,658,800
shares in the Company (representing approximately
33.15% of the issued shares of the Company as at the
date of the Completion) and remains as the single largest
shareholder of the Company; and (ii) ORG Packaging
Co. Ltd. beneficially holds 269,341,200 shares in the
Company (representing approximately 27% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of the Completion)
and becomes a substantial shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company.

* for identification purposes only
Comparative Amounts

As further explained in Note 2.2 to the financial
statements, due to the implementation of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) during the current year,
the presentation and disclosures of certain items and
balances in the financial statements have been revised to
comply with the new requirements. Accordingly, certain
comparative amounts have been restated to conform with
the current year’s presentation and disclosures.

39.

40.

Notes to Financial Statements
31 December 2015 ﬂja’%ﬁiﬁzl}ﬁi

2015%12H31H

BEMRER
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41. Statement of Financial Position of the 41.

Company

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NCILUE 3 T

BRAARE R ®REHRY BN K

ZEREIIAT -

2015 2014
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB KEE 31 43
Investments in subsidiaries NG VNG S =1 3,214,164 2,648,821
Prepayments TR 8,730 17,851
Total non-current assets BIETMBEE 3,222,925 2,666,715
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Due from subsidiaries AN NGRS 1,763,965 1,763,136
Prepayments, deposits and TERR - e REA

other receivables e X 10,676 10,090
Cash and cash equivalents Re NRESEEY 111,752 262,776
Total current assets BRENEE 1,886,393 2,036,002
CURRENT LIABILITY REBAR
Other payables and accruals HEMENR R ERTIEE 101,727 14,672
Total current liability BREBEE 101,727 14,672
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEERE 1,784,666 2,021,330
TOTAL ASSETS LESS BEERABEMSE

CURRENT LIABILITY 5,007,591 4,688,045
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY FRBEMRE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FHERITER 2,597,440 2,447,600
Total non-current liability BIEREAE 2,597,440 2,447,600
Net assets FEE 2,410,151 2,240,445
EQUITY =
Share capital N 2,336,168 2,336,168
Reserves (note) s (Ba) 73,983 (95,723)
Total equity B 2,410,151 2,240,445

ZHANG XIN CHENG YUK WO
R BRER A
Director Director
= =

CPMC Holdings Limited Higf 2= is AR A F]



41. Statement of Financial Position of the

42,

Company (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements
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M. PRI BEARREK (8)

Note: B -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AR E]Z BEBALLIT -
Share  Exchange
Share option  fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve profits Total
ER
ROGE BRERE KRG BRI A&t
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
M AR®Fr ARETr AREFTT ARETT ARET:R
As at 1 January 2014 R2014F1 /18 2,249,453 2,611 (138,309) 9,375 2,123,130
Total comprehensive income FEZERAEE
for the year - - 6,502 68,553 75,055
Equity-settled share option Rt EBRERY
arrangements = 435 = = 435
Transfer of share option reserve RERER R U
upon the forfeiture or expiry B e
of share options BREREE - (1573) - 1573 -
2014 Interim dividend 2014F R ERRR S, = = = (44,890) (44,890)
Transition to no-par value regime BEEEAEE (2,249,453) = = - (2,249,453)
At 31 December 2014 ®2014612A31A = 1,473 (131,807) 34,611 (95,723)
2014 final dividend declared BEIR20145
RER S 11 - - - (24939)  (24,939)
Total comprehensive income FEZEWALSE
for the year - - 105,139 128,959 234,098
Equity-settled share option EntEERET
arrangements 27 - 449 - - 449
2015 Interim dividend 2015F R EIRE 11 = = = (39,902) (39,902)
As at 31 December 2015 ®2015612H31H - 1,922 (26,668) 98,729 73,983

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in Note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options

expire or be forfeited.

Approval of the Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 22 March 2016.

BREEEREMER ZBERER
FEEAKR  MZSBREZSD
RETTRE - BRI BRI ®KRM
F2AZ AP RERNRZ G
BREE—FTRE Z2BRBNE
PRSI AR T R R B E A i (B
R A RARE A B I sk R IR
R SRR R o

42. #tEMBEHRE

FE2R2016F3H 228 #t & K&
T BEARB SRR o .
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEHBHSE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the published audited consolidated
financial statements and restated/reclassified as appropriate, is

TRENAEEREERATBFEZ
XE BE BERFERERBE
HEBEMTIRHEAE TINERZEAE
BwE XEEEHHEMWE

as below: ) -
Year ended 31 December
HZ12AALEE
2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
RMB’000 RMB0O00 RMB000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AR®TIT ARBTT
Revenue A 5,103,718 5295417 5257,482 5,045,962 4,342,277
Cost of sales SHE AR (4,197,823) (4,350,276) (4,314,924) (4,202,510) (3,647,944)
Gross profit E7 905,895 945,141 942,558 843452 694,333
Other income and gain HA A R ez
- net — 5 70,995 75,980 96,558 86,759 90,835
Selling and marketing expenses 4% R4 E R (255,852)  (238,196) (231,061) (204,694) (181,191)
Administrative expenses THE A (276,095)  (286,113)  (264,334) (241,854)  (209,812)
Other expenses Hith 37 H (7.000) - - - -
Finance costs HBER (53,215)  (40,482)  (43,454)  (45,973)  (31,150)
Profit before income tax BR FT 45 B4 A0 7178 384,728 456,330 500,267 437,690 363,015
Income tax expense FTSHiFX (99,795)  (109,480) (108,355)  (105,131)  (77,222)
Profit for the year EEFTSE 284,933 346850 391,912 332,559 285,793
Attributable to: e
Equity holders of the Company ~ ARAFIIRAEE A 282,898 345,855 386,121 322,681 280,298
Non-controlling interests FEE R 2,035 995 5,791 9,878 5,495
284,933 346850 391,912 332,559 285,793
Assets, liabilities and BEE BEH
non-controlling interests FERES
Total assets BEE 7,843,718 7,618,033 7,133,595 6,919,048 6,022,585
Total liabilities BAE (3,519,775) (3,380,442) (3,163,777) (3,267,376) (3,384,220)
Non-controlling interests R (111,664)  (100,451)  (99,456)  (101,276)  (84,052)
4,212,279 4,137,140 3,870,362 3,550,396 2,554,313
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